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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section

27A of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 as amended Such forward-looking statements may include without limitation

statements relating to the Companys operating strategies and future pians and objectives of

management mergers and acquisitions and other matters its competitive positions its

reorganization plans its capital expenditure plans its network expansion plans and related

expenditure plans including among others those relating to 3G digital cellular business and 3G

network infrastructure build-outs its future business condition and financial results cash flows

dividends financing plans its ability to upgrade and expand existing networks and increase

network efficiency its ability to improve existing services and offer new services its ability to

develop new technology applications its ability to leverage its position as an integrated

telecommunications operator and expand into new businesses and new markets future growth of

market demand of and opportunities for the Companys new and existing products and services

and future regulatory and other developments in the PRC telecommunications industry

The words anticipate believe could estimate intend may seek will and

similarexpressions as they relate to us are intended to identify certain of these forward-looking

statements The Company does not intend to update these forward-looking statements

These forward-looking statements are by their nature subject to significant risks and

uncertainties In addition these forward-looking statements reflect the current views of the

Company with respect to future events and are not guarantee of the future performance of the

Company Actual results may differ materially from information contained in the forward-

looking statements as result of number of factors including without limitation

any changes in the regulatory regime and significant policies for the PRC
telecommunications industry including changes in the structure or functions of the

primary industry regulator the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology or the

MIIT which has assumed the regulatory functions of the former Ministry of Information

Industry or any changes in the regulatory policies of the MIIT the State-owned Assets

Supervision and Administration Commission and other relevant government authorities

of the PRC

the level of demand for telecommunications services



competitive forces in more liberalized markets including pricing pressures and the

Companys ability to retain market share in the face of competition from existing

telecommunications companies and potential new market entrants

the effects of tariff reduction initiatives

the availability terms and deployment of capital and the impact of regulatory and

competitive developments on capital outlays

changes in the assumptions upon which the Company has prepared its projected financial

information and capital expenditure plans and

any changes in the PRC telecommunications industry resulted from the issuance of the

licenses of third generation mobile telecommunications by the PRC government

the results of the ongoing restructuring of the PRC telecommunications industry

any changes in the effects of competition on the demand and price of the Companys
telecommunications services

the effect of the Companys restructuring and the integration of the Company and China

Netcom Group Corporation Hong Kong Limited following the completion of the

merger

the effect of the Companys proposed adjustment in its business strategies relating to the

personal handy-phone system business

any changes in telecommunications and related technologies and applications based on

such technologies

any changes in political economic legal and social conditions in the PRC including the

PRC governments policies and initiatives with respect to economic development in light

of the current economy downturn consolidations or restructuring of and other structural

changes in the PRC telecommunications industry foreign exchange foreign investment

and entry by foreign companies into the PRC telecommunications market and

the potential continued slowdown of economic activities at home and abroad
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Chairmans Statement

Financial Performance

In 2008 revenue from continuing operations of the

Company was RMB148.91 billion Excluding deferred

upfront connection fees of RMB0.89 billion revenue from

continuing operations of the Company would be

RMB1 48.02 billion representing decrease of 0.8% over

last year

Consolidated net profit of the Company for the year was

RMB33.91 billion which included net profit from

discontinued operations of RMB27.57 billion deferred

upfront connection fees of RMBO.89 billion and

consolidated basic earnings per share of RMB1 .43 The

continuing operations of the Company were exposed to

negative effects of factors such as the impairment of assets

relating to the Personal Handyphone System PHS

business integration and reorganization natural disasters

and adjustments of telecommunications tariffs Excluding

the effects of net profit from discontinued operations and

the impairment loss on assets relating to the PHS

business the Companys adjusted net profit from

continuing operations would be RMB14.33 billion

representing decrease of 5.8% as compared to the

adjusted net profit from continuing operations of last year

after eliminating the effects of deferred upfront connection

fees and one-off items including tax refund for re

investment and changes in fair value of convertible bonds

The adjusted basic earnings per share from continuing

operations would be RMBO.60

The Companys operating cash flow generated from

continuing operations was RMB62.01 billion for the year

Capital expenditure was RMB7O.49 billion Taking into

account the cash inflow from the disposal of CDMA

business the Companys financial position has become

more stable As at the end of 2008 the Companys total

interest-bearing debts amounted to RMB29.99 billion

Debt-to-capitalisation ratio declined from 26.9% as at the

end of 2007 to 12.7% as at the end of 2008 Net debt-to

capitalisation ratio declined from 22.0% as at the end of

2007 to 8.8% as at the end of 2008

Based on the Companys financial position in 2008 and

taking into account the continuing robust development

opportunities in the mobile communication and fixed-line

broadband businesses the Board recommends the

payment of final dividend of RMBO.2 per share for the

year ended 31 December 2008

Business Performance

In 2008 the Companys mobile business fixed-line

broadband and data communications businesses

maintained sound growth while the traditional fixed-line

business continued to decline The capacity and quality of

the mobile network and the fixed-line broadband network

were continuously improved

Note Please refer to the section headed Managements

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations for the basis of financial reporting

eport 2008
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Chairmans Statement

As partner of the 2008 Beijing Olympics the Company

through its strong business capabilities and advanced

technologies successfully provided services to ensure

uninterrupted communication during the Olympics By

embracing the philosophy of Hi-Tech Olympics the

Company strived for technology and business innovation

and achieved number of firsts for communication

services provision in the Olympic history

OUTLOOK FOR 2009

Looking forward to 2009 with new changes brought by

telecommunication technology evolution broadband

mobile Internet development and market needs the new

opportunities arising from informatization and

industrialization in the PRC and the initiative of expanding

domestic demand to sustain growth notwithstanding the

risks and challenges ahead brought by the international

financial crisis the Company plans to capture every

opportunity in 3G business development further expanding

its subscriber base optimizing subscriber structure and

facilitating the development of upgrading fixed line and

mobile communications in order to realize the objective of

creating new advantages through consolidation to achieve

new developments in 3G In 2009 the Companys main

development strategies include

Capturing opportunities brought by 3G business to

accelerate mobile business development To accelerate

the construction of the 3G network and to strive for

establishing leading positions in network business and

services provide 3G services in 284 cities across China by

the end of 2009 and further improve the quality of the

GSM network optimze subscriber portfolio to increase the

penetration rate of the GSM value-added services and

ensure the coordinated development of the 20 and 30

businesses and their mutual complementation

CNnathom Hong Kong Umfted Annuat Report 200S

Strengthening broadband upgrading and speed

enhancement to achieve sustained and rapid growth of

the fixed-line broadband business To accelerate the

implementation of broadband upgrade and speed

increase and further improve its broadband access

capability promote the marketing model of contents

applications access services to increase the

percentage of paying subscribers in total subscribers of

contents and applications strengthen its dominant position

in northern China and establish local competitive

advantages in key areas and key customers to increase its

market share in southern China and emphasize on the

rural market and expand the rural subscriber base with

focus on profitability

Promoting product and business innovation to

facilitate business integration and the development of

value-added services To transform from simple service

bundling to profound service integration with focus on

corporate and family customers further improve product

and business innovation capability innovate the product

operation model and optimize the business model with

view to achieving the scale operation of the value-added

services and forming competitive advantages

Comprehensive utilization of diverse business

resources to mitigate the decline of the traditional

fixed-line business To slow down the decline of the local

telephone business through bundling mobile and

broadband services promote packages based on voice

traffic volume by leveraging on the advantage in network

resources and increase the penetration rate of the value

added services to provide comprehensive information

services to customers and exploit further value from the

fixed-line network
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Corporate Governance Report
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Corporate Governance Report
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Busmess Overview
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Busmess Overview
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Business Overvew

The 2..rd Generatfon Digfta CeHutar

Ccrnrrur9.catfons Serrfces 3D

January 2009 the CornpanyG

ultimate parent China United Network

Communications Group Company

Limited China Unicorn Group

received 3rd generaton digital

cellular communications business

license based on WCDMA technology

trom the Ministry of lndust% and

information Technology the Mill of

the PeopIe.s Republic of China and

authorized the Comoanys wholly-

owned subsidiary China United

Network Cummunicaticins Limited

CUCL to operate src.h seaices

nationwide in China

In 2009 the Company will firmly

capture oppobunities in 3D

development concentrate its

resources to guickly deploy high

guality 3D network in c.rder to

establi.sh leading market positions in

respect of network products and

services and custorne services The

Company expects to provide 3D

semic.es in 284 cities in China by the

end of 2009

in 2008 with the downward

adjustment of mobile roaming tariffs

and the tull implementation of the

mobile Calling-Baby-Pay policy the

mobile substitution of txedJine

business has fLlrther intensified

Meanwhile the Companys internal

reorganization the macroeconomic

downturn and fixed-line irher-regional

taritf downward adusfments have all

rought negative irnpacf9 on the fixed-

line business By accelerating the

implementation of the broadband

upgrade with access speed increase

actively developing content and

application services and promoting

rnulti-seaice bundling and voice

service packages the Company

delivered continued high growth in the

fixed-line broadband and data

communications business which

mitigated the decline in the traditional

fixed-line business In 2.008 the

revenue from the tixecf-ine business

was RMB.82 77 billion of which

service revenue accounted for

RMB81 .66 billion down by 4.7% from

Broadband and Di

Communfcatfon Send ens

In 2008 by mOrovlng broadband

access speed and ohering services

bundled with voice and services

bundled with ciornputer terminals the

Company maintained high growth in

its broadband business As at 31

December 2008 the total number of

broadband subscribers reached

25.416 million representing net

increase of 5.648 million up by 28.6%

fiom 2007 The broadband ARPU was

RMB65.2 down by 6.1% from 2007

2007 2008

Mobile Subscribers 000 20564 1.33365

fAtal Voice Usage million minutes
34141 376673

MCD rninutes./suh.scmihers month
249.7 246.4

ARPU RMBisubscribers month
45.7 42.3

SMS Volume million messages
72942 76325

Cool Fingtone Suhsc.ribars 000 37 951 44 127

CPRS Subscribers OOL 8893 31 223
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Burness Overvew
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Bushiess Overview
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Managemenvs Dscustdon and Anayss of Fhiancia Condition and Restilts of Operadons
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Managemenvs Discussion and Anaysis of Financia Condition and Results of Operations
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Managements Dscussion and Analysis of Financial Condihon and Results of Operatmns
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Managemenvs Discussion and Anayss of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

VU CAPrrAL EXPENDITURE AND CASH FLOW
Capta1 expenchtures

and projected capit

Capital expendhure the Group totaled RMB7O49 bOon in 2008 which mainly consisted of expenditures

investment in the 0CM network broadband and data and transmission network infrastructure

Including the Companys initial preparation reia.ting to the 30 cellular business and based on the

implementation of the Companys new development strategies capital expenditure attributable to

the 0CM cellular business was RMB32.95 billion Capital expenditure attributable to broadband and

data businesses was 784B9.05 billion Cc.pital expendfture attributable to the infrastructure and

transmission network was CMCi billion

In 2008 the Groups net cash inflow from operating activities of continuing operations representing

profit for the year pius depreciation and amortization was RMB62.01 billion while capital expenditures

was 8M87049 billion Taking into account the cash in.flow from the disposal of the CDMA business

the Companys financial condit.ion has become more stable

The table below sets forth the major ite.rnsof capital expenditure in 2008 and plarmed capital

expenditure in 2009
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Report of the Directors

Employee Benefit Expenses

Please refer to Note 31 to the financial statements for

details of the employee benefit expenses provided to

employees of the Group

Pre-ernptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights in the articles

of association of the Company the Articles of

Association requiring the Company to offer new shares to

the existing shareholders in proportion to their

sh arehold ings

Major Customers and Suppliers

The Groups sales to its five largest customers for the year

ended 31 December 2008 did not exceed 30% of the

Groups total turnover for the year

The Groups purchases from its largest supplier for the

year ended 31 December 2008 represented approximately

9.32% of the Groups total purchases for the year The

total purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of

the Group for the year ended 31 December 2008

accounted for approximately 28.57% of the total

purchases of the Group for the year

Share Option Schemes of the Company

Share Option Scheme

On June 2000 the Company adopted share

option scheme the Share Option Scheme for the

purpose of providing incentives and rewards to

employees who have made contributions to the

development of the Company The Share Option

Scheme shall be valid and effective for period of 10

years commencing on 21 June 2000 after which

period no further options shall be granted under the

Share Option Scheme but the provisions of the Share

Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to

the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of

any options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may

be required in accordance with the provisions of the

Share Option Scheme The terms of the Share Option

Scheme were amended on 13 May 2002 and 11 May

2007 respectively Under the amended Share Option

Scheme

share options may be granted to employees

including all directors the Directors of the

Company

any grant of share options to Connected

Person as defined in the Rules Governing the

Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of

Hong Kong Limited the Listing Rules of the

Company must be approved by the independent

non-executive directors of the Company

excluding any independent non-executive

director of the Company who is grantee of the

options

the maximumnumber of shares in respect of

which options may be granted must not exceed

10% of the issued share capital of the Company

as at 13 May 2002
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the option period commences on any day after

the date on which such options are offered but

may not exceed 10 years trom the offer date

the subscnption price shall not be less than the

higher of

the nominal value of the shares

the closing price of the shares on The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited the

Hong Kong Stock Exchange on the offer

date in respect of the options and

the average closing price of the shares on

the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the five

trading days immediately preceding the

offer date

the total number of shares in the Company

issued und to be issued upon exercise of the

options granted to participant of the Share

Option Scheme including both exercised and

outstanding options in any 2-month period

must not exceed of the issued share capital

of the Company and

the consideration payable for each grant is

HKD1

As at 31 December 2008 206540000 share options

had been granted and remained valid under the Share

Option Scheme representing approximately 0.87% of

the issued share capital of the Company as at the

latest practicable date prior to the printing of this

annual report Among these share options 2772000

share options were held by the Directors and their

associates as at 31 December 2008 Please refer to

the subsection headed Share Option Schemes of the

Company Interests of Directors Chief Executives

and Employees under the Pre-Global Offering Share

Option Scheme the Share Option Scheme and the

Special Purpose Share Option Scheme for details All
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of the options granted and outstanding as at 31

December 2008 are governed by the amended terms

of the Share Option Scheme

During the year ended 31 December 2008

27096800 options granted under the Share Option

Scheme were exercised Among these share options

1218000 options were exercised at the price of

HKD1 5.42 per share 3308000 options were

exercised at the price of HKD6.18 per share

2080800 options were exercised at the price of

HKD4.30 per share 9838000 options were

exercised at the price of HKD5.92 per share and

10652000 options were exercised at the price of

HKD6.35 per share

As at 31 December 2008 the number of options

available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is

608926107 options representing approximately

2.56% of issued share capital of the Company as at

the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this

annual report

Pre-GIobal Offering Share Option Scheme

On June 2000 the Company also adopted pre

global offering share option scheme the Pre-Global

Offering Share Option Scheme The Pre-Glohal

Offering Share Option Scheme shall be valid and

effective for period of 10 years commencing on 21

June 2000 after which period no further options shall

be granted but the provisions of the Pre-Global

Offering Share Option Scheme shall remain in full

force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect

to the exercise of any options granted prior thereto or

otherwise as may be required in accordance with the

provisions of the Pre-Global Offering Share Option

Scheme In order to synchronise the administration of

the options granted under the Pre-Global Offering

Share Option Scheme with the Share Option Scheme

the Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme was

also amended on 13 May 2002 and 11 May 2007

respectively The amended terms of the Pre-Global
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Offering Share Option Scheme are substantially the

same as those of the Share Option Scheme stated

above except that

the price of share payable upon the exercise of

an option shall be HKD1 5.42 excluding the

brokerage fee and the Hong Kong Stock

Exchange transaction levy

the period during which an option may be

exercised commenced two years from the date

of grant of the options and ends 10 years from

22 June 2000 and

no further options can be granted under the

scheme

As at 31 December 2008 16977600 share options

had been granted and remained valid under the Pre

Global Offering Share Option Scheme of the

Company representing approximately 0.07% of the

issued share capital of the Company as at the latest

practicable date prior to the printing of this annual

report Among these share options no option was

held by the Directors as at 31 December 2008 All of

the options granted and outstanding as at 31

December 2008 are governed by the amended terms

of the PreGlobal Offering Share Option Scheme

During the year ended 31 December 2008 4149200

options granted under the Pre-Global Offering Share

Option Scheme were exercised

Special Purpose Share Option Scheme

On 16 September 2008 the Company adopted

special purpose share option scheme the Special

Purpose Share Option Scheme in connection with

the merger of the Company and China Netcom Group

Corporation Hong Kong Limited China Netcom by

way of scheme of arrangement the Scheme of

China Netcom under Section 166 of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance The Special Purpose Share

Option Scheme provides the Company with means

to incentivise and retain the holders of options the

Netcom Options granted under the option scheme

adopted by China Netcom the Netcom Share Option

Scheme who are middle to senior management

staff of China Netcom and its subsidiaries and to

encourage them to contribute to increasing the value

of the Company The Special Purpose Share Option

Scheme shall be valid and effective during the period

commencing on 15 October 2008 and ending on 30

September 2014 being the date
falling

10 years after

the date on which the Netcom Share Option Scheme

was adopted The principal terms of the Special

Purpose Share Option Scheme are summarised as

follows

Grant of Special Unicorn Options and

Exercise Price

The maximum number of share options the

Special Unicorn Options granted to each

eligible participant the Eligible Participant

under the Special Purpose Share Option

Scheme and the exercise price of such

options shall be determined in accordance

with the following formula
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Number of Special Unicorn Options

Exercise price of each Special Unicorn Option

where

is the exchange ratio the Share

Exchange Ratio of 1.508 shares in the

Company for every China Netcorn share

cancelled under the Scheme

is the number of outstanding Netcorn

Options held by an Eligible Participant as at

500 p.m Hong Kong time on 14 October

2008 the Scheme Record Time and

is the exercise price of an outstanding

Netcom Option held by an Eligible

Participant at the Scheme Record Time

Fractions of Special Unicorn Options were

riot granted to the Eligible Participants

Based on the formulae set out above the

exercise price of Special Purpose 2004

Unicorn Option as defined below is

HKD5.57 and the exercise price of

Special Purpose 2005 Unicorn Option as

defined below is HKD8.26

The Board has the right to make

corresponding alterations to the number of

shares involved in the Special Unicorn

Options and the exercise price in the event

of capitalisation issue rights issue sub

division or consolidation of the Companys

shares or reduction of capital Such

adjustments shall give the Eligible

Participants the same proportion of the

issued share capital to which they would

have been entitled prior to such alteration

arid shall not cause the Companys shares

to be issued below its par value

ii No amount is payable on acceptance of the

grant of Special Unicorn Option
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Exercise of Special Unicorn Options

The Special Unicorn Options are exercised in

accordance with the following vesting schedules

Special Unicorn Options granted to the

Eligible Participants in respect of the

Netcom Options granted to them on 22

October 2004 the 2004 Netcom Options

and held as at the Scheme Record Time

theSpecial Purpose 2004 Unicorn

Options are effective from 15 October

2008 until 16 November 2010 Any Special

Purpose 2004 Unicorn Option not

exercised by 16 November 2010 shall lapse

automatically The Special Purpose 2004

Unicorn Options shall only be exercised

according to the vesting schedule below

and the maximum number of such options

that can be exercised at each tier shall not

exceed the limits below

100% of the Special Purpose 2004

Unicorn Options granted in respect of

the outstanding 2004 Netcom Options

held by the Eligible Participants at the

Scheme Record Time which are

exercisable from 17 May 2006 to 16

November 2010 may be exercised at

any time from 15 October 2008 to 16

November 2010 the First Tier

100% of the Special Purpose 2004

Unicorn Options granted in respect of

the outstanding 2004 Netcom Options

held by the Eligible Participants at the

Scheme Record Time which are

exercisable from 17 May 2007 to 16

November 2010 may be exercised at

any time from 15 October 2008 to 16

November 2010 the Second Tier
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100% of the Special Purpose 2004

Unicorn Options granted in respect of

the outstanding 2004 Netcom Options

held by the Eligible Participants at the

Scheme Record Time which are

exercisable from 17 May 2008 to 16

November 2010 may be exercised at

any time from 15 October 2008 to 16

November 2010 the Third Tier and

100% of the Special Purpose 2004

Unicorn Options granted in respect of

the outstanding 2004 Netcom Options

held by the Eligible Participants at the

Scheme Record Time which are

exercisable from 17 May 2009 to 16

November 2010 may be exercised at

any time from 17 May 2009 to 16

November 2010 the Fourth Tier

ii Special Unicom Options granted to Eligible

Participants in respect of the 2005 Netcom

Options granted to them on December

2005 the 2005 Netcorn Options and

held by them as at the Scheme Record

Time the Special Purpose 2005 Unicorn

Options are effective from 15 October

2008 until December 2011 Any Special

Purpose 2005 Unicom Option not

exercised by December 2011 shall lapse

automatically The Special Purpose 2005

Unicorn Options shall only be exercised

according to the vesting schedule below

and the maximum number of Special

Purpose 2005 Unicorn Options that can be

exercised at each tier shall not exceed the

limits below

100% of the Special Purpose 2005

Unicom Options granted in respect of

the outstanding 2005 Netcom Options

held by the Eligible Participants at the

Scheme Record Time which are

exercisable from December 2007 to

December 2011 may be exercised

at any time from 15 October 2008 to

December 2011 the First Tier

100% of the Special Purpose 2005

Unicorn Options granted in respect of

the outstanding 2005 Netcom Options

held by the Eligible Participants at the

Scheme Record Time which are

exercisable from December 2008 to

December 2011 may be exercised

at any time from December 2008 to

December 2011 the Second Tier

100% of the Special Purpose 2005

Unicorn Options granted in respect of

the outstanding 2005 Netcom Options

held by the Eligible Participants at the

Scheme Record Time which are

exercisable from December 2009 to

December 2011 may be exercised

at any time from December 2009 to

December 2011 the Third Tier

and
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100% of the Special Purpose 2005

Unicorn Options granted in respect of

the outstanding 2005 Netcorn Options

held by the Eligible Participants at the

Scheme Record Time which are

exercisable from December 2010 to

December 2011 may be exercised

at any time from December 2010 to

December 2011 the Fourth Tier

Please refer to the Companys circular issued on 15

August 2008 for further details on the terms of the

Special Purpose Share Option Scheme

On 15 October 2008 the Company granted

100831432 share options with an exercise price of

HKD5.57 per share and 88929468 share options

with an exercise price of HKD8.26 per share under

the Special Purpose Share Option Scheme of which

686.894 share options with an exercise price of

HKD5.57 per share were granted to Director The

closing price per share on 15 October 2008

immediately before the grant is HKD1 .60 The

Company used the Black-Scholes valuation model to

determine the fair value of share options granted on

15 October 2008 The fair value of an option is

determined based on different variables of certain

subjective assumptions Any change in the variables

so adopted may materially affect the estimation ot the

fair value of an option

As at 31 December 2008 189556566 share options

had been granted and remained valid under the

Special Purpose Share Option Scheme of the

Company representing approximately 0.80% of the

issued share capital of the Company as at the latest

practicable date prior to the printing of this annual

report Among these share options 686894 options
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were held by Director as at 31 December 2008 All

of the options granted and outstanding as at 31

December 2008 are governed by the terms of the

Special Purpose Share Option Scheme

During the year ended 31 December 2008 no options

granted under the Special Purpose Share Option

Scheme were exercised

Financial Impact and Valuation of Share Options

For the share options granted under the Share Option

Scheme and the Pro-Global Share Option Scheme

the Company recognised share-based employee

compensation costs over the vesting period based on

the estimated fair value of share options at the grant

date by using the Black-Scholes valuation model in

which no impact of any non-market vesting conditions

is considered In connection with the merger
with

China Netcom the grant of Special tJnicom Options

was accounted for as modification in accordance

with International Financial Reporting Standards

IFRS Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

HKFRS Share-based Payment issued by the

International Accounting Standards Board IASB

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

HKICPA The incremental fair value of the options

measured before and after the modification by using

the Black-Scholes valuation model in which no impact

of any non-market vesting conditions is considered is

recognised as expense over the remaining vesting

period

Please also refer to Note 32 to the financial

statements for additional description financial impact

and the valuation results of the respective share

option schemes
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Interest of Directors Chief Executives and Employees under the Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme
the Share Option Scheme and the Special Purpose Share Option Scheme

Exercise No of Options No of Options

Capacity and Date of Price Outstanding as at Movement During the Period
Outstanding as at

Nature Grant3 HKD January 20081 Granted1 Exercised1 Forfeited1 31 December 20081

Directors

Cheng Xiaobng Benefioial owner 21 December 2004 620 526000 526000

Chairman Personal 15 February 2006 6.35 800000 54000 746000

and CEO

1.272000

Lu Ymn

Zuo Xunsheng Benefica owner 15 October 2008 5.57 686894 686894

Personal

Tong Jib Beneficial owner 30 June 2001 15.42 292000 292000

Personal 20 July 2004 5.92 292000 200000 92000

15 February 2006 6.35 500000 40.000 460000

Beneficial owner 20 July 2004 5.92 32000 32000

Spouse 15 February 2006 6.35 40000 40000

916000

Caaareo Abierta zue

Jung Man Won

Wu Jinglian Beneficial owner 21 May 2003 4.30 292000 292000

Persona 20 July 2004 5.92 292000 292000

584000

Cheung Wing Lam

Linus

Wong Wa Ming

John Lawson Thornton

Timpson

Clung Shui Ming
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Exercise No of Options
No of Options

Capacity and Date of Price Outstanding as at Movement During the Period Outstanding as at

Nature Grant3 HKD January 20081 Granted1 Exercised1 Forfeited 31 December 20081

Employees 22 June 2000 15.42 21126800 4149200 16977600

30 June 2001 5.42 5316000 1218.000 40000 4.058.000

10 July 2002 6.18 3308000 3308000

21 May 2003 430 10800800 2.080800 56000 8.664000

20 July 2004 5.92 50.308000 9.638000 62.000 40 608000

21 December 2004 6.20 128000 128000

15 February 2006 6.35 163226000 10652000 2264000 150.310000

15 October 2008 5.57 100.144538 204334 99940204

15 October 2008 8.26 88929468 88.929.468

40961 5272

Total 257279600 413074166

Notes

Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one share

Includes Mr Shang Bing Mr Yang Xiaowei Mr Li Zhengmao and Mr Miao Jianhua who resigned as executive directors on 23 May

2008 The number of options outstanding as at January 2008 include total of 3201 000 options held by Mr Shang Bing Mr Yang

Xiaowei and Mr Li Zhengmao as beneficial owner personal

Mr Sharig Ding Mr Yang Xiaowei and Mr Li Zhengmao were determined by the Board as Transferred Personnel pursuant to the

Pre-Glohal Share Option Scheme and the Share Option Scheme and options held by them are subtect to relevant terms of the Pre

Global Share Option Scheme and the Share Option Scheme The number of options outstanding as at 31 December 2008 include the

options held by Mr Shang Bing Mr Yang Xiaowei and Mr Li Zhengmao as beneficial owner personal

Includes Mr Li Gang Mr Zhang Junan Mr Lu Jianguo and Mr Shan Weijian who resigned as executive directors on 15 October

2008 The number of options outstanding as at January 2008 includes total 2668600 options held by the said individuals as

beneficial owner personal

Accordirg to the terms of the CDMA business disposal between the Company and China Telecom Corporation Limited China

Telecom some of the Companys employees were transferred to China Telecom upon the CDMA business disposal becoming

effective Pursuant to the Pre-Global Share Option Scheme and the Share Option Scheme the said transferred employees may

exercise all effective options granted and vested under those two share option schemes to the extent such options bad not been

already exercised and all effective unvested options options that bad not vested by the time of such transfer of employees

according to the applicable vesting schedule but were nevertheless vested by the Board pursuant to those two option schemes at

any time from the date of their transfer to the earlier of 12 months after the date of the transfer and ii the end of applicable option

period All other options will lapse automatically on the date immediately after the date of such transfer of employees The number of

options includes total of 22500000 options held by those employees
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Particulars of share options are as follows

Exercise Exercise

Date of Grant Price HKD Period

Options Granted under the Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme

22 June2000 15.42 22 June 2002 to 21 June2010

Options Granted under the Share Option Scheme

30 June 2001 5.42 30 June 2001 to 22 June 2010

10 July 2002 6.18 10 July 2003 to July 2008 in respect of 40% of the options granted

10 July 2004 to July 2008 in respect of 30% of the options granted

10 July 2005 to July 2008 in respect of the remaining 30% of the options granted

21 May 2003 430 21 May 2004 to 20 May 2009 in respect of 40% of the options granted

21 May 2005 to 20 May 2009 in respect of 30% of the options granted

21 May 2006 to 20 May 2009 in respect of the remaining 30% of the options granted

20 July 2004 5.92 20 July 2005 to 19 July 2010 in respect of 40% of the options granted

20 July 2006 to 19 July 2010 in respect of 30% of the options granted

20 July 2007 to 19 July 2010 in respect of the remaining 30% of the options granted

21 December 2004 6.20 21 December 2005 to 20 December 2010 in respect of 40% of the options granted

21 December 2006 to 20 December 2010 in respect of 30% of the options granted

21 December 2007 to 20 December 2010 in respect of the remaining 30% of the options

granted

15 February 2006 6.35 15 February 2008 to 14 February 2012 in respect of 50% of the options granted

15 February 2009 to 14 February 2012 in respect of the remaining 50% of the options granted

Options Granted under the Special Purpose Share Option Scheme

15 October 2008 5.57 15 October 2008 to 16 November 2010 in respect of the options granted in relation to the 2004

Netcom Options outstanding as at the Scheme Record Time and exercisable from 17 May 2006

to 16 November 201

17 May 2009 to 16 November 2010 in respect of the options granted in relation to the 2004

Netcom Options outstanding as at the Scheme Record Time and exercisable from 17 May 2009

to 16 November 2010

15 October 2008 8.26 15 October 2008 to December 2011 in respect of the options granted in relation to the 2005

Netcom Options outstanding as at the Scheme Record Time and exercisable from December

2007 to December 2011

December 2008 to December 2011 in respect of the options granted in relation to the 2005

Netcom Options outstanding as at the Scheme Record Time and exercisable from December

2008 to December 2011

December 2009 to December 2011 in respect of the options granted in relation to the 2005

Netcom Options outstanding as at the Scheme Record Time and exercisable from December

2009 to December 2011

December 2010 to December 2011 in respect of the options granted in relation to the 2005

Netcom Options outstanding as at the Scheme Record Time and exercisable from December

2010 to December 2011
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Details of share options exercised during the year are as follows

For the year ended 31 December 2008

Repurchase Sale or Redemption of

Listed Shares of the Company

Further to the terms ot the Proposals as defined below in

the subsection headed Merger with China Netcom in

relation to the merger of the Company with China Netcom

total of 10102389377 shares in the Company were

issued to China Netcom shareholders as consideration for

cancellation of China Netcom shares held by China

Netcom shareholders as at the Scheme Record Time

Further details of the Proposals and the Scheme are set

out in the subsection headed Merger with China Netcom

below
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Save as disclosed above neither the Company nor any of

its subsidiaries repurchased sold or redeemed any of the

Companys listed shares for the financial year ended 31

December 2008

Grant date Exercise price

KD

Weighted average

closing price per

share immediately

before days of

exercise of options Proceeds received Number of

HKD HKD shares involved

22 June 2000 15.42 18.73 63980664 4149200

JO June 2001 15.42 8.38 18781560 1218000

113 July 2002 6.18 15.88 20443440 3308000

21 May 200J 4.30 16.90 8947440 2080800

20 July 2004 5.92 7.81 58240960 9838000

15 February 2006 6.35 17.62 67640200 10652000

238034264 31246000
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Substantial Interests and Short Positions in the Share Capital of the Company

The following table sets out the interests and short positions of each person other than director or chief executive of the

Company in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as notified to the Company and recorded in the register

required to be kept under Section 336 of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance the SF0 as at 31 December

2008

Ordinary Shares Held Percentage of

Directly Indirectly Total Issued Shares

China United Network Communications 9725000020 40.92%

Group Company Limited Unicom Group2

ii China United Telecommunications 9725000020 40.92%

Corporation Limited Unicom Share Company

iii China Unicom BVI Limited 9725000020 40.92%

Unicom BVI

iv China Network Communications Group Corporation 7234075906 3044%

Netcom Group23

China Netcom Group Corporation BVI Limited 7008353114 225722792 30.44%

Netcom BVI34

vi Telefdnica Internacional S.A.U 1278403444 5.38%

Notes

Unicorn Group and Unicorn Share Cornpany directly or indirectly control one-third or more of the voting rights in the shareholders

meetings ot Unicorn BVI and in accordance with the SF0 the interests of Unicorn BVI are deemed to be and have therefore been

included in the respective interests of Unicom Group and Unicorn Share Company

The merger between Unicorn Group and Netcorn Group became effective in January 2009 Please refer to the subsection headed

Recent Significant Developments Merger of Unicorn Group and Netcom Group for details

Netcom BVI is wholly owned subsidiary of Netcom Group In accordance with the SF0 the interests of Netcom BVI are deemed to

be and have therefore been included in the interests of Netcom Group

Netcorn BVI holds 7008353114 shares representing 29.49% of the total issued shares of the Company directly and share of the

Company through CNC Cayman Limited its wholly owned subsidiary Netcom BVI is also deemed under the SF0 to be interested in

225722791 shares representing 0.95% of the total issued shares of the Company held as trustee on behalf of PRC shareholder

Apart from the foregoing as at 31 December 2008 no person had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying

shares in the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SF0

Please also refer to Note 17 to the financial statements for details of the share capital of the Company
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Composition of the Board

The Directors during the year were

Executive Directors

Chang Xiaobing Chairman and CEO

Non-Executive Directors

Cesareo Alierta Izuel

Kim Shin Bae

Lu Jmnguo

Lee Suk Hwan

appointed on 15 October 2008

appointed on 15 October 2008

resigned on 23 May 2008

resigned on 23 May 2008

resigned on 23 May 2008

resigned on 23 May 2008

resigned on 15 October 2008

resigned on 15 October 2008

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Wu Jinglian

Cheung Wing Lam Linus

Wong Wai Ming

John Lawson Thornton appointed on 15 October 2008

Timpson appointed on 15 October 2008

Chung Shui Ming

Shan Weijian resigned on 15 October 2008

Mr Kim Shin Bae resigned and Mr Jung Man Won was

appointed as non-executive director on 22 January 2009
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Pursuant to the Articles of Association Mr Chang

Xiaobing Mr Lu Yimin Mr Zuo Xunsheng Mr Cesareo

Alierta Izuel Mr Jung Man Won Mr Wong Wai Ming

Mr John Lawson Thornton and Mr Timpson Chung Shui

Ming will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual

general meeting of the Company and being eligible offer

themselves for re-election

The personal biographies of the Directors proposed for re

election at the forthcoming annual general meeting the

Directors for Re-Election are set out in the section

headed Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management on pages l4to 21 of this annual report

Save as disclosed in the section headed Biographical

Details of Directors and Senior Management the Directors

for Re-Election have not held any other directorship in any

listed public companies in the last three years In addition

save as disclosed in the section headed Biographical

Details of Directors and Senior Management the Directors

for Re-Election do not have any other relationship with any

Director senior management or substantial or controlling

shareholders of the Company Save as disclosed in the

subsection headed Share Option Schemes of the

Company Interests of Directors Chief Executives and

Employees under the Pre-Global Offering Share Option

Scheme the Share Option Scheme and Special Purpose

Share Option Scheme and Directors Interests and Short

Positions in Shares Underlying Shares or Debentures

Directors for Re-Election do not have any other interest in

the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV

of the SF0

The terms of services agreed between the Directors for Re

Election and the Company neither specify the length of

service nor require the Company to give more than one

years prior notice or to make payments equivalent to more

than one years emoluments to terminate the service other

than statutory compensation However they are subject to

retirement by rotation at annual general meetings in

accordance with the Articles of Association

Lu Yimin

Zuo Xunsheng

Tong Jilu

Shang Bing

Yang Xiaowei

Li Zhengmao

Miao Jianhua

Li Gang

Zhang Junan

appointed on 15 October 2008

appointed on 15 October 2008

resigned on 15 October 2008

resigned on 15 October 2008
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The remuneration package of Mr Chang Xiaobing includes

basic annual salary of HKD1 400000 plus housing

allowance of HKD1 000000 the remuneration package of

Mr Lu Yimin includes basic annual salary of

HKD1 200000 plus housing allowance of HKD900000

and the remuneration package of Mr Zuo Xunsheng

includes basic annual salary of HKD900000 plus

housing allowance of HKD800000 The remuneration of

each of Mr Chang Xiaobing Mr Lu Yimin and Mr Zuo

Xunsheng has been determined with reference to their

respective duties and responsibilities in the Company their

respective experience and the prevailing market conditions

The remuneration package of each of Mr Chang Xiaobing

Mr Lu Yimin and Mr Zuo Xunsheng also includes

discretionary bonus as recommended by the

Remuneration Committee of the Company and approved

by the Board based on their performance The

remuneration package of each of Mr Cesareo Alierta Izuel

and Mr Jung Man Won includes an annual fee of

HKD300000 for being non-executive director of the

Company The remuneration package of Mr Wong Wai

Ming includes an annual fee of HKD300000 for being

non-executive director an annual fee of HKD100000 for

being Chairman of the Audit Committee as well as an

annual fee of HKD2O000 for being member of the

Remuneration Committee The remuneration package of

each of Mr John Lawson Thornton and Mr Timpson

Chung Shui Ming includes an annual fee of HKD300000

for being non-executive director an annual fee of

HKD7O000 for being member of the Audit Committee

as well as an annual fee of HKD2O000 for being member

of the Remuneration Committee Remuneration of Mr

Cesareo Alierta Izuel Mr Jung Man Won Mr Wong Wai

Ming Mr John Lawson Thornton and Mr Timpson Chung

Shui Ming has been determined with reference to their

duties and the prevailing market conditions

Save as disclosed in this annual report each of the

Directors for Re-Election has confirmed that there is no

other matter that needs to be brought to the attention of

the shareholders of the Company nor there is any other

information to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.512 of

the Listing Rules

Independence of Independent Non-

Executive Directors

The Company has received from each of its independent

non-executive directors the annual confirmation of his

independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules

and the Company considers that all independent non-

executive directors are currently independent

Directors Interests and Short Positions

in Shares Underlying Shares or

Debentures

As at 31 December 2008 the interests and short positions

of the Directors in any shares underlying shares or

debentures of the Company or any of its associated

corporations as defined in the SF0 as recorded in the

register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SF0

or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong

Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers were

as follows

Percentage

of Total

Issued SharesDirector Capacity

Tinipson Chung Shui Ming Beneficial owner Personal 6000 0.0000%

Ordinary Shares

Held
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Please refer to the subsection headed Share Option

Schemes of the Company Interests of Directors Chief

Executives and Employees under the Pre-Global Offering

Share Option Scheme the Share Option Scheme and the

Special Purpose Share Option Scheme herein above for

the interests and rights to acquire shares held by the

Directors and the chief executive of the Company as at 31

December 2008 under the Pre-Global Offering Share

Option Scheme the Share Option Scheme and the Special

Purpose Share Option Scheme

Apart from those disclosed herein at no time during 2008

was the Company or any of its holding companies or

subsidiaries party to any arrangement to enable the

Directors or any of their spouses or children under eighteen

years of age to acquire benefits by means of acquiring

shares or debentures of the Company or any of its

associated corporations as defined in the SF0

Furthermore apart from those disclosed herein as at 31

December 2008 none of the Directors or the chief

executive of the Company had any personal family

corporate or other interests or short positions in any

shares underlying shares or debentures of the Company

or any of its associated corporations as defined in the SF0

Directors nterest in Contracts

Save for the service agreements between the Company

and the executive directors as at 31 December 2008 the

Directors did not have any material interests whether

directly or indirectly in any significant contracts entered

into by the Company

None of those Directors proposed for re-election at the

torthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired

service agreement which is not terminable by the Company

within one year without payment of compensation other

than statutory coinpensation
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Emoluments of the Directors

Please refer to Note 31 to the financial statements for

details of the emoluments of the Directors

Employee and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2008 the Group had approximately

205000 employees 150 employees and 50 employees in

Mainland China Hong Kong and other countries

respectively Furthermore the Group had approximately

109000 temporary employees in Mainland China For the

year ended 31 December 2008 employee benefit

expenses were approximately RMB2O.5 billion for the year

ended 31 December 2007 RMB19.4 billion The Group

endeavors to maintain its employees remuneration in line

with market trend and to remain competitive Employees

remuneration is determined in accordance with the

Groups remuneration and bonus policies based on their

performance The Group also provides comprehensive

benefit packages and career development opportunities for

its employees including retirement benefits housing

benefits and internal and external training programmes

tailored in accordance with individual needs

The Company has adopted share option schemes under

which the Company may grant share options to eligible

employees for subscribing to the Companys shares

CDMA Business Disposal

On June 2008 the Company China United Network

Communications Corporation Limited CUCL formerly

known as China Unicom Corporation Limited wholly

owned subsidiary of the Company and China Telecom

Corporation Limited China Telecom entered into

CDMA business disposal framework agreement which sets

out the terms and conditions on which the Company

CUCL and China Telecom proceed with the CDMA
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business disposal the CDMA Business Disposal

whereby CUCL agreed to sell and China Telecom agreed

to purchase the CDMA business of CUCL On 27 July

2008 the Company CUCL and China Telecom further

entered into CDMA business disposal agreement which

sets out the detailed terms and conditions of the CDMA

Business Disposal The consideration for the CDMA

Business Disposal is RMB43.8 billion approximately

HK$50.1 billion and is payable in cash by China Telecom

in three installments The consideration is subject to price

adjustment mechanism which is based on the CDMA

service revenues generated by the Group for the two six-

month periods ended 30 June 2007 and 30 June 2008

respectively as set out in the circular issued by the

Company dated August 2008 the CDMA Disposal

Circular Based on the CDMA service revenues generated

by the Group for the two six-month periods ended 30 June

2007 and 30 June 2008 respectively and as agreed by

the Company and China Telecom no adjustment was

made to the consideration

In connection with the CDMA Business Disposal on 27

July 2008 CUCL agreed to waive its right to exercise its

option to purchase the CDMA network from Unicom New

Horizon Mobile Telecommunications Company Limited

Unicorn New Horizon wholly-owned subsidiary of

Unicom Group and to terminate the CDMA lease pursuant

to which CUCL leases capacity on the CDMA network

from Unicom New Horizon in each case with effect from

the completion of the CDMA Business Disposal

Details of the CDMA Business Disposal have been set out

in the announcement issued by the Company on 28 July

2008 and the CDMA Disposal Circular You may download

and view these documents from the Companys website at

www.chinaunicom.com.hk the Hong Kong Stock

Exchanges website at www.hkexnews.hk or the SECs

website at www.sec.gov

As the CDMA Business Disposal constituted major

transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules it was

subject to the approval of the Companys shareholders As

the waiver by CUCL of the option to purchase the CDMA

network and the termination of the CDMA lease constituted

connected transactions for the Company under the Listing

Rules they were subject to the approval of the

independent shareholders of the Company

Pursuant to the shareholders meeting held on 16

September 2008 the Companys shareholders approved

the CDMA Business Disposal and the Companys

independent shareholders approved the waiver by CUCL

of the option to purchase the CDMA network and the

termination of the CDMA lease As all of the conditions of

the CDMA Business Disposal as specified in the CDMA

business disposal agreement had been satisfied the

CDMA Business Disposal was completed on October

2008 On October 2008 China Telecom became the

legal owner of the CDMA business and all the rights

interests obligations and liabilities in relation to the CDMA

business were borne by China Telecom with effect from

October 2008

Merger with China Netcom

On June 2008 the boards of directors of the Company

and China Netcom jointly announced that the Company

had formally presented to the board of directors of China

Netcom and requested the board of directors of China

Netcom to put forward to the shareholders of China

Netcom for consideration the proposals relating to the

merger of the Company and China Netcom the

Proposals by way of scheme of arrangement of China

Netcom under Section 166 of the Companies Ordinance

Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong the Scheme
Pursuant to the Proposals total of 10102389377

shares in the Company were issued to China Netcom

shareholders as consideration for cancellation of the China
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Netcom shares held by China Netcom shareholders as at

the Scheme Record Time Details of the Proposals and the

Scheme have been set out in the circular issued by the

Company dated 15 August 2008 the VSA Circular

which also includes in Appendix IV to the VSA Circular the

full text of the document in respect of the Scheme the

Scheme Document You may download and view the

VSA Circular from the Companys website at

www.chinaunicom.com.hk the Hong Kong Stock

Exchanges website at www.hkexnews.hk or the website

of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission

the SEC at www.sec.gov

As the Proposals constituted very substantial acquisition

for the Company under the Listing Rules they were subject

to the approval of the Companys shareholders Pursuant

to the shareholders meeting held on 16 September 2008

the Companys shareholders approved the Proposals and

the terms of the Scheme As all of the conditions of the

Proposals and the Scheme as specified in the Scheme

Document had been satisfied on 15 October 2008 the

Scheme became effective China Netcom became

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the listings

of China Netcoms ordinary shares and ADSs on the Hong

Kong Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange

respectively were withdrawn

Since China Netcom became wholly-owned subsidiary of

the Company the Company has continued with the

business of China Netcom and has not introduced any

major changes to the business of China Netcom or to

redeploy any fixed assets of China Netcom and its

subsidiaries The enlarged group is now an integrated

telecommunications operator offering wireless fixed-line

broadband data and value-added services to its

subscribers The Company has taken measures to

combine the respective experience and technologies of the

Group and China Netcom in the wireless and fixed-line

businesses to promote business innovation and

competitiveness and to improve operating and financial

performance through developing targeted business

strategies according to the dynamic market developments
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By combining the resources and business strengths of the

Company and China Netcom in different areas the

enlarged group is targeting to become world-class

provider of broadband communications and information

services establishing competitive advantages in

technology products and services providing professional

and multi-tiered information services and satisfying the

changing and diverse needs of telecommunications market

in China

Upon the Scheme becoming effective the Company

changed its name and adopted the Special Purpose Share

Option Scheme details of which has been set out in the

VSA Circular and are summarized as follows

Change of Company Name

Upon the Scheme becoming effective on 15 October

2008 the name of the Company was changed from

China Unicom Limited to

China Unicom Hong Kong Limited

5fyfyC51 The stocktrading name

used by the Company and the ticker symbol on the

New York Stock Exchange of the Company remain

unchanged

Special Purpose Share Option Scheme

In connection with the Proposals the Company has

adopted the Special Purpose Share Option Scheme

The Company has granted new options pursuant to

the Special Purpose Share Option Scheme to the

China Netcom optionholders in consideration for the

cancellation of their outstanding Netcom options

whether vested or not at the Scheme Record Time

The Special Purpose Share Option Scheme will

provide the Company with means to incenhvize and

retain the China Netcom optionholders who are

middle to senior management staff of China Netcom

and its subsidiaries and to encourage them to

enhance the value of the Company
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summary of the principal terms of the Special

Purpose Share Option Scheme including the exercise

price of the options and the number of options to be

granted under the Special Purpose Share Option

Scheme has been set out in the subsection headed

Share Option Schemes of the Company Special

Purpose Share Option Scheme above and Appendix

II to the VSA Circular

As part of the Companys integration with China Netcorn

the Companys wholly-owned subsidiary CUCL merged

with China Netcom Group Company Limited CNC

China wholly-owned subsidiary of China Netcorn with

effect from January 2009 and upon the effectiveness of

such merger CUCL assumed all the rights and obligations

of CNC China and all the assets liabilities and business of

CNC China were vested in CUCL CNC China will be

deregistered according to law In addition China Network

Communications Group Corporation Netcom Group

China Netcorns ultimate controlling shareholder merged

with the Unicorn Group with effect from January 2009

Please see the subsection headed Merger of Unicorn

Group and Netcom Group for details of the merger

between Netcom Group and Unicorn Group

Connected Transactions

As at 31 December 2008 Unicorn Group indirectly holds

approximately 40.92% of the issued share capital of the

Company and is therefore connected person of the

Company under the Listing Rules

Moreover as result of the completion of the merger with

China Netcorn the Merger on 15 October 2008 China

Netcom becarne wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Company and Netcom BVI became substantial

shareholder of the Company Hence Netcorn BVI and its

associates including Netcorn Group became connected

persons of the Company under the Listing Rules upon

completion of the Merger As at 31 Decernber 2008

Netcorn BVI holds approximately 30.44% of the issued

share capital of the Company

Waiver of Option to Purchase CDMA Network

and Termination of CDMA Lease

Please see the section headed CDMA Business

Disposal above for details of the waiver of the option

to purchase the CDMA network and termination of

the CDMA lease

Acquisition of Certain Assets and Business and

Lease of Network from Parent Companies

On 16 December 2008 CUCL agreed to acquire from

Unicorn Group and Netcom Group certain assets and

business the Target Assets and Business

comprising the telecommunications business

across the 21 provinces in southern China the

Southern China but not the underlying fixed assets

and the local access telephone business and related

assets in Tianjin Municipality operated by Unicorn

Group and Netcorn Group and/or their respective

subsidiaries and branches ii the backbone

transmission assets in Northern China owned by
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Netcom Group and/or its subsidiaries iii 100%

equity interest in Unicorn Xingye Science and

Technology Trade Cornpany Lirnited Unicorn

Xingye owned by Unicorn Group iv 100% equity

interest in China Information Technology Designing

Consulting Institute CITC owned by Unicorn Group

and 100% equity interest in Unicorn New Guoxin

Cornmunications Lirnited Cornpany New Guoxin

owned by Unicorn Group the Acquisitions The

total consideration for the Acquisitions is RMB6.43

billion equivalent to HK$7.28 billion and was

deterrnined after arrns length negotiations with

reference to nurnber of factors and subject to such

adjustments as described in the Cornpanys circular

issued on 22 Decernber 2008 the Acquisitions

Circular

Pursuant to the 2-step approach as described in the

Acquisitions Circular on 16 Decernber 2008 the

following agreernents were entered into in connection

with the Acquisitions

UnicoiTi Group Netcorn Group and Unicorn

Share Company entered into an acquisition

agreement the Acquisition Agreernent dated

16 December 2008 and

Unicorn Share Cornpany and CUCL entered

into transfer agreernent the Transfer

Agreement

In addition on 16 Decernber 2008 CUCL entered

into network lease agreernent the Network Lease

Agreement with Unicorn Group Netcorn Group and

Unicorn New Horizon pursuant to which Unicorn New

Horizon agreed to lease the telecornmunications

networks in the Southern China to CUCL on

completion of the Acquisitions on an exclusive basis
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the Lease The Lease enables CUCL to use the

telecommunications networks necessary for the

operation of the telecommunications business in the

Southern China The Lease is for an initial term of two

years effective from January 2009 to 31 December

2010 and is renewable at the option of CUCL with at

least two months prior notice on the sarne terrns and

conditions except for the future lease fee which will

remain subject to further negotiations between the

parties taking into account amongst others the

prevailing rnarket conditions in the Southern China

Unicorn New Horizon has also granted CUCL an

option to purchase the telecornrnunications networks

in the Southern China which option may be exercised

at the discretion of CUCL during the term of tCe

Lease No premium has been paid or will be payable

by CUCL for the grant of such purchase option

The annual fee payable by CUCL for the Lease for the

two financial years ending 31 December 2009 and

2010 is RMB2.0 billion and RMB2.2 billion

respectively due on quarterly basis in cash within

30 days after the end of each preceding quarterly

period

The Board believes that the Acquisitions enable the

Cornpany to further implement its established

development strategy offer full spectrum of

telecommunications services across China from both

business and geographical perspectives promote the

integration and optirnisation of its business and

resources and enhance its overall competitive position

with the objective of providing its subscribers with

better services and creating long-term value for the

Cornpanys shareholders The Company believes that

the operation of the telecornrnunications business in

Southern China by way of leasing will enable the

Group to effectively reduce the investrnent risks
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involved in the development of the

telecommunications business in the Southern China

The leasing of such assets is also expected to enable

the Group to benefit from the growth potential of the

telecommunications business in the Southern China

while being able to operate such business in more

cost effective manner

The Transfer Agreement constituted connected

transaction for the Company subject to the reporting

announcement and independent shareholders

approval requirements under the Listing Rules The

Transfer Agreement was approved by the

Independent Shareholders at shareholders meeting

held on 14 January 2009 The Lease constituted

continuing connected transaction for the Company

which was subject to the reporting and

announcement requirements but was exempt from

independent shareholders approval requirement

under the Listing Rules

As all of the conditions precedent to the completion of

the Acquisitions and to the effectiveness of the Lease

were satisfied or if applicable waived on 31 January

2009 completion of the Acquisitions occurred on 31

January 2009 and the Lease became effective from

January 2009 In addition save for certain

arrangements as set out in the Acquisitions Circular

the profits and losses generated from the operation of

the assets and businesses acquired under the

Acquisitions were assumed by the Group with effect

from January 2009

Continuing Connected Transactions

Continuing Connected Transactions arising from the

Merger with China Netcom

Please see the subsection headed Merger with China

Netcom above for details of the merger with China

Netcom

As Netcom BVI and its associates became connected

persons of the Company pursuant to the Merger the

continuing connected transactions between China Netcom

and its subsidiaries namely CNC China which merged

with CUCL subsequent to the merger in January 2009 and

China Netcom Group System Integration Limited

Corporation China Netcom System Integration which

became wholly owned subsidiary of the Company after

the Merger and Netcorn Group which merged with

Unicom Group subsequent to the Merger in January 2009

existing before the Merger became continuing connected

transactions of the Company the Pre-Merger Netcom

Continuing Connected Transactions upon completion of

the Merger

Moreover continuing transactions existing between certain

subsidiaries of the Company and Netcom Group before the

Merger became new continuing connected transactions of

the Company the Pre-Merger Unicom Continuing

Transactions upon completion of the Merger CUCL and

Netcom Group have entered into certain framework

agreements to record the principles governing and the

principal terms of the Pre-Merger Unicom Continuing

Transactions
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Furthermore the terms of the continuing connected

transactions the Amended 2006 Continuing Connected

Transactions between the Company and Unicom Group

approved on December 2006 by independent

shareholders of the Company were amended effective

upon completion at the Merger pursuant to an

agreement the Second New Comprehensive Services

Agreement dated 12 August 2008 entered into between

Unicom Group and Unicom Share Company and

transfer agreement the New Transfer Agreement dated

12 August 2008 entered into among Unicom Share

Company CUCL and CNC China under which Unicom

Share Company would cease to be party to the Second

New Comprehensive Services Agreement and CUCL and

CNC China would each become party to it in place of

Urrcom Share Company The Second New

Comprehensive Services Agreement is for term of three

years Unless CUCL and CNC China notify Unicom Group

at least 60 days prior to the expiration of such agreement

of their intention not to renew such agreement such

agreement shall automatically he renewed for further

period of three years The Second New Comprehensive

Services Agreement and the New Transfer Agreement

were entered into to facilitate the business and operations

of the enlarged group after the Merger

The Pre-Merger Netcom Continuing Connected

Transactions the Pre-Merger Unicom Continuing

Transactions and the Amended 2006 Continuing

Connected Transactions collectively are referred to herein

below as the Post-Merger Continuing Connected

Transactions

The following Post-Merger Continuing Connected

Transactions the Non-exempt Post-Merger Continuing

Connected Transactions and where applicable the

relevant annual caps for each of the years ended 31

December 2008 2009 and 2010 were approved by the
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Companys shareholders at shareholders meeting held

on 16 September 2008

the Pre-Merger Netcom Continuing Connected

Transactions under

the Domestic Interconnection Settlement

Agreement 2008-2010

ii the International Long Distance Voice Services

Settlement Agreement 2008-2010 and

iii the Engineering and Information Technology

Services Agreement 2008-2010

the Pre-Merger Unicom Continuing Transactions

under

the Framework Agreement for Interconnection

Settlement and

ii the Framework Agreement for Engineering and

Information Technology Services and

the Amended 2006 Continuing Connected

Transactions under the Second New Comprehensive

Services Agreement and the New Transfer Agreement

relating to the supply of telephone cards

interconnection arrangements provision of

international telecommunications network gateway

provision of operator-based value-added services

provision of value-added telecommunications

services provision of 10010/10011 customer

services and provision of agency services

The transactions set out in paragraphs ai aii bi and

above are not sublect to annual caps
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The Amended 2006 Continuing Connected Transactions

relating to the supply of telephone cards interconnection

arrangements provision of international

telecommunications network gateway provision of

operator-based value-added services provision of value-

added telecommunications services provision of 10010/

10011 customer services and provision of agency

services together with the relevant annual caps for these

transactions for each of the years ended 31 December

2008 2009 and 2010 were approved by the Companys

independent shareholders in general meeting on 16

September 2008

Details of each of the Pre-Merger Netcom Continuing

Connected Transactions the Pre-Merger Unicorn

Continuing Transactions and the Amended 2006

Continuing Connected Transactions were set forth in the

Companys circular issued on 15 August 2008 and are

summarised below

The Pre-Merger Netcom Continuing Connected

Transactions

On 12 September 2005 CNC China China Netcom

Group New Horizon Communications Corporation

Limited New Horizon Communications and

Netcom Group entered into various continuing

connected transaction agreements On November

2007 CNC China and Netcom Group entered into the

following renewal agreements to extend the terms of

the continuing connected transaction agreements for

term of three years commencing on January

2008 namely

Domestic Interconnection Settlement Agreement

2008-2010

International Long Distance Voice Services

Settlement Agreement 2008-2010

Engineering and Information Technology

Services Agreement 2008-2010

Master Sharing Agreement 2008-2010

Property Leasing Agreement 2008-2010

Materials Procurement Agreement 2008-2010

Ancillary Telecommunications Services

Agreement 2008-2010

Support Services Agreement 2008-2010 and

Telecommunications Facilities Leasing

Agreement 2008-2010

Each of the above agreements may be renewed with the

same terms for further three-year periods where CNC

China notifies Netcom Group at least three months prior to

the expiration of the relevant agreement of its intention to

renew such agreement

On November 2007 China Netcom System Integration

and Netcom Group signed the Information and

Communications Technology Agreement 2008-2010 for

term of three years commencing on January 2008 to

replace the Information and Communications Technology

Agreement previously entered into between the parties If

the parties agree the Information and Communications

Technology Agreement 2008-2010 can be renewed with

the same terms for further three-year periods
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Details of the PreMerger Netcom Continuing Connected Transactions are summarised below

Agreement Nature of Transactions Consideration and Terms

Dcrrietstic

ft
iferconnectirs

Settlement

Arjrnrrtetti

2008-201/

12 Iritemationril Loop

0/s lance Voice

Services Settlcrrient

Agreement

2008-2010

iS Ehq/neet-/ttq nor

lttotr7ratiott

Technology Serv.ces

Aqreeotettt

2008-201

CNC China and Netcorn Group agrea to

interconnect their respective networks and settle

the charges received in respect of domestic long

distance voice services within their respective

service regions on quarterly basis

CNC China and Netcom Group agree to

interconnect their respective networks and settle

the chargea received in respect cit international

long distance voice aervices on quarterly basis

Netcom Group agrees to provide to CNC China

certain engineering
and information technology-

related services including planning surveying

design services construction and supervision

services ri relation to telecommunications

engineering protects
and information technology

services

For domestic long distance voice services between Netcom

Group and CNC China the telephone operator in the location of

the calling party makes settlement payment to the telephone

operator in the location ot the called party at the rate of RMBO.06

per minute irrespective of whether the call terminates within or

outside the network of either Netcom Group or CNC China Such

rate shall be adjusted with reference to the relevant standards

tariffs or policies promulgated by the relevant regulatory

authorities in China from time to time

For outbound international calls Netcom Group reimburses CNC

China for any amount it has paid to overseas telecommunications

operators The revenues received by Netcom Group less the

amount paid to overseas telecommunications operators are

shared between Netcom Group and CNC China in proportion tc

the estimated costs incurred by Netcom Group and CNC China in

connection with the provision of outbound international long

distance voice services

For inbound international calls the revenues received by CNC

China from overseas telecommunications operators other than

China Netcom and its controlled entities less the amount paid to

Netcom Group at the rate of RMBO.06
per

minute irrespective of

whether the call terminates within the network of Netcorn Group

or within the network of other operators are shared between

Netcom Group and CNC China in proportion to the estimated

costs incurred by Netcom Group and CNC China in connection

with the provision of inbound international long distance voice

services The rate of RMB0.06 per minute mentioned above shall

be adjusted with reference to the relevant standards tariffs or

policies promulgated by the relevant regulatory authorities in

China from time to time

The charges payable for engineering and intorrnation technology-

related services are deterrrrined with reference to market rates In

addition where the value of any single item of engineering design

or supervision-related service exceeds RMBO.5 million or where

the value of any single item of engineering
construction-related

service exceeds RMB2 million the award of such services will be

subiect to tender The charges are settled between CNC Chins

and Netcom Group as and when the relevant services ore

provided
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For the year endect December 2008 the total service charges

paid by CNC China to Netcom Group amounted to approximately

RMB2.601 billion
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Agreement

Master Sharing

Agreement

2008-2010

Nature of Transactions

Pursuant to this agreement

CNC China agrees to provide various

services to Netcom Group including

customer relationship management

services network management services and

various supporting services CNC China

also agrees to share with Netcom Group the

services provided by administrative and

managerial staff in respect of central

management of the business operations

financial control human resources and

other related matters of both companies

Natcom Group agrees to provide various

services to CNC China including supporting

services and certain other shared services

such as advertising publicity research and

development business hospitality

maintenance and property management

Net corn Group also agrees to provide

certain office space in its headquarters to

CNC China for use as its principal executive

office and

Consideration and Terms

The services set out in and and the revenue and fee set out

in are shared between CNC China and Net com Group on an

on-going basis from time to time

The aggregate costs incurred by CNC China or Netcom Group

for the provision of the services set out in and and the

revenue and tea receivable and payable by Netcorn Group as

referred to in are apportioned between CNC China and

Netcom Group according to their respective total assets value as

shown in their respective
financial statements on an annual basis

The total amounts received by CNC China from Netcom Group in

respect of services set out in and in respect of revenue set out

in for the year
ended 31 December 2008 amounted to

approximately RMB1 40 million The total amounts paid by CNC

China to Netcorn Group in respect of services set out in and in

respect of the fee set out in for the year
ended 31 December

2008 amounted to approximately RMB563 million

Property Leasing

Aqreement

2008-2010

CNC China and Netcom Group agrees to

share revenues received by Netcom Group

from other operators whose networks

interconnect with the Internet backbone

network of Netcom Group and agrees to

share the monthly connection fee that

Netcom Group pays to the State Internet

Switching Centre

Pursuant to this agreement

CNC China leases to Netcorn Group certain

properties located throughout CNC Chinas

service regions for use as offices and other

ancillary purposes and

Netcom Group leases to CNC China certain

properties located throughout CNC Chinas

service regions for use as offices

telecommunications equipment sites and

other ancillary purposes

The charges payable by CNC China and by Netcom Group are

based on market rates or the depreciation charges and taxes in

respect of each property provided that such depreciation

charges and taxes shall not be higher than the market rates The

charges are payable quarterly
in arrears and are subject

to review

every year
to take into account the then prevailing market rates of

the properties leased in that year

For the year ended 31 December 2008 the rental charges that

CNC China paid to Net corn Group amounted to approximately

RMB643 million For the year ended 31 December 2008 the

rental charges paid by Net corn Group to CNC China amounted to

approximately to RMB1O million
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Agreement Nature of Transactions Consideration and Terms

33 itenats Pursuant to fhis agreement Commission and/or charges for procurement services roterred to

ProourenE-nt
10 010 respect of

rtgreemoirt to ONC China may request Nefcom Creup to

335-33/i ant as ifs agent for the pwcurernent of upoded materials arid

imported ann domestc telecommunicodens

equipment and other domestic non- domestic materials

telecommunicohons equipment

shall nof exceed the maximum rate ott 00 end 300 respectively ot

hi CNC China way purchase from Netcoro the contract value

Croup certain products including cables

modems and yetow pages telephone The price for fhe purchase ot Netcem Croups products reterred

directories and to in is determined with reference to the fetewing pricing

principles and limits tbe Pricing Prindplesi

tc Netcom Croup agrees to preside to CNC

China storage and transportation services the government fixed
price

related to the precurement and purchase of

materials or equipment under the where there is no gosernwent tixed tirictn hut government

agreement guidance price exists the government guidance price

where there is neither government tixed price nor

government guidance price the market price or

whore none of the above is applicable the price to be

agreed between the relevant parties md deternsned on

cost-plus basis

Commission charges for the storage and tcinsportation services

reterred to in are to be determined with rcterence to market

rates

Payments will be reade as and when the relava.nt egnnpmeet or

products have been procured and delivered

For the year ended 31 December 2308 the total commission

and/er charges paid by CNC China to Netcem Croup amounted

to approximately PM85 12 millien

1/ Ancmttumv Netcem Creup agrees to
provide CNC China with The charges payable are determined with reference to the Pricing

teyxssnnsvmmcitvsm
ancillary telecommunications services including Principles and are settled between CNC China sod Netccm

rterwues Agreuuiunt certain telecommunications pro-sale on-sale and Creup as aert when the relevant services are provided

3003-2rtttt odor-sale services such as assembling and

repairing et certain telecommunications For the
year ended 31 Deconiber 20gb the total services charges

equipment sales agency services printing and paid by CNC Chine to Netcem Croup amounted to approximately

invoice delivery services maintenance of telephone PMBbbb million

booths customers
acquisition ond servicing and

ether customers services
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Agreement Nature of Transactions Consideration and Terms

Support Services Netcom Group agrees to provide CNC Ch8na with The charges payable are determined with reterence to the Pricing

Agreement various supped services including eguipment Principlee end ere settled between CNC Chine end Netcem

2008-20 10 leasing ether then eguipment covered under the Group as and when the relevant services are provided

Telecommunications Facilities Leasing Agreement

2008-20 described below end meintenence Fur the yeer ended 31 December 2008 the total charges paid by

services meter vehicles services security CNC Chine to Netcem Greup amounted to appresimately

services basic construction agency services RMD461 million

research and development services employee

training services and advertising services and ether

supped services

Telecommunications Netcem Group agrees to leases inter- The rental charges ter the leasing et inter-previncial tiber optic

Famthes Leaairig provincial fiber optic cables within CNC cables international telecommunications resources and ether

Agreement Chinas service regions and cedain telecommunications facilities are based on the annual

20118-20 10 international telecommunications resources depreciation charges of such fiber optic cables resources end

to CNC China and telecommunications tacilities provided that such charges would

net be higher than market retes CNC China shall be responsible

Netcem Group leases certain other ter the on-going maintenance ut such inter-provincial tiber optic

telecommunications facilities reguired by cables and international telecommunications resources

CNC China for its operations

CNC China and Netcem Group shall determine and agree which

pady is to provide maintenance service to the

telecommunications facilities reterred In in Unless ctbervise

agreed by CNC China and Netcem Group such maintenance

service cbsrges would be borne by CNC China It Netcem Group

shall be responsible for maintaining any telecemmunicstiens

tacilities reterred to in CNC Chins shall pay to Netcem Group

the relevant maintenance service charges which shall be agreed

between the parties and determined en cost-plus basis

CNC China and Netcem Group agree to settle rental charges and

service charges due to Netcem Group en guarterly basis

For the year ended 31 December 2008 the total charges paid by

CNC China to Netcem Group amounted to appreximately

DM8306 million
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Agreement Nature of Transactiona Consideration and Terma

itO trileoostier orr

Commuocotioi ii

echoo/oqv

Agreement

2008-200

Pursuant to the agreement

Chloe Netcom System lotegrotloo sod its

subsidiaries provides information arid

communications technology sen2ces to

Netoom Croup sod its subsidiaries other

than Chins Netooro sod its subsidiaries

which ioolode system integration services

sottwsre developmeot servioes operational

msiotenaooe sorvioes ooosultsocy services

equipment leosiog-reloted servioes sod

prodoot sales sod distribution related

servioes sod

Toe chsrgss payable tor the ssrvioes provided ore deterwioed

with reterenoe to the tollowiog prioiog principles sod limits

the goveroweot tixed prioe

where there is oo goveromeot tixed prioo hot griveroweot

goidsoce prioe exists the governmeot grsd5000 prioe or

where there is neither goveroiseot tixed prioe nor

poveromeot guidance price the market price

lo relation to the oharges payable tor the servioss provided that

are to he determined with retereooe to the market prioe

dl Chris Netoom System Integration will also

sodoontrsot servioes soolilary to the

provision ot iotormstioo arid

comonooiostions teohoology sen2ces

namely the system Installation and

configuration services to the subsidiaries

sod drenches ot Netoom Groop in Netoom

Croops southern service region in Chins

it the vsloe ot any single item ot systrrsr installation and

contigurstion services provided by Netcom Croop arid its

subsidiaries to Chins Netoom System Integration and its

subsidiaries exceeds PMBO.3 million the award at such

services will be subject to tender or

It the value ot any single item ot system integration

scdwsre development operational maintenance

consultsrrcy and epuipwent leasing-i-elated services

exceeds PM8O.d eslilon or where the vslue ct sry single

item ct product sales and distrIbution related services

exceeds PMB2 million the award ct such services shall he

sudect to tender

For the year ended 31 Cecemder 2008 the total consideration

received by Chins Netceer System Integration land its

sudsidisries trow Netcem Croup amounted to approximately

PMB1S1 mIllion The total consideration paid by China Netcem

System Integration and its sudsidisries to Netcom Croup ter the

same period was negligible
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The Pre-Merger Unicorn Continuing Transactions

To record the principles governing and the principal terms of the Pre-Merger Unicorn Continuing Transactions on 12

August 2008 CUCL and Netcom Group entered into various framework agreements details of which are summarised

below

Agreement Nature of Transactions Consideration and Terms

Framework

Agreement

for Interconnection

Settlement

The agreement records the principles governing

and the principal terms of the continuing

transactions between CUGL and Netcom Group

whereby the parties agree to interconnect the

network of Netcom Group on the one hand and

that of GUOL on the other and settle charges

received in respect of domestic long distance

voice services within their respective service

regions and international long distance voice

services

Within the local networks when CUCL mobile telephone

customer calls Netcom Group fixed-line customer or when

customers of the two operators make inter-network calls to

various cell centres the telephone operator in the location of the

calling party makes settlement payment to the telephone

operator in the location of the called party at the rate of

RMBO.06 per minute

When CUUL mobile telephone user chooses to use Netcom

Groups domestic or international long distance call services or

when Net corn Group local fixed-line user chooses to use CULl

domestic or international long distance cell services the

telephone operator in the location of the called party makes

settlement payment to the telephone operator in the location of

the calling party at the rate of RMBO.06 per minute

For domestic long distance voice services Internet protocol

voice services from one operator to another end for

international voice services international Internet protocol voice

services from one operator to another the telephone operator in

the location of the ceiling party makes settlement payment to

the telephone operator in the location of the called party at the

rate of RMBO.06 per minute

However for domestic long distance voice services between the

parties where the calling party is unable to choose to use third

party operator the settlement payment rate will be RMB0.34 per

minute if the call is made between 000 and 0700 hours and

RMBO.54 per minute if the call is made between 0700 and

23 hours For calls that need to be transferred to third party

operator the settlement rate for the transfer will be RMB0.03

per minute
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Agreement Nature of Transactions Consideration and Terms

Framework

Agreement for

Telecommunications

Facilities Leasnq

The agreement records the principles governing

and the principal terms of the continuing

transactions between CUCL and Netcom Group

relating to the lease by Netcom Group of certain

international telecommunications resources end

certain other telecommunications facilities to

CUCL

The rental charges for the leasing of inter-provincial fiber optic

cables international telecommunications resources and other

telecommunications facilities are based on the annual

depreciation charges of such fiber optic cables resources and

telecommunications facilities provided that such charges would

not be higher than market rates CUCL shall be responsible for

the on-going maintenance of such infer-provincial fiber optic

cables and international telecommunications resources

Pursuanf to the framework agreement

Netcom Group leases inter-provincial fiber

optic cables within CUCL service regions

and ii certain international

telecommunications resources to CUCL

and

Netcom Group leases certain other

telecommunications facilities required by

CUCL for its operations

GUCL and Netcom Group shall determine and agree which party

is to provide maintenance services to the telecommunications

facilities referred to in Unless otherwise agreed by CUCL and

Netcom Group such maintenance service charges would be

borne by CUCL If Nefcom Group shall be responsible for

maintaining any telecommunications facilities referred fo in

CUCL shall pay to Nefcom Group the relevant maintenance

service charges which shall be agreed between the parties and

determined on cost-plus basis CUCL and Netcom Group

agree to settle the net rental charges and service charges due to

Net com Group on quarterly basis

For fhe year ended December 2008 the total charges paid by

CUCL to Netcom Group for the lease of telecommunications

facilities amounted to approximately RMB83 million
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Amended 2006 Continuing Connected Transactions

Details of the transactions under the Second New Comprehensive Services Agreement are summarized below

including continuing businesses and discontinued businesses for year 2008

Transaction Nature of Transactions Consideration and Terms

Si.ipply of

telephone cerdn

Unicorn Group or its subsidiaries agrees to

provide various kinds ot telephone cards for each

of CUCL and ONC Chinas various networks

Charges for the supply of telephone cards are based on the

actual cost incurred by Unicorn Group or its subsidiaries in

supplying the cards together with rnargin over coat to be

agreed from time to time but in any case not to exceed 20% of

the cost and subject to appropriate volume discounts Under the

Second New Comprehensive Services Agreement prices and

volumes will be reviewed by the parties on an annual basis

For he year ended December 2008 the total charcies paid by

the Group to subsidiary of Unicorn Group for the purchase of

telephone cards pursuant to the Second New Comprehensive

Services Agreement amounted to approximately RMB589 million

121 Provision of

oqrrrhment

prncUrenre7t

services

Unicorn Group agrees to provide comprehensive

procurement services to each of CUCL and CNC

China through its subsidiary or subsidiaries

Unicorn Group agrees to procure foreign and

domestic telecommunications equipment and

other materials required in the operation of each of

CUCL and CNC Chinas various networks and to

provide services on management and consultation

of tenders and agency services

Charges for services are calculated at the rate of

055% of the contract value of those procurement

contracts up to and including US$30 million and 0.35% of

the contract value of those procurement contracts over

US$30 million in the case of imported equipment and

0.25% of the contract value of those procurement

contracts up to and including RMB200 million and 0.15%

of the contract value of those procurement contracts over

RMB200 million in the case of doniestic equipment

For the year ended December 2008 ttie total agency fees

paid by the Group to subsidiary of Unicorn Group for

procurement services of domestic and international

telecommunications equipment and other materials pursuant to

the Second New Comprehensive Services Aqreement amounted

to approximately RMB2O million
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Transaction Nature of Transactions Consideration and Terms

Interconnection

arrangements

CUCL CNC China and Unicorn Group agree to

interconnect various telecommunications networks

of each of CUCL and CNC China and various

telecommunications networks of Unicorn Group

The parties agree to conduct settlement in accordance with the

settlement standard stipulated in the Notice Concerning the Issue

of the Measures on Settlement of Interconnection between Public

Telecommunications Networks and Sharing of Relaying Fees Xin

Bu Dian 2003 No 454 promulgated by the Ministry of

Information and Industry of China on 28 October 2003

The parties further agree that if the settlement method and its

amendment from time to time formulated by the relevant

government authorities in respect of similar settlement between

the networks is more favourable to each of CUCL and CNC China

when compared with the above interconnection settlement

arrangements settlement shall be conducted pursuant to the

more favourable settlement method

For the year ended 31 December 2008 interconnection revenue

and interconnection expense from interconnection conducted by

the Unicorn Group pursuant to the Second New Comprehensive

Services Agreement were approximately RMB28 million and

RMB2 million respectively

Mutual provision of

premises

CUCL CNC China and Unicom Group including

itself or any of its subsidiaries agree to provide to

each other premises including premises

buildings air conditioning electricity power

generating equipment and other relevant auxiliary

facilities belonging to CUCL CNC China or

Unicorn Group including itself or any of its

subsidiaries or leased to CUCL CNC China or

Unicorn Group including itself or any of its

subsidiaries by third parties upon the request of

any of the three parties from time to time

Apart from cases where the premises have been leased from

independent third parties the use fees or the rental amount in

each case is based on the lower of depreciation costs and

market prices for similar premises in that locality However any of

CUCL CNC China or Unicom Group including itself or any of its

subsidiaries may choose to charge each other market prices for

premises rented to the other party or parties

In addition to the rental amount for buildings CUCL CNC China

or Unicorn Group includrng itself or any of its subsidiaries shall

pay as scheduled water and electricity tariffs air conditioning

charges and other expenses actually consumed or used together

with the property management fees for the leased buildings in

accordance with such price or fee standards stipulated by the

pricing authority

In cases where the premises have been leased from an

independent third party the use fees or the rental amount is the

amount that is payable under the head lease Charges for any air-

conditioning and electricity are included in the rental amount In

the case of shared premises the use fees or the rental amount is

split in proportion to the respective areas occupied by the parties

For the year ended 31 December 2008 the total rental charges

for premises leased by Unicorn Group to the Group pursuant to

the Second New Comprehensive Services Agreement amounted

to approximately RMB35 million whereas the total rental charges

for premises leased by the Group to Unicorn Group pursuant to

the Second New Comprehensive Services Agreement amounted

to approximately RMB18 million
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iS Pro vie/err ot

rrrteroationat

tetecorrioerrecoronc

network gatuwov

Unicorn Group agrees to preside international

access to CCCL and GNU Chines international

long distance cat services through its gateways at

Shanghai Cuangzhou and Beijing Unicorn Group

has undertaken not to provide international

telecomwunications network gateway services to

other third padies

Charges tor these services are hosed on the costs of Uniccm

Group to operate and maintain the internalicnal

telecommunications network gatewsy faculties includirg

depreciation which have been included in the management

accounts ot Unicorn Group verified and audited by local auditors

and margin of U% over such costs CCCL and CNC China

agree to retain all the revenue arising
trom the provision ot

international long distance call services for their own benefit

For the
year

ended 31 December 2006 the total charges paid by

the Group to Unicorn Group for the international

telecommunications network gateway services pursuant tcr the

Second New Comprehensive Services Agreement amounted to

approximately PMB7 million

iS Prone/err ot

operator -traced

vatue-addcd

services

Unicorn Group br its subsidiaries agrees to use its

operator-based network eguipment and operators

to provide operator-based comprehensive value-

added services to CCCL and GNU China

including hut are not limited to Unicorn

Assistant and operstor-baaed message services

CUCL and GNU China shall retain 40% ott he revenue generated

from operator-based value-added services provided to the

enlarged groups subscribers and actually received by CCCL and

GNU China and allocate 60% of such revenue to Unicom Croup

for settlement on the condition that such proportion for Uniccnr

Croup shall not be higher than the average propodion for

independenf operator-based value-added telecoramuriicaticna

content providers who provide operator-based value-added

felecommrinicaticrna content to the enlarged group in the same

region

For the year ended 31 December 2006 tIre total reverrue

allocated by the Croup to wholly-owned subsidiary of Unicom

Group in relation to the provision of operator-based value-added

services pursuant to the Second New Cciapiehenaive Services

Agreement amounted to approximately PMS366 iaillion
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Transaction Nature of Transactions Consideration and Terms

Provision of

value-added

telecommunications

services

Unicorn Group or its subsidiaries agrees to

provide the customers of CUCL and CNC China

with various types of value-added

telecommunications services

CUCL and CNC China shall retain portion of the revenue

generated from the value-added services provided to the

enlarged groups subscribers and actually received by CUCL and

CNC China and allocate portion of such revenue to Unicorn

Group for settlement on the condition that such proportion

allocated to Unicom Group shall not be higher than the average

proportion for independent value-added telecommunications

content providers who provide value-added telecommunications

content to the enlarged group in the same region The

percentage of revenue to be allocated to Unicorn Group by each

of CUCL and CNC China will
vary depending on the types of

value-added services provided to the enlarged group

For the year ended 31 December 20U8 the total revenue

allocated by the Group to Unicorn Group in relation to value-

added services for cellular subscribers pursuant to the Second

New Comprehensive Services Agreement amounted to

approximately RMB200 million

Provision of Unicorn Group or its subsidiaries agrees to The service fees payable by CUCL and CNC China to Unicorn

10010/1001 provide certain customer services to CUCL and Group shall be calculated on the basis of the costs of the

customer CNC China including business inquiries tariff customer service plus profit margin of not more than 00/0 The

services inquiries account maintenance complaints costs of the customer services will be the cost per operator seat

handling customer interview and subscriber multiplied by the number of effectively operating operator seats

retention

For the year ended 31 December 2008 the total charges paid by

the Group to Unicom Group for the customer services pursuant

to the Second New Comprehensive Services Agreement

amounted to approximately RMB823 million
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Transaction Nature of Transactions Consideration and Terms

Provision of agency

services

Unicorn Group or its subsidiaries agrees to

provide subscriber development services to CUCL

and CNC China by telephone or through other

channels by utilising its paging network equipment

and operators

The pricing standard for the agency fees is that the agency tees

chargeable to CUCL and CNC China shall not esceed the

average of agency tees chargeable by independent third party

agents providing subscriber development services to CUCL and

CNC China in the same region

Provision of

engineering

design and technical

sen/ices

Unicorn Group or its subsidiaries agrees to

provide engineering design and technical services

to CUCL and CNC China based on their demands

and requirements

For the year ended 31 December 2008 the tcital agency tees

paid by the Group to Unicorn Group pursuant to the Second New

Comprehensive Services Agreement amoonted to approximately

RMB174 million

The pricing standard for the engineering design services shall he

implemented with reference to but shall not biv higher than those

set out in the Standard Fees on Engineering Exploration and

Design Services promulgated and implemented by the original

State Planning Commission and the Ministry of Construction of

China in 2002 and other relevant national standards In addition

such pricing standard shall not be higher than those adopted by

an independent third party providing similar services in the samo

industry in China

96 came UtUcOm Umited Annual Report 2008

The pricing standard for the technical services shall be

implemented with reference to but shall nrit be higher tnan those

set out in the Notice of the State Planning Commission

Concerning Printing and Issuance of the Interim Provisions on the

Consulting Fee for Front End Work of ConstrLiction Projects

promulgated by the State Planning Commission of China in 1999

and other relevant national standards In addition such pricing

standard shall not be higher than those adopted by an

independent third party providing similar svrvices in the same

industry in China

For the year ended 31 December 2008 the total service tees paict

by the Group to Unicorn Group in relation to the provision
of

engineering design and technical services pursuant to rhe Second

New Comprehensive Services Agreement amounted to

approximately RMB29O million

For the year ended 31 December 2008 the amount paid by

Chins Netcom and its subsidiaries to Unicorn Group for

engineering design and technical services was negligible



Report of the Directors

Other continuing connected transactions

Lease of telecommunications networks by CUCL from

Unicom New HorUon

On 16 December 2008 CUCL entered into the Network

Lease Agreement with Unicorn Group Netcom Group and

Unicorn New Horizon pursuant to which Unicorn New

Horizon agrees to lease the telecommunications networks

in the Southern China to CUCL on completion of the

Acquisitions Please refer to the subsection headed

Connected Transactions Acquisition of Certain Assets

and Business and Lease of Network from Parent

Companies above for further details on the Network Lease

Agreement

Please refer to Note 37 to the financial statements for

summary of the related party transactions entered into by

the members of the Group for the year ended 31

December 2008

The Company confirms that it has complied with the

requirements of Chapter 4A of the Listing Rules in relation

to all connected transactions and continuing connected

transactions to which any Group member was party

during 2008

The independent non-executive directors of the Company

confirmed that all continuing connected transactions to

which any Group memberwas party during 2008

were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of

business of the Group

were entered into either on normal commercial

terms or if there are not sufficient comparable

transactions to judge whether they are on normal

commercial terms on terms that are no less

favourable than terms available to or from as

appropriate independent third parties and

were entered into in accordance with the relevant

agreements governing such transactions on terms

that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

Companys shareholders as whole

The Board has received letter from the external auditor of

the Company stating that all the continuing connected

transactions of the Company for 2008

have received the approval of the Board

are in accordance with the pricing policy of the Group

if the transactions involve provision of goods or

services by the Group

have been entered into in accordance with the

relevant agreements governing the connected

transactions and

have not exceeded their respective upper limits if

applicable set for the year ended 31 December 2008

Recent Significant Developments

Merger of Unicorn Group and Netcom Group

In January 2009 the merger the Parent Merger

between Unicorn Group and Netcorn Group became

effective As result of the Parent Merger Unicorn

Group has assumed all the rights and obligations of

Netcom Group and all the assets liabilities and

business of Netcom Group have vested in Unicorn

Group Netcom Group will be deregistered according

to law

Upon completion of the Parent Merger Unicom

Group assumed amongst others all continuing

connected transaction agreements entered into

between the Company or its operating subsidiaries

and Netcom Group the Netcom Group COTs and

all associated rights and obligations thereunder Due
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to the similar nature between certain Netcom

Group COTs and certain continuing connected

transactions entered into between the Company or

its operating subsidiaries with Unicorn Group and its

subsidiaries other than the Company and its

subsidiaries the Unicorn Group COTs the annual

cap applicable to corresponding transactions of

and for each of the two financial years ending 31

December 2009 and 2010 was aggregated Such

aggregated annual caps are subject to the reporting

and announcement requirements but are exempt

from independent shareholders approval

requirements under Chapter 4A of the Listing Rules

For those Netcorn Group CCTs which cannot be

aggregated with any existing Unicorn Group CCTs

the Company will continue to apply the existing

annual caps applicable to such Netcom Group CCTs

for each of the two financial years ending 31

December 2009 and 2010 as if such transactions

were entered into by the Company or its operating

subsidiaries with Unicorn Group and its subsidianes

other than the Company and its subsidiaries

Please refer to the Companys announcements dated

16 November 2008 and January 2009 for further

details of the Parent Merger

3G License

On January 2009 Unicorn Group was granted the

license to operate 3G
digital

cell business with

WCDMA technology by the Ministry of Industry and

Information Technology of the Peoples Republic of

China the MIIT The MIIT also granted approval for

Unicorn Group to license CUCL to operate 3G
digital

cell business with WCDMA technology nationwide in

China

Acquisition of Certain Assets and Business and

Lease of Network from Parent Companies

The acquisition of certain assets and business from

parent companies was completed on 31 January

2009 and the lease of network from parent

companies became effective frorn January 2009

Please refer to subsection headed Connected

Transactions Acquisition of Certain Assets and

Business and Lease of Network from Parent

Companies for details

Corporate Governance Report

Report on the Companys corporate governance is set out

in Corporate Governance Report on pages 22 to 33

Material Legal Proceedings

For the year ended 31 December 2008 the Company had

not been involved in any rnaterial litigation arbitration or

administrative proceedings So far as the Company is

aware of no such litigation arbitration or administrative

proceedings were pending or threatened as at 31

Decernber 2008

Public Float

Based on publicly available information and so far as

Directors are aware the Company has maintained the

specified amount of public float as required by the Hong

Kong Stock Exchange during the year and as at the date of

this annual report

Annual Report 2008
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onat

For the year ended 31 December 2008 the Group made

charitable and other donations in an aggregate amount of

approximately RMB7O.82 million

Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers was the auditor of the Company

for the year ended 31 December 2008 and has audited the

accompanying financial statements resolution will be

submitted by the Board at the forthcoming annual general

meeting of the Company to re-appoint

PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Companys auditors for

the year ending 31 December 2009

By Order of the Board

Chang Xiaobing

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong

31 March 2009
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Notice of

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting

the Meeting of China Unicorn Hong Kong Limited the

Company will be held on 26 May 2009 at 300 p.m at

Ballroom Level Island Shangri-La Hotel Pacific Place

Supreme Court Road Central Hong Kong for the following

purposes

As Ordinary Business

To receive and consider the financial statements and

the Reports of the Directors and of the Independent

Auditor for the year ended 31 December 2008

To declare final dividend for the year ended

31 December 2008

To re-elect Directors and to authorise the Board of

Directors to fix the remuneration of the Directors for

the year ending 31 December 2009

To re-appoint Auditors and to authorise the Board of

Directors to fix their remuneration for the year ending

31 December 2009

And as Special Business to consider and if thought fit to

pass the following resolutions as ordinary resolutions

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

THAT

subject to paragraphs and below the

exercise by the Directors during the Relevant

Period as hereinafter defined of all the powers

of the Company to purchase shares of HKDO.1

each in the capital of the Company including any

form of depositary receipts representing the right

to receive such shares Shares on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited the Stock

Exchange or any other stock exchange

recognised for this purpose by the Securities and

Futures Commission of Hong Kong and the

Stock Exchange in accordance with all

applicable laws including the Code on Share

Repurchases and the Rules Governing the

Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange as

amended from time to time be and is hereby

generally and unconditionally approved

the aggregate nominal amount of Shares which

may be purchased or agreed conditionally or

unconditionally to be purchased by the Directors

pursuant to the approval in paragraph above

shall not exceed 10 per cent of the aggregate

nominal amount of the share capital of the

Company in issue at the date of passing this

Resolution and the said approval shall be limited

accordingly
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for the purpose of this Resolution

THAT

Relevant Period means the period from the

passing of this Resolution until the earlier of

the conclusion of the next annual general

meeting of the Company

ii the expiry of the period within which the

next annual general meeting of the

Company is required by the Companys

articles of association the Articles of

Association or the Companies Ordinance

to be held and

iii the revocation or variation of the authority

given to the Directors under this Resolution

by ordinary resolution of the Companys

shareholders in general meeting

subject to paragraph below the exercise by

the Directors during the Relevant Period as

hereinafter defined of all the powers of the

Company to allot issue and deal with additional

Shares and to make or grant offers agreements

and options which might require the exercise of

such powers be and are hereby generally and

unconditionally approved

the approval in paragraph shall authorise the

Directors during the Relevant Period to make or

grant offers agreements and options which

might require the exercise of such powers after

the end of the Relevant Period

the aggregate nominal amount of share capital

allotted issued and dealt with or agreed

conditionally or unconditionally to be allotted

issued and dealt with whether pursuant to an

option or otherwise by the Directors pursuant to

the approval in paragraph otherwise than

pursuant to Rights Issue as hereinafter

defined ii the exercise of options granted

under any share option scheme adopted by the

Company or iii any scrip dividend or similar

arrangement providing for the allotment of

Shares in lieu of the whole or part of dividend

on Shares in accordance with the Articles of

Association shall not exceed the aggregate of

aa 20 per cent of the aggregate nominal

amount of the share capital of the Company in

issue at the date of passing this Resolution plus

bb if the Directors are so authorized by

separate ordinary resolution of the shareholders

of the Company the aggregate nominal amount

of share capital of the Company repurchased by

the Company subsequent to the passing of this

Resolution up to maximum amount equivalent

to 10 per cent of the aggregate nominal amount

of the share capital of the Company in issue at

the date of passing this Resolution and the said

approval shall be limited accordingly and

for the purpose of this Resolution

Relevant Period means the period from the

passing of this Resolution until the earlier of

the conclusion of the next annual general

meeting of the Company

ii the expiry of the period within which the

next annual general meeting of the

Company is required by the Articles of

Association or the Companies Ordinance to

be held and
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iii
the revocation or variation of the authority

given to the Directors under this Resolution

by ordinary resolution of the Companys

shareholders in general meeting and

Rights Issue means an offer of shares open

for period fixed by the Directors to holders of

Shares on the register of members on fixed

record date in proportion to their then holdings

of such Shares on such record date subject to

such exclusion or other arrangements as the

Directors may deem necessary or expedient in

relation to fractional entitlements or having

regard to any legal or practical restrictions or

obligations under the laws of or the

requirements of any recognised regulatory body

or any stock exchange in any territory applicable

to the Company and an offer allotment or issue

of shares by way of rights shall be construed

accordingly

THAT the Directors be and are hereby authorized to

exercise the powers of the Company referred to in

paragraph of Resolution in respect of the share

capital of the Company referred to in sub-paragraph

bb of paragraph of such resolution

THAT the amendments to the rules of the Share

Option Scheme the Pre-Global Offering Share Option

Scheme and the Special Purpose Unicom Share

Option Scheme of the Company the Share Option

Schemes referred to in the circular to shareholders

of the Company dated 15 April 2009 the Circular

and contained in the amended Share Option

Schemes copy of each of which is available for

inspection as detailed in the Circular and produced to

the Meeting be approved ratified and confirmed

modifications of those amendments

he Share Option Schemes as the

Company may consider necessary to

nt the requirements of the Stock

that the Directors of the Company be

t02 Pnu Repo 2008

authorized to adopt the amendments to the rules of

the Share Option Schemes and do all acts and things

necessary to carry such amendments and

modifications if any into effect

THAT the amendments to certain terms of options

granted under the Share Option Schemes referred to

in the Circular be approved ratified and confirmed

subject to such modifications of those amendments

to the terms of options granted under the Share

Option Schemes as the Directors of the Company

may consider necessary to take into account the

requirements of the Stock Exchange and that the

Directors of the Company be authorised to adopt the

amendments to the terms of options granted under

the Share Option Schemes and do all acts and things

necessary to carry such amendments and

modifications if any into effect

By Order of the Board of

China Unicorn Hong Kong Lirnited

Chu Ka Vee

Company Secretary

Hong Kong 15 April2009

Notes

Any member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is

entitled to appoint one or not exceeding two proxies to

attend and on poll vote in his stead proxy need not be

member of the Company

In order to be valid form of proxy together with the power

of attorney or other authority if any under which it is signed

or notarially
codified copy thereof must be deposited at

the Companys registered office at 75th Floor The Center

99 Oueens Road Central Hong Kong at least 48 hours

before the time for holding the Meeting Completion and

return of form of proxy will not preclude member from

attending and voting in person if he is subsequently able to

be present



Notice of Annual General Meeting

The Directors have recommended final dividend for the

year ended 31 December 2008 of RMBO.20 per share and

subject to the passing of the Resolution above the

dividend is expected to be paid in Hong Kong dollars on or

about 18 June 2009 to those shareholders whose names

appear on the Companys register of shareholders on 26

May 2009

The Register of the shareholders will be closed from 22 May

2009 to 26 May 2009 both days inclusive during which

dates no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected

In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend all

transfers accompanied by the relevant certificates must be

lodged with the Companys Share Registrar Hong Kong

Registrars Limited at Shops 1712-1716 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre 183 Queens Road East Hong Kong no

later than 430 p.m on 21 May 2009

In relation to the Ordinary Resolution set out in item of the

Notice the Drectors wish to state that they will exercise the

powers conferred thereby to repurchase Shares in

circumstances which they deem appropriate or for the

benefit of the shareholders The Explanatory Statement

containing the information necessary to enable the

shareholders to make an informed decision on whether to

vote for or against the resolution to approve the repurchase

by the Company of its own Shares as required by the Listing

Rules will be set out in separate circular from the

Company to be enclosed with the 2008 annual report

The votes to be taken at the Meeting will be taken by poll

the results of which will be announced after the Meeting

China Unicorn Hong Kong Limited Annual Report 2008 03
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2008

All amounts in Renminbi AMB millions

As at 31 December

2007

As restated

Note 2008 Note 22

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property plant and equipment 283912 276110

Lease prepayments 7799 8063

Goodwill 2771 3144

Deferred income tax assets 5326 2514

Other assets 10 8996 12081

308804 301912

Current assets

Inventories and consumables 12 1171 2815

Accounts receivable net 13 8587 11014

Prepayments and other current assets 14 2427 4314

Amounts due from ultimate holding company 37.1 15

Amounts due from related parties 37.1 439 502

Amounts due from domestic carriers 37.2 865 816

Proceeds receivable for the disposal of the CDMA Business 33 13140

Short-term bank deposits 15 238 735

Cash and cash equivalents 16 9238 11979

36120 32175

Total assets 344924 334087

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to

equity holders of the Company

Sharecapital 17 2329 1437

Share premium 17 166784 64320

Reserves 18 23183 76275

Retained profits

Proposed final dividend 34 4754 6427

Others 56026 30053

206710 178512

Minority interest in equity

Total equity 206710 178516
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at 31 December 2008

All amounts in Renminbi çRMB millions

As at 31 December

2007

As restated

Note 2008 Note 2.2

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Long-term bank loans 19 997 16086

Corporate bonds 20 7000 2000

Deferred income tax liabilities 16 17

Deferred revenue 3383 5246

Amounts due to related parties 37.1 6169

Other obligations 22 1599 2007

12995 31525

Current liabilities

Payables and accrued liabilities 23 65687 49312

Taxes payable 11304 4990

Amounts due to ultimate holding company 37.1 821

Amounts due to related parties 37.1 2727 5656

Amounts due to domestic carriers 37.2 538 510

Payables in relation to the disposal of the CDMA Business 37.2 4232

Dividend payable 149

Short-term commercial paper 24 10000 20000

Short-term bank loans 25 10780 11850

Current portion of long-term bank loans 19 1216 7411

Current portion of obligations under finance leases 103

Current portion of deferred revenue 2200 3103

Current portion of other obligations 22 3012 3381

Advances from customers 13374 16909

125219 124046

Total liabilities 138214 155571

Total equity and liabilities 344924 334087

Net current liabilities 89099 91871

The notes on pages 118 to 225 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2009 and signed on behalf of the Board by

106 ChIna Unicorn HongKong Umited Annual Report 2008

Total assets less current liabilities 219705 210041

Chang Xiaobing

Director

Tong Jilu

Director



Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2008

All amounts in RMB millions

As at 31 December

2007

As restated

Note 2008 Note 2.2

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 1a 159761 55938

Property plant and equipment 40 37

Long-term loans to subsidiaries 11b 8729

159801 64704

Current assets

Prepayments and other current assets 14 12

Amounts due from subsidiary 11c 3293 2847

Dividend receivable 5254 2249

Current portion of long-term loans to subsidiaries 11b 6800 2247

Short-term bank deposits 15 122 636

Cash and cash equivalents 16 330 494

15806 8485

Total assets 175607 73189

EQUITY

Capital and reserve attributable to

equity holders of the Company

Share capital 17 2329 1437

Share premium 17 166784 64320

Reserves 18 1158 363

Retained profits

Proposed final dividend 34 4754 2727

Others 329 614

Total equity 175354 69461
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Balance Sheet

As at 31 December 2008

All amounts in RMB millions

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Long-term bank loans

Current liabilities

Payables and accrued liabilities

Amounts due to subsidiaries

Dividend payable

Current portion of long-term bank loans
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Note

As at 31 December

2007

As restated

2008 Note 2.2

19

23

11c

34

19

1461

1461

104 58

18

149

2191

253 2267

253 3728
Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

175607 73189

15553 6218

The notes on pages 118 to 225 are an integral part of this financial statement

Approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2009 and signed on behalf of the Board by

173354 70922

Chang Xiaobing

Director

Tong Jilu

Director



Consolidated Income Statement
For the Year Ended 31 December 2008

All amounts in RMB miHions except per share data

Year ended 31 December

2007

As restated

2008 Note 2.2

Discontinued operations

Profit from discontinued operations

Gain on the disposal of discontinued operations

Profit for the year

Attributable to

Equity holders of the Company

Minority interest

Proposed final dividend

Dividend paid during the year

26 148906 150687

12011 11214

47678 47369

28 16577 16022

31 18902 17540

29 33582 32776

30 2411 3231

Note

Continuing operations

Revenue

Interconnection charges

Depreciation and amortisation

Network operations and support expenses

Employee benefit expenses

Other operating expenses

Finance costs

Interest income

Impairment loss on property plant and equipment

Realised loss on changes in fair value of derivative

component of the convertible bonds

Other income net

Profit from continuing operations before income tax

Income tax expenses

Profit from continuing operations

239 285

11837

569

1994 4990

8141 27241

1801 7083

6340 20158

21

27

33

33

34

34

1438

26135

654

626

33913 21438

33912 21437

33913 21438

4754 6427

The notes on pages 118 to 225 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

6231 5885
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Consolidated Income Statement

For the Year Ended 31 December 2008

All amounts in RMB mit ions except per share data

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the

equity holders of the Company during the year

Basic earnings per share RMB

Diluted earnings per share RMB

Earnings per share for profit from continuing

operations attributable to the equity holders

of the Company during the year

Basic earnings per share RMB

Diluted earnings per share RMB

Earnings per share for profit from discontinued

operations attributable to the equity holders

of the Company during the year

Basic earnings per share RMB

Diluted earnings per share RMB

The notes on pages 118 to 225 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Note

Year ended 31 December

2007

As restated

2008 Note 2.2

35 1.43 0.93

35

35

35

35

1.42 0.92

0.27 0.87

0.27 0.86

1.16 0.06

35 1.15 0.06



CrrnsoHdated Statement of Changes In Equity
For the Year Ended 31 December 2008

All amounts in RMB millions

The Group

Employee

sharebased

Share Share compensation Revaluahon Minority

capital premium reserve reserve Total interest

BaVnce at
January

2007 As previously repohed

Change of accounting policy on measurement

of propey plant and equipment Note 2.2

Adjusted for 2008 Business Combioation

under common control Nato

Balance all January 2007 As restated

Effeot ot
charrge

of
sfatutory

income tax

rote on deterred tao Note 9a

Cur
ency

translation differences

Net income and expense recognised directly in equity

Prof it for the
year

from
continuing operations

Prvfrt for the
year

tram discontrnued operations

Total recognised income and expense for 2007

Transfer to retained
earnings

in

respect
at

depreciat on differences on revalued assets

Transfer to retaned
earnings

in

respect

of revaluation reseme relating to disposal of

Guangdong and Shanghai Branches Note 33

Consideratiorr for purchase of business and

entity under common control Note

Disfibutions hue to business combinations of

errtity
and business under common control Note

Transfer of
profits

to other reseme due to purchase
of

Guizhou Business under common control Note

Capitalisation of retained profits

Transfer to statutory reseme

Appropriatior to statutory reseme Note 18

Employee share option scheme

-Value of en ployee semices

-Issuance of shares upon exercfse of vprivns Note 32

Con orsion of conuedible bonds

Dividends relating to 2306 Note 34

Balance at December 2007 As restated

Statutory

reserve

f344 53223

Other Retained

reserve profits

Total

equity

264 272 3019 453 21286 79861 79864

782 790 790

125 2886 lf8f1 40663 t8709 74194 74194

1344 53223 389 3150 14830 4flfB 39213 153265 153268

135 664 529 529

15 15 15

135 679 544 544

20t58 20158 20158

1279 1279 1280

35 679 21437 20893 20894

2103 104 2207

69 20 49

1179 1179 1179

101 48 149 149

95 95

17295 17295

1517 1517

1586 1586

216 216 26

366 89 250 532 532

88 10731 10819 10.819

5885 5885 5.8851

1437 64320 516 1113 17933 56713 36480 178512 178516
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity

For the Year Ended 31 December 2008

All amounts in RMB millions

The Group

Employee

share-based

Share Share compensation Revaluation Statutory Other Retained Minority Total

capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interest equity

Balance at January
2008 As previously repodedl 1437 64320 363 302 3737 433 27488 97214 97218

Change
of

accounting pohcy on measurement of

propedy plant and equipment Note 2.2 86 668 754 754

Adiusted
for 2008 Business Combination under

common control Note 153 897 14196 57146 9660 82052 82052

Balance at January 2008 lAs restated 1437 64320 516 1113 17933 56713 36480 178512 178516

Currency
translation differences 29 29 29

Net income and
expense recognised directly rv euuity 29 29 29

Profit for rhe year from continuing operations 6340 6340 6340

Protif for the
year

from discontinued
operations

27572 27572 27573

Total recognised income ano
expense

for 2008 29 33912 33883 33884

Transter to retained
earnings

in

respect of depreciation

differences on reualueo assets 977 70 1047

Transfer to statutory reserve
886 886

Appropriation to statutory reserves Note 18 3542 3542

Employee
share

option
scheme

-Valueofemployeeservices
96 96 96

-Issuance of shares upon exercise of
options Note 32

252 72 267 450 450

Issuance of shares tot 2008 Business Combination

undercommon control Note 889 102212 103101

Transfer out upon
the disposal of the CDMA business

Dividends relating to 2007 iNote 34 6231 6231 6231

Balance at 21 December2008 2329 166784 540 136 22361 46220 60780 206710 206710

The notes on pages 118 to 225 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Statement of Changes In Equity
For the Year Ended 31 Decamber 2008

All amounts in RMB millions

The Company

Employee

share-based

Share Share compensation

capital premium reserve

Balance at January 2007 As previously reported

Effect on the adoption of IFRIC/HKIFRIC

lnt 11Note2.2

Balance at January 2007 As restated

Profit for the year

Employee share option scheme

-Value of employee services

-Issuance of shares upon exercise

of options Note 32

Conversion of convertible bonds

Dividends relating to 2006 Note 34

Balance at 31 December 2007 As restated

Balance at January 2008 As previously reported

Effect on the adoption of IFRIC/HKIFRIC

Int 11Note2.2

Balance at January 2008 As restated

Issuance of shares and share options in exchange

for China Netcoms shares and

share options Note

Profit for the year

Employee share option scheme

-Value of employee services

-Issuance of shares upon exercise

of options Note 32

Dividends relating to 2007 Note 34

Balance at 31 December 2008 2329 166784 1158 5083 175354

The notes on pages 118 to 225 are an integral part of this financial statement

Retained

profits

1344 53223 264 2368

Total

equity

57199

350350

1344 53223 264 2718 57549

2908 2908

157 157

366 58 313

88 10731 10819

2285 2285

1437 64320 363 3341 69461

1437 64320 363 2840 68960

501 501

1437 64320 363 3341 69461

889 102212 761 103862

4474 4474

252 39

73 73

2732

216

2732
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Consolidated Cash flow Stateined
For the Year Ended 31 December 2008

All amounts in RMB millions

Year ended 31 December

2007

As restated

Note 2008 Note 22

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations of continuing operations 67204 76608

Interest received 246 287

Interest paid 3011 3511

Income tax paid 7765 8128

Net cash inflow from operating activities of continuing operations 56674 65256

Net cash inflow from operating activities of discontinued operations 656 1225

Net cash inflow from operating activities 57330 66481

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property plant and equipment 47747 41798

Proceeds from disposal of property plant and equipment and other assets 252 145

Consideration for purchase of business and entities under common control 5880 3139

Decrease/increase in short-term bank deposits 497 434

Purchase of other assets 1612 2415

Net cash outflow from investing activities of continuing operations 54490 47641

Net cash inflow from investing activities of discontinued operations 29489 3078

Net cash outflow from investing activities 25001 44563

The notes on pages 118 to 225 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the Year Ended 31 December 2008

All amounts in RMB millions

Year ended 31 December

2007

As restated

Note 2008 Note 2.2

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from exercise of share options 450 532

Proceeds from short-term commercial paper 10000 20000

Proceeds from short-term bank loans 50714 63837

Proceeds from long-term bank loans 2888 2559

Proceeds from issuance of corporate bonds 5000 2000

Proceeds from related party loans 2249

Repayment of short-term commercial paper 20000 16646

Repayment of short-term bank loans 51 784 82965

Repayment of long-term bank loans 23832 13416

Repayment of capital element of finance lease payments 101 890

Repayment of related party loans 2222

Payment of prior years distribution 101 1180

Dividends paid to equity holders 34 6082 5885

Net cash outflow from financing activities of continuing operations 35070 29805

Net cash outflow from financing activities of discontinued operations

Net cash outflow from financing activities 35070 29805

Net cash outflow from continuing operations 32886 12190

Net cash inflow from discontinued operations 33 30145 4303

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 2741 7887

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 11979 19866

Cash and cash equivalents end of year
16 9238 11979

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents

Cash balances

Bank balances 9232 11971

9238 11979

The notes on pages 118 to 225 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the Year Ended 31 December 2008

All amounts in RMB millions

The reconciliation of profit from continuing operations before income tax to cash generated from operations of continuing

operations is as follows

Year ended 31 December

2007

As restated

2008 Note 2.2

Profit from continuing operations before income tax 8141 27241

Adjustments for

Depreciation and amortisation 47678 47369

Interest income 239 285

Finance costs 2135 2922

Loss on disposal of property plant and equipment and other assets 140

Gain on non-monetary assets exchange 1305 386

Share-based compensation costs 84 170

Provision for doubtful debts 2900 2200

Impairment loss on property plant and equipment 11837

Realised loss on changes in fair value of

derivative component of the convertible bonds 569

Changes in working capital

Increase in accounts receivable 1683 2400

Increase/decrease in inventories 109 16

Decrease in other assets 833 1619

Decrease/increase in prepayments and other current assets 669 1028

Decrease/increase in amounts due from related parties 63 24
lncrease/decrease in amounts due from domestic carriers 49 28

Decrease/increase in payables and accrued liabilities 991 2376

Increase in advances from customers 1159 407

Decrease in deferred revenue 2987 2899

Decrease in amounts due to ultimate holding company 735 369

Decrease in amounts due to related parties 995 797

lncrease/decrease in amounts due to domestic carriers 796 261

Cash generated from operations of continuing operations 67204 76608
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the Year Ended 31 December 2008

All amounts in RMB millions

Major non-cash transactions

Payables to equipment suppliers for construction-in-progress during 2008 increased by approximately RMB19.7

billion 2007 approximately RMB1 .3 billion

ii On 20 August 2007 convertible bonds of USD1 billion outstanding as 31 December 2006 were fully converted into

899745075 ordinary shares of HKDO.1 each of the Company

iii On 15 October 2008 the Company issued 10102389377 ordinary shares of HKDO 10 each at price of HKD1 1.60

per share with fair value or total price of approximately RMB1O3.1 billion equivalent to approximately HKD117.2

billion in exchange for the entire issued share capital of China Netcom Group Corporation Hong Kong Limited

Please refer to Note and Note 17 for details

iv For the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 the Group replaced copper cables in some fixed-line network

infrastructure with optical fibers and related equipment Some of this replacement was done through non-monetary

assets exchanges with suppliers through which optical fibers and related equipment were received in exchange for

the Groups own copper cables The cost of the assets received was recorded at the fair value of the assets surrendered

In 2008 the net book value and fair value of copper cables surrendered were RMB8O5 million 2007 RMB1 82

million and RMB21 10 million 2007 RMB568 million respectively gain on the non-monetary assets exchange of

RMB1 305 million 2007 RMB386 million was recognised in the income statement for the year ended 31 December

2008
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statemeits

All amounts in RMB millions unless otherwise stated

ORGAN ISATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

China Unicom Hong Kong Limited the Company was incorporated as limited liability company in the Hong Kong

Special Administrative Region Hong Kong the Peoples Republic of China the PRC on February 2000 On 15

October 2008 the name of the Company was changed from China Unicorn Limited to China

Unicom Hong Kong Limited Prior to the disposal of the CDMA cellular business

to China Telecom Corporation Limited China Telecom and the merger with China Netcom Group Corporation Hong

Kong Limited China Netcom on October 2008 and 15 October 2008 respectively as described below the principal

activities of the Company are investment holding and the Companys subsidiaries were principally engaged in the provision

of GSM and CDMA cellular long distance data and Internet services in the PRC Upon the merger with China Netcom the

Companys subsidiaries also provide fixed-line voice and value-added services broadband and other Internet-related

services information communications technology services business and data communications services and advertising

and media services hereinafter collectively referred to as the Fixed-line business in the PRC The GSM and CDMA

businesses are hereinafter collectively referred to as the Cellular Business The Company and its subsidiaries are hereinafter

referred to as the Group The address of its registered office is 75th Floor The Center 99 Queens Road Central Hong

Kong

The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited SEHK on 22 June 2000 and the

American Depositary Shares ADS of the Company were listed on the New York Stock Exchange on 21 June 2000

The immediate holding company of the Company is China Unicorn BVI Limited Unicorn BVI The majority of the equity

interest in Unicom BVI is owned by China United Telecommunications Corporation Limited Share Company joint

stock company incorporated in the PRC on 31 December 2001 with its shares listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange

on October 2002 The majority of the equity interest in Share Company is owned by China United Network

Communications Group Company Limited formerly known as China United Telecommunications Corporation state-

owned enterprise established in the PRC hereinafter referred to as Unicom Group In connection with the merger

between the Company and China Netcom Unicorn BVI and China Netcorn Group Corporation BVI Limited Netcom

BVI the immediate holding company of China Netcom entered into concert party agreement on 22 September 2008

pursuant to which each of Unicorn BVI and Netcom BVI will become persons acting in concert under the Hong Kong

Takeovers Code in respect of their aggregate shareholding in the Company and agree amongst others to cooperate

actively to obtain or consolidate control ot the Company following completion of the merger The directors of the Company

consider Unicom Group to be the ultimate holding company of the Company

On 15 November 2008 the Company was notified by its substantial shareholders Unicom BVI and Netcom BVI that their

respective parent companies namely Unicorn Group and China Network Communications Group Corporation state-

owned enterprise established in the PRC the parent company of Netcom BVI hereinafter referred to as Netcom Group

have agreed to undertake merger the Parent Merger On January 2009 the Company was notified by its substantial

shareholders that the Parent Merger through the absorption of Netcom Group by Unicorn Group has been approved by

the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council SASAC and has become

effective As result of the Parent Merger Unicom Group has assumed all the rights and obligations of Netcom Group all

the assets liabilities and business of Netcom Group including the connected transaction agreements with the Group

vested in Unicom Group Netcom Group will be deregistered and Unicorn Group remains the ultimate holding company of

the Company
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

All amounts in RMB millions unless otherwise stated

ORGANISATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES Continued

Disposal of the Groups CDMA business to China Telecom

On June 2008 the Company China United Network Communications Corporation Limited CUCL formerly known as

China Unicorn Corporation Limited wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and China Telecom entered into

CDMA business framework agreement the Framework Agreement which set out the terms and conditions on which

the Company CUCL and China Telecom would proceed with the CDMA business disposal whereby CUCL will sell and

China Telecom would purchase the CDMA business operated by the Group The CDMA business was defined in the

Framework Agreement to include the COMA mobile telecommunication operations and its related assets including certain

jointly
used CDMA base stations to be agreed between CUCL and China Telecom and liabilities owned and operated by

CUCL Pursuant to the Framework Agreement the consideration for the proposed CDMA business disposal was RMB43.8

billion and was payable by China Telecom to the Group in cash in three installments The consideration was subject to

price adjustment mechanism based on the COMA service revenue generated by the Group for the six months ended 30

June 2007 and 30 June 2008 Based on the COMA service revenue generated by the Group for the six months ended 30

June 2007 and 30 June 2008 and as agreed by the Company and China Telecom there was no subsequent adjustment

to the consideration as result of the price adjustment mechanism The completion of the proposed COMA business

disposal was subject to various conditions as set forth in the Framework Agreement

On 27 July 2008 the Company CUCL and China Telecom further entered into COMA business disposal agreement

the Disposal Agreement Pursuant to the Oisposal Agreement the Company and CUCL agreed to sell and China

Telecom agreed to purchase the entire COMA business which is owned and operated by CUCL together with the

assets of CUCL which are relevant to the COMA operations and the rights and liabilities of CUCL relating to its COMA

subscribers immediately prior to the completion date ii the entire equity interest in China Unicorn Macau Company

Limited Unicorn Macau subsidiary of the Company and iii 99.5% of the equity interest in Unicorn Huasheng

Telecommunications Technology Company Limited Unicorn Huasheng subsidiary of CUCL representing the entire

equity interest in Unicorn Huasheng held by CUCL collectively referred to as the COMA Business The scope of the

CDMA Business was set out in the Disposal Agreement and the detailed items were confirrned by the Company CUCL

and China Telecom in final list of the detailed items of the COMA Business

An extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders of the Company at which the above Oisposal Agreement was

approved was held on 16 September 2008 As all of the conditions of the COMA Business disposal as specified in the

Disposal Agreement were satisfied or were deemed to have been satisfied the COMA Business disposal was completed

on October 2008 and the Group recorded gain on disposal of approximately RMB26.1 billion for the year ended 31

December 2008 For details please refer to Note 33

Merger between the Company and China Netcom by way of scheme of arrangement of China Netcom

hereinafter referred to as the 2008 Business Combination

On June 2008 the Company and China Netcom jointly announced that the Company had formally presented share

proposal an ADS proposal and an option proposal to the board of directors of China Netcom and requested China

Netcorns board of directors to put forward the proposals to the shareholders of China Netcom to consider merger of the

Company and China Netcom Proposed Merger by way of scheme of arrangement of China Netcom the Scheme

under Section 166 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

All amounts in RMB millions unless otherwise stated

ORGANISATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES Continued

Merger between the Company and China Netcom by way of scheme of arrangement of China Netcom

hereinafter referred to as the 2008 Business Combination Continued

Pursuant to the aforementioned share proposal and ADS proposal each holder of China Netcom share or China

Netcom ADS was entitled to receive .508 new ordinary shares or 3.016 new ADSs of the Company respectively for

every China Netcom share and China Netcom ADS held Under the option proposal the Company would establish new

option plan and each holder of China Netcom option would be entitled to receive new options of the Company to acquire

the Companys shares in exchange for their outstanding China Netcom options whether vested or not The grant of these

options would be based on formula that valued the new options of the Company received by holder of China Netcom

options equivalent to the see-through price of that holders outstanding China Netcorn options

An extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders of the Company at which the resolutions described above was

approved was held on 16 September 2008 and the Scheme was sanctioned by the Hong Kong High Court on 14 October

2008 The consideration for the 2008 Business Combination was approximately HKD1 17.2 billion which was satisfied by

the issuance of 10102389377 ordinary shares of HKDO.10 each of the Company As all of the conditions of the above

proposals and the Scheme as specified in the Scheme document had been satisfied the Scheme became effective on 15

October 2008

Incorporation of Unicorn Huakai Telecommunications Company Limited Unicorn Huakai

On 19 August 2008 CUCL established wholly-owned subsidiary Unicorn Huakai which is principally engaged in sales

of handsets and telecommunications equipment and provision of technical services The paid-in capital of Unicorn Huakai

is RMB500 million

On 26 December 2008 the name of Unicom Huakai was changed to Unicom Vsens Telecommunications Company

Limited

Incorporation of China Unicorn Mobile Network Company Limited Unicom Mobile Network

On 31 December 2008 CUCL established wholly-owned subsidiary Unicorn Mobile Network which is principally engaged

in construction and maintenance of the Groups network The paid-in capital of Unicorn Mobile Network is RMB500

million

Proposed merger between CUCL and China Netcom Group Company Limited wholly-owned foreign

enterprise established in the PRC hereinafter referred to as CNC China wholly-owned subsidiary of China

Netcom

On 15 October 2008 as part of the Companys integration with China Netcorn the Company entered into an agreement

with three of its wholly-owned subsidiaries namely China Netcom ii CUCL and iii
CNC China pursuant to which

CUCL would merge with and absorb CNC China The merged company would retain the name of China United Network

Communications Corporation Limited and would remain wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company The merger between

CUCL and CNC China became effective on January 2009
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Notes to the Consolidated FinancIal Statements

All amounts in RMB millions unless otherwise stated

ORGAN ISATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES Continued

2007 disposal and business combination activities

Disposal of the fixed-line telecommunications operations in Guangdong province and Shanghai

municipality branches Guangdong and Shanghai Branches

On 15 January 2007 the Companys wholly-owned subsidiary CNC China entered into an assets transfer agreement

with Netcom Group Pursuant to the agreement CNC China agreed to sell its assets and liabilities in relation to its

fixed-line telecommunications operations in Guangdong and Shanghai Branches in the PRC to Netcom Group for

cash consideration of RMB3.5 billion The disposal was completed on 28 February 2007 upon the approval granted

from the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology MIIT the former Ministry of Information Industry has been

consolidated into the MIIT

Purchase of assets and business of Guizhou branch of Unicorn Group

Pursuant to an asset transfer agreement entered between CUCL and Unicom Group on 16 November 2007 CUCL

agreed to purchase the GSM cellular telecommunication assets and business and the CDMA cellular

telecommunication business operated through leasing of COMA network capacity from Unicorn New Horizon

Mobile Telecommunications Company Limited Unicorn New Horizon wholly-owned subsidiary of Unicorn Group

of Guizhou branch of Unicorn Group Guizhou Business at cash consideration of RMB88O million In addition

pursuant to the asset transfer agreement the profit or loss of the Guizhou Business for the period from 31 December

2006 to 31 December 2007 i.e the effective date of the acquisition was transferred to Unicorn Group

Acquisition of Beijing Telecommunications Planning and Designing Institute Corporation Limited Beijing

Telecom PD Institute

On December 2007 China Netcom Group System Integration Umited Corporation System Integration Corporation

wholly-owned subsidiary of CNC China entered into an equity interest transfer agreement with China Netcorn

Group Beijing Communications Corporation Beijing Communications Corporation subsidiary of Netcorn Group

pursuant to which System Integration Corporation agreed to acquire the entire equity interest of Beijing Telecom PD
Institute from Beijing Communications Corporation for total consideration of RMB299 million The acquisition was

completed on 31 December 2007
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

All amounts in RMB millions unless otherwise stated

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated

2.1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards IFRSs and Statement of Compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting

Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board IASB which collective term includes all applicable

individual International Financial Reporting Standards International Accounting Standards lASs and Interpretations

issUed by the IASB Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards HKFRS5 which collective term includes all applicable

individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards Hong Kong Accounting Standards HKASs and Interpretations

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants HKICPA These financial statements also comply

with HKFRSs which are consistent with IFRSs as well as the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing

the Listing of Securities on the SEHK and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

Although HKFRSs have been fully converged with IFRSs in all material respects since January 2005 these financial

statements are the first published financial statements in which the Group makes an explicit and unreserved statement

of compliance with IFRSs Therefore in preparing these financial statements management has given due consideration

to the requirements of IFRS First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards As the Groups

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008 are the first annual financial statements that comply with

IFRSs and HKFRSs the Group is required to establish its IFRS accounting policies for the year ended 31 December

2008 and except for the standard described below apply these retrospectively to determine the IFRS opening

balance sheet at its date of transition January 2007 being the beginning of the earliest period for which the Group

presents full comparative information in these financial statements

With due regard to the Groups accounting policies in previous periods and the requirements of IFRS management

has elected to apply the optional exemption to not apply IFRS Business Combinations retrospectively to past

business combinations that occurred prior to January 2005 In addition the Group has elected to apply IFRS

Share-based Payment to equity instruments that were granted after November 2002 that vested on or after

January 2005 As result the conversion from HKFRSs to IFRSs did not result in any impact on the Groups

accounts As such the Group makes an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with IFRSs in the first IFRS

financial statements which included amounts arising from business combinations in prior years in the comparatives

Accordingly these financial statements continue to include statement of compliance with HKFRSs as well as

including for the first time statement of compliance with IFRSs without adjustment to the Groups and the Companys

financial position the Groups financial performance or cash flows either at the date of transition to IFRSs or at the

end of latest period presented in accordance with HKFRSs

The comparative amounts of the consolidated financial statements were restated in accordance with HKFRSs For

details please refer to Note 2.2 Under IFRSs there is no restatement as the same accounting policies are applied to

the opening balance sheet and throughout all periods presented
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

All amounts in RMB millions unless otherwise stated

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.2 Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified by the

revaluation of property plant and equipment other than buildings and telecommunications equipment of the GSM

business and financial assets and financial liabilities including derivative financial instruments at fair value through

profit or loss The consolidated financial statements prepared by the PRO subsidiaries for PRO statutory reporting

purposes are based on the Chinese Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises CAS issued by the Ministry of

Finance which became effective from January 2007 with certain transitional provisions There are certain differences

between the Groups IFRS/HKFRS financial statements and PRO statutory financial statements The principal

adjustments made to the PRO statutory financial statements to conform to IFRS/HKFRS include the following

reversal of the revaluation surplus or deficit and related depreciation and amortisation charges arising from the

revaluation of assets mainly property plant and equipment performed by independent valuers for the purpose

of reporting to the relevant PRO government authorities prior to January 2007

recognition of the revaluation surplus or deficit and related depreciation charges for the purpose of reporting the

property plant and equipment other than buildings and telecommunications equipment of the GSM business

at revalued amounts under IFRS/HKFRS

recognition of goodwill associated with the acquisition of certain subsidiaries prior to 2005

capitalisation of the direct costs associated with the acquisition of subsidiaries prior to 2005

additional capitalisation of borrowing costs prior to the adoption of OAS on January 2007

capitalisation and amortisation of upfront non-refundable revenue and the related direct incremental costs for

activating cellular subscribers prior to the adoption of CAS on January 2007 and

adjustments for deferred taxation in relation to IFRS/HKFRS adjustments
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

All amounts in RMB millions unless otherwise stated

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.2 Basis of Preparation Continued

Discontinued Operations

On June 2008 the Company CUOL and China Telecom entered into the Framework Agreement to dispose of the

assets and liabilities in relation to the CDMA business and the disposal was completed on October 2008 In

accordance with IFRS/HKFRS Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations issued by the

IASB/HKICPA IFRS/HKFRS the results and cash flows of the operations of the CDMA business segment of the

Group have been presented as discontinued operations in the consolidated income statement and cash flow statement

of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2008 and the 2007 comparative figures for the consolidated income

statement and cash flow statement were also reclassified as discontinued operations accordingly The difference

between the consideration received and receivable and the book value of net assets disposed of is recorded as

Gain on the disposal of discontinued operations in the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31

December 2008

On 15 January 2007 ONC China entered into an assets transfer agreement with Netcom Group to dispose of the

assets and liabilities in relation to the telecommunications operations of its Guangdong and Shanghai Branches in the

PRO and the disposal was completed on 28 February 2007 In accordance with IFRS/HKFRS the results and cash

flows of the operations of the Guangdong and Shanghai Branches have been presented as discontinued operations

in the consolidated income statement and cash flow statement of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2007

For details please refer to Note 33

Business Combination of Entities and Business under Common Control

The merger between the Company and China Netcom is considered to be business combination of entities under

common control as their respective ultimate holding companies namely Unicom Group and Netcom Group are both

under the common control of SASAC Further the 2008 Business Combination was carried out by reference to the

Announcement on Deepening the Reform of the Structure of the Telecommunications Sector dated 24 May 2008

jointly issued by MllT the National Development and Reform CommissionNDRC and the Ministry of Finance of the

PRO As set out in Note Unicom Group and Netcom Group had merged on January 2009 following the merger

between the Company and China Netcom

The acquisition of Beijing Telecom PD Institute in 2007 was considered to be business combination of entities

under common control of Netcom Group as Beijing Telecom PD Institute was wholly-owned subsidiary of Beijing

Communications Corporation which is wholly-owned subsidiary of Netcom Group

The acquisition of Guizhou Business in 2007 was also considered to be business combination of entity and business

under common control as the Group and Guizhou Business were both under the common control of Unicom Group

Upon the adoption of HKFRSs in 2005 by the Group the above transactions have been accounted for using merger

accounting in accordance with the Accounting Guideline Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations

AG issued by the HKICPA With regard to IFRSs the Group adopted the accounting policy to account for

business combinations of entities and businesses under common control using the predecessor values method

which is consistent with HKFRSs The acquired assets and liabilities are stated at predecessor values and are

includud the consolidated financial statements from the beginning of the earliest period presented as if the entities

and biness acquired had always been part of the Group
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.2 Basis of Preparation Continued

Changes of Accounting Policies and Estimates

Since the 2008 Business Combination is accounted for as business combination of entities under common control

the Group has restated all its HKFRS 2007 comparative amounts as if the merger had been completed on the earliest

date of the periods being presented i.e January 2007 In addition to align the accounting policies of the Group

and China Netcom the Group has adopted the following changes solely to its HKFRS accounting policies

Measurement of property plant and equipment

Pursuant to resolution passed by the Board of Directors on 13 August 2008 the Group changed the following

accounting policies for the property plant and equipment held by the Group prior to the merger with China

Netcom

Buildings are stated at historical costs less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses

instead of at revalued amounts

Other property plant and equipment other than the telecommunications equipment of GSM business are

stated at revalued amounts instead of historical costs less accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses

The change in accounting policy in relation to buildings has been applied on retrospective basis The change

in accounting policy for other property plant and equipment other than the telecommunications equipment of

GSM business to the revaluation basis has been treated as revaluation occurring at the beginning of the

earliest period presented in these financial statements Accordingly revaluation of property plant and equipment

other than the telecommunications equipment of GSM business as at January 2007 was performed by an

independent property valuation firm using the replacement cost or open market value approach as appropriate
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.2 Basis of Preparation Continued

Changes of Accounting Policies and Estimates Continued

Measurement of property plant and equipment Continued

The impact of the changes of accounting policies for property plant and equipment is summarised as follows

Year ended

As at January As at 31 December 31 December

2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Continuing operations

Change in measurement of

buildings

Decrease in property plant

and equipment net 349 324 335

Decrease in deferred tax

liabilities 104 73 76

Decrease in revaluation

reserve 273 304 301

Increase in retained profits 28 53 42

Decrease in depreciation

and amortisation charge 11 14

Increase in deferred tax

expense

Change in measurement of

other property plant and

equipment other than the

telecommunications

equipment of GSM

business

Decrease in property plant

and equipment net 814 504 659

Increase in deferred tax

assets 269 125 164

Increase in revaluation

reserve net 265 135 215

Decrease in retained profits 810 514 710

Decrease in depreciation

and amortisation charge 155 155

rease in deferred

tax expense 39 128
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.2 Basis of Preparation Continued

Changes of Accounting Policies and Estimates Continued

Measurement of property plant and equipment Continued

The above changes in accounting policies did not have significant impact on the earnings per share for the

years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007

Subscriber points reward program

The Group has implemented subscriber points reward program which is bonus points based scheme that

rewards subscribers according to their service consumption loyalty and payment history In prior years the

Group recognised the estimated costs under the subscriber points reward program as other operating expenses

In 2008 the Group early adopted IFRIC/HKIFRIC-Int 13 Upon the early adoption of IFRIC/HKIFRIC-lnt 13

portion of the consideration received or receivable from customers is allocated to the bonus points by reference

to their fair value The fair value of the subscriber points award is recorded as deferred revenue when the

rewards are granted and recognised as revenue when the points are redeemed or expired The deferred revenue

is recognised based on the value of each bonus point awarded to subscribers ii the number of bonus points

related to subscribers who are qualified or expected to be qualified to exercise their redemption right at each

balance sheet date and iii the expected bonus points redemption rate The adoption of IFRIC/HKIFRIC-lnt 13

represents change solely in HKFRS accounting policy which has been applied retrospectively so the

comparatives presented have been restated to conform with the changed policy

The impact of change of accounting policy is summarised as follows

Asat Asat

31 December 31 December

2008 2007

Decrease in payables and accrued liabilities 118 634

Increase in deferred revenue 118 634

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2008 2007

Continuing operations

lncrease/decrease in revenue 264 55

Increase decrease in expense 264 55

Discontinued operations

lncreasedecrease in revenue 118 23

Increase decrease in expense 118 23
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.2 Basis of Preparation Continued

The following tables summarise the changes to the 2007 comparative financial information in connection with the

disposal of the CDMA Business 2008 Business Combination and changes of accounting policies

For the year ended as at

31 December 2007

CDMA

The Group

Eliminations As restated

Results of continuing operations

Revenue

Profit for the year

99539 31197 84005

9301 656 11472

78 1582 150687

41 20158

Financial position

Non-current assets

Current assets

Total assets

Non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets

132588

16834

149422

2974

49231

52205

97217

170078

15508

185586

28128

75405

103533

82053

301912

32175

334087

31525

124046

155571

178516

Business 2008 Changes of

As previously discontinued Business accounting

reported operations Combination policies

754

754

423

423

754

167

167

167

167

The Company

Change of

As previously accounting

reported policy As restated

For the year ended as at

31 December 2007

Results of continuing operations

Profit for the year 2757 151 2908

Financial position

Non-current assets 64203 501 64704

Current assets 8485 8485

Total assets 72688 501 73189

Non-current liabilities 1461 1461

Current liabilities 2267 2267

Total liabilities 3728 3728

Net assets 68960 501 69461
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.2 Basis of Preparation Continued

Going Concern Assumption

As at 31 December 2008 the current liabilities of the Group exceeded the current assets by approximately RMB891

billion 31 December 2007 approximately RMB91 .9 billion Given the current global economic conditions and the

Groups expected capital expenditure in the foreseeable future management has comprehensively considered the

Groups available sources of funds as follows

The Groups continuous net cash inflow from operating activities

Unutilised banking facilities of approximately RMB92.0 billion and

Other available sources of financing from domestic banks and other financial institutions given the Groups

credit history

In addition the Group will continue to optimise its fund raising strategy from short medium and long-term perspectives

and to seize the opportunity in the current capital market to take advantage of the low interest rates by issuing

medium to long-term debts with low financing cost

Based on the above considerations the Board of Directors is of the opinion that the Group has sufficient funds to

meet its working capital requirements and debt obligations As result the consolidated financial statements of the

Group for the year ended 31 December 2008 have been prepared under the going concern basis

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgment

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs/HKFRSs requires the use of certain

critical accounting estimates It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the

Groups accounting policies The areas involving higher degree of judgment or complexity or areas where

assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note

New Accounting Standards Amendments and Interpretations Pronouncements

The IASB has issued number of new and revised IFRSs and interpretations that are first effective for the current

accounting period commencing January 2008 or are available for early adoption The equivalent new and revised

HKFRSs and interpretations consequently issued by the HKICPA have the same effective date as those issued by the

IASB and are in all material respects identical to the pronouncements issued by the IASB There have been no other

material changes to HKFRSs
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.2 Basis of Preparation Continued

The following interpretation is early adopted by the Group

IFRIC/HKIFRIC Int 13 Customer loyalty programmes effective from July 2008 IFRIC/HKIFRIC

lot 13 clarifies that where goods or services are sold together with customer loyalty incentive for example

loyalty points or free products the arrangement is multiple-element arrangement and the consideration

receivable from the customer is allocated between the components of the arrangement using fair values

Comparatives for 2007 have been restated upon adoption of this new interpretation For the financial

impact of the early adoption of IFRIC/HKIFRIC lnt 13 on the Groups financial statements please refer to

point Subscriber points reward program under the section headed Change of Accounting Policies

and Estimate of this Note

The following new amendment and interpretation are effective in 2008 and are relevant and are applicable to the

Groups operations

IFRIC/HKIFRIC-lnt 11 Group and treasury share transactions provides guidance on whether share-

based transactions involving treasury shares or involving group entities for example options over parents

shares should be accounted for as equity-settled or cash-settled share-based payment transactions in

the stand-alone accounts of the parent and group companies In previous years the Company granted

certain share options to its subsidiaries employees and recognised the share-based compensation cost

in accordance with the transitional provision of IFRS/HKFRS Upon the adoption of IFRIC/HKIFRIC-lnt

11 equity-settled share-based compensation plan in which the Company grants share options to

subsidiaries employees are accounted for as an increase in the value of investments in the subsidiaries in

the Companys balance sheet which is eliminated on consolidation Accordingly the share-based

compensation cost previously recognised by the Company in its unconsolidated financial statements of

approximately RMB1 51 million for the year ended 31 December 2007 was allocated to the subsidiaries

and the related bLisiness segments The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2007 has

been restated to reflect the effect of the adoption of IFRIC/HKIFRIC-lnt 11

IAS/HKAS 39 Financial instruments Recognition and measurement amendment on reclassification of

financial assets permits reclassification of certain financial assets out of the held-for-trading and available-

for-sale categories if specified conditions are met The related amendment to IFRS/HKFRS Financial

instruments Disclosures introduces disclosure requirements with respect to financial assets reclassified

out of the held-for-trading and available-for-sale categories This amendment does not have any impact

on the Groups financial statements as the Group has not reclassified any financial assets

The following interpretations to published standards are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after

January 2008 but are not relevant to the Groups operation

FRIC/HKIFRIC-lnt 12 Service concession arrangements

IFRIC/HKIFRIC-lnt 14 The limit on defined benefit asset minimum funding requirements and their

interaction
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.2 Basis of Preparation Continued

Standards amendments to standards and interpretations to existing standards have been issued but not yet

effective in 2008 and have not been early adopted by the Group

IFRS/HKFRS Amendment Share-based payment effective from January 2009 The amended

standard deals with vesting conditions and cancellations It clarifies that vesting conditions are service

conditions and performance conditions only Other features of share-based payment are not vesting

conditions As such these features would need to be included in the grant date fair value for transactions

with employees and others providing similar services that is these features would not impact the number

of awards expected to vest or valuation thereof subsequent to grant date All cancellations whether by the

entity or by other parties should receive the same accounting treatment

IFRS/HKFRS Operating segments effective from January 2009 The amended standard replaces

IAS/HKAS 14 Segment reporting and aligns segment reporting with the requirements of the US standard

SFAS 131 Disclosures about segments of an enterprise and related information The new standard

requires management approach under which segment information is presented on the same basis as

that used for internal reporting purposes

IFRS/HKFRS Revised Business combination effective from July 2009 The revised standard continues

to apply the acquisition method to business combinations with some significant changes For example all

payments to purchase business are to be recorded at fair value at the acquisition date with contingent

payments classified as debt subsequently re-measured through the consolidated income statement There

is choice on an acquisition by acquisition basis to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree

either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests proportionate share of the acquirees net assets All

acquisition-related costs should be expensed

IAS/HKA5 Revised Presentation of financial statements effective from January 2009 The revised

standard will prohibit the presentation of items of income and expenses that is non-owner changes in

equity in the statement of changes in equity requiring non-owner changes in equity to be presented

separately from owner changes in equity All non-owner changes in equity will be required to be shown in

performance statement but entities can choose whether to present one performance statement the

statement of comprehensive income or two statements the consolidated income statement and statement

of comprehensive income Where entities restate or reclassify comparative information they will be required

to present restated balance sheet as at the beginning comparative period in addition to the current

requirement to present balance sheets at the end of the current period and comparative period It is likely

that both the consolidated income statement and statement of comprehensive income will be presented

as performance statements

IAS/HKAS 23 Revised Borrowing costs effective from January 2009 The amendment requires an

entity to capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition construction or production of

qualifying asset one that takes substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale as part of the cost

of that asset The option of immediately expensing those borrowing costs will be removed
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.2 Basis of Preparation Continued

Standards amendments to standards and interpretations to existing standards have been issued but not yet

effective in 2008 and have not been early adopted by the Group Continued

lAS/HKAS 27 Revised Consolidated and separate financial statements effective from July 2009 .The

revised standard requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be recorded in

equity if there is no change in control and these transactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains and

losses The standard also specifies the accounting when control is lost Any remaining interest in the entity

is re-measured to fair value and gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss

IASBs annual improvement project published in May 2008/HKICPAs improvements to HKFRS published

in October 2008

IAS/HKAS Amendment Presentation of financial statements effective from January 2009

The amendment clarifies that some rather than all financial assets and liabilities classified as held for

trading in accordance with IAS/HKAS 39 Financial instruments Recognition and measurement are

examples of current assets and liabilities respectively

IAS/HKAS 19 Amendment Employee benefits effective from January 2009

The amendment clarifies that plan amendment that results in change in the extent to which

benefit promises are affected by future salary increases is curtailment while an amendment

that changes benefits attributable to past service gives rise to negative past service cost if it

results in reduction in the present value of the defined benefit obligation

The definition of return on plan assets has been amended to state that plan administration costs

are deducted in the calculation of return on plan assets only to the extent that such costs have

been excluded from measurement of the defined benefit obligation

The distinction between short term and long term employee benefits will be based on whether

benefits are due to be settled within or after 12 months of employee service being rendered

IAS/HKAS 37 Provisions contingent liabilities and contingent assets requires contingent

liabilities to be disclosed not recognised IAS/HKAS 19 has been amended to be consistent
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.2 Basis of Preparation Continued

Standards amendments to standards and interpretations to existing standards have been issued but not yet

effective in 2008 and have not been early adopted by the Group Continued

IASBs annual improvement project published in May 2008/HKICPAs improvements to HKFRS published

in October 2008 Continued

IAS/HKAS 23 Amendment Borrowing costs effective from January 2009 The definition of

borrowing costs has been amended so that interest expense is calculated using the effective interest

method defined in IAS/HKAS 39 Financial instruments Recognition and measurement This eliminates

the inconsistency of terms between lAS/H KAS 39 and lAS/H KAS 23

IAS/HKAS 27 Amendment Consolidated and separate financial statements effective from January

2009 Where an investment in subsidiary that is accounted for under IAS/HKAS 39 Financial

instruments recognition and measurement is classified as held for sale under IFRS/HKFRS Non

current assets held for sale and discontinued operations IAS/HKAS 39 would continue to be applied

IAS/HKAS 36 Amendment Impairment of assets effective from January 2009 Where fair value

less costs to sell is calculated on the basis of discounted cash flows disclosures equivalent to those

for value-in-use calculation should be made

IAS/HKAS 40 Amendment Investment property and consequential amendments to IAS/HKAS

16 effective from January 2009 Property that is under construction or development for future use

as investment property is within the scope of IAS/HKAS 40 Where the fair value model is applied

such property is therefore measured at fair value However where fair value of investment property

under construction is not reliably measurable the property is measured at cost until the earlier of the

date construction is completed and the date at which fair value becomes reliably measurable

IFRS/HKFRS Amendment Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations and

consequential amendment to IFRS/HKFRS First-time adoption effective from July 2009 The

amendment clarifies that all of subsidiarys assets and liabilities are classified as held for sale if

partial disposal sale plan results in loss of control and relevant disclosure should be made for this

subsidiary if the definition of discontinued operation is met consequential amendment to IFRS/

HKFRS states that these amendments are applied prospectively from the date of transition to IFRS/

HKFRSs

There are number of minor amendments to IFRS/HKFRS Financial instruments Disclosures

IAS/HKAS Accounting policies changes in accounting estimates and errors IAS/HKAS 10 Events

after the balance sheet date IAS/HKAS 18 Revenue and lAS/HKAS 34 Interim financial reporting

which are not addressed above

The Group is currently evaluating the impact of adopting the above standards/interpretations on the Groups

consolidated financial statements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.3 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries

made up to 31 December

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities including special purpose entities over which the Group has the power to govern

the financial and operating policies generally accompanying shareholding of more than one half of the voting

rights The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered

when assessing whether the Group controls another entity

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group They are de

consolidated from the date that control ceases Upon the disposal of subsidiaries the difference between the

consideration received and receivable and the book value of net assets disposed of is recorded as gain/loss on

disposal in the consolidated income statement in the year of disposal

The Group has acquired the equity interests of certain subsidiaries prior to 2005 refer to Note for details

Prior to the adoption of HKFRSs in 2005 the Group accounted for the acquisition of subsidiaries under common

control in accordance with the original HK SSAP 27 Accounting for Group Reconstructions HK SSAP 27

under the previous accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the requirement of the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance Since the criteria for applying merger accounting under HK SSAP 27 was not

satisfied the purchase method of accounting was used to account for the acquisitions of those subsidiaries

including common control transactions by the Group prior to 2005

Under the purchase method of accounting the cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets

given equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs directly

attributable to the acquisition Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are

measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date irrespective of the extent of any minority interest The

excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Groups share of the identifiable net assets acquired

is recorded as goodwill If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the Groups share of the identifiable

net assets of the subsidiary acquired the difference is recognised directly in the income statement

Upon the adoption of HKFRSs in 2005 merger accounting is used by the Group to account for the business

combination of entities and businesses under common control in accordance with AG issued by the HKICPA

The results of operations and financial position of such entities or businesses are included in the consolidated

financial statements as if the businesses were always part of the Group from the beginning of the earliest period

presented or since the date when the combining entities or businesses first came under common control

where this is shorter period regardless of the date of the common control combination

Upon the adoption of IFRSs the Group has elected not to apply IFRS Business Combination retrospectively

to past business combination that occurred prior to January 2005 In addition the Group adopted the accounting

policy to account for business combination of entities and businesses under common control using the

predecessor values method which is consistent with HKFRS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.3 Consolidation Continued

Subsidiaries Continued

Inter-company transactions balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are

eliminated Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of

the asset transferred Accounting policies of subsidiaries would be changed where necessary in the consolidated

financial statements to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group

In the Companys balance sheet the investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision for impairment

losses The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and

receivable

Minority interests

Minority interests at the balance sheet date being the portion of the net assets of subsidiaries attributable to

interests that are not owned by the Company whether directly or indirectly through subsidiaries are presented

in the consolidated balance sheets and statements of changes in equity within equity separately from equity

attributable to the equity holders of the Company Minority interests in the results of the Group are presented on

the face of the consolidated income statements as an allocation of the total profit or loss for the year between

minority shareholders and the equity holders of the Company

Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the minoritys interest in the equity of subsidiary the excess

and any further losses applicable to the minority are charged against the Groups interest except to the extent

that the minority has binding obligation to and is able to make additional investment to cover the losses If the

subsidiary subsequently reports profits the Groups interest is allocated all such profits until the minoritys share

of losses previously absorbed by the Group has been recovered

The Group applies policy of treating transactions with minority interests as transactions with parties external to

the Group Disposals to minority interests result in gains or losses for the Group are recorded in the consolidated

financial statements Purchases from minority interests result in goodwill being the difference of any consideration

paid and the relevant share of the carrying value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired

2.4 Segment Reporting

business segment is group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject

to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments For details of the Groups business

segments please refer to Note The Group has not presented geographical segments as the Group operates

primarily in one geographical segment This is also consistent with the Groups internal financial reporting

Unallocated costs primarily represent corporate expenses realised losses on changes in fair value of the derivative

component of the convertible bonds and income tax expenses whilst unallocated income represents interest income

and other gains including the tax refund on reinvestment in subsidiaries that cannot be allocated to different operating

segments Segment assets consist primarily of property plant and equipment other assets prepayments inventories

and consumables receivables and operating cash Segment liabilities primarily comprise operating liabilities Capital

expenditure mainly comprises additions to property plant and equipment
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.5 Foreign Currency Translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Groups entities are measured using the currency of the

primary economic environment in which the entities operate the functional currency The consolidated financial

statements are presented in RMB which is the Companys functional and presentation currency

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at

the dates of the transactions Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions

and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign

currencies are recognised in the income statement

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities none of which has the currency of hyperinflationary

economy that have functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the

presentation currency as follows

Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that

balance sheet

Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates unless this

average is not reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction

dates in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions and

All resulting exchange differences are recognised as separate component of equity into other reserve

On consolidation exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations

and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments are taken to

shareholders equity When foreign operation is sold such exchange differences are recognised in the income

statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.6 Property Plant and Equipment

Construction-in-progress

Construction-in-progress CIP represents buildings plant and equipment under construction and pending

installation and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses Costs include construction and acquisition

costs and interest charges arising from borrowings used to finance the assets during the construction period

No provision for depreciation is made on construction-in-progress until such time as the assets are completed

and ready for use When the asset being constructed becomes available for use the CIP is transferred to the

appropriate category of property plant and equipment

ii Buildings

As discussed in Note 2.2 on January 2007 the Group changed its accounting policy such that buildings held

by the Group are stated at cost instead of revalued amounts less accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses and are depreciated over their expected useful lives which is consistent with the accounting

policy of China Netcom prior to the merger as discussed in Note

iii Other property plant and equipment

Other property plant and equipment comprise telecommunications equipment leasehold improvements office

furniture fixtures motor vehicles and others The cost of an asset except for those acquired in exchange for

non-monetary asset or assets comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the

asset to its working condition and location for its intended use

If an item of property plant and equipment is acquired in exchange for another item of property plant and

equipment the cost of such an item of property plant and equipment is measured at fair value unless the

exchange transactions lacks commercial substance or the fair value of neither the asset received nor the

asset given up is reliably measurable If the acquired item is not measured at fair value its cost is measured at

the carrying amount of the asset given up

Subsequent costs are included in the assets carrying amount or recognised as separate asset as appropriate

only when it is probable at the time the costs are incurred that future economic benefits associated with the item

will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably The carrying amount of the replaced

part is derecognised All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial

period in which they are incurred

As discussed in Note 2.2 on January 2007 the Group changed its accounting policy such that all other

property plant and equipment other than the telecommunications equipment of the GSM business held by the

Group are stated at revalued amounts instead of historical costs less accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses which is consistent with the accounting policy of China Netcom prior to the merger as

discussed in Note
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.6 Property Plant and Equipment Continued

iii Other property plant and equipment Continued

When an item of fixed asset is revalued any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is restated

proportionately together with the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying amount

of the asset after revaluation equals its revalued amount Increases in valuation are credited to the revaluation

reserve Decreases in valuation are first set off against any revaluation surplus on earlier valuations in respect of

the same item and thereafter are debited to income statement Any subsequent increases are credited to the

ncorne statement up to the amount previously debited Each year the difference between depreciation based

on the revalued carrying amount of the asset expensed in the income statement and depreciation based on the

assets original cost is transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained profits

Revaluations on fixed assets will be performed with sufficient regularity by independent valuers and in each of

the intervening years valuations are reviewed by management of the Group The revalued amount is the fair

value at the date of revaluation

iv Depreciation

Depreciation on property plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their

costs or revalued amounts less their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows

Depreciable life Residual rate

Buildings 50 years 3-5%

Telecommunications equipment of GSM business 15 years 3-5%

Telecommunications equipment of Fixed-line business 15 years 3-5%

Office furniture fixtures motor vehicles and others 18 years 3-5%

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of their estimated useful lives and the lease periods

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each balance sheet

date

An assets carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the assets carrying amount

is greater than its estimated recoverable amount Note 2.10

Gain or loss on disposal of property plant or equipment

Gains or losses on disposal of property plant or equipment are determined by comparing the net sales

proceeds with the carrying amounts and are recognised in the income statement When revalued assets are

sold the residual amounts included in the revaluation reserve are transferred to retained profits
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.7 Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Groups share of the net

identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiaries at the date of acquisition Goodwill is tested annually for impairment

and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed Gain or

loss on the disposal of an entity includes the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing The allocation is made to those

cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination

in which the goodwill arose

2.8 Lease prepayments

Lease prepayments represent payments for land use rights Lease prepayments for land use rights are stated at cost

initially and expensed on straight line basis over the lease period

2.9 Other Assets

Other assets mainly represent capitalised direct incremental costs for activating GSM and CDMA subscribers ii

installation costs of fixed-line services iii customer acquisition costs iv computer software and prepaid rental

for premises and leased lines

Capitalised direct incremental costs for activating GSM and CDMA subscribers including costs of SIM/UIM

cards and commissions which are directly associated with upfront non-refundable revenue received upon

activation of cellular services are amortised over the expected customer service periods The expected customer

service periods are estimated based on the expected stabilised churn rates of subscribers

ii The direct incremental costs associated with the installation in relation to Fixed-line business are deferred and

expensed to the income statement over the expected customer relationship period of 10 years except when the

direct incremental costs exceed the corresponding upfront installation fees In such cases the excess of the

direct incremental costs over the installation fees are recorded immediately as expenses in the income statement
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.9 Other Assets Continued

iii Customer acquisition costs

Customer acquisition costs under contractual CDMA subscriber packages represent the cost of COMA

handsets given to contractual subscribers under special promotional packages Such customer acquisition

costs to the extent recoverable are amortised over the contractual period not exceeding years during

which the minimum contract revenue is expected to flow to the Group Customer acquisition costs of

contractual COMA subscribers are included in prepayment and other current assets when the customer

contract is within year of expiry whereas they are recorded as other assets when the unexpired contract

period is over year

When certain bifurcation conditions as mentioned in Note 2.21 of Personal Handy-phone System PHS
bundled service contracts are met revenue attributable to handsets given to customers under bundled

service contracts is recognised separately in the income statement of the period the contracts are entered

into The cost of these handsets is expensed immediately to the income statement in the same period

When any one of the bifurcation conditions is not met the costs of handsets given to customers under

bundled service contracts are deferred as subscriber acquisition costs to the extent recoverable as they

meet the definition and criteria for an asset and expensed to the income statement on systematic basis

over the customer service contract period

iv Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to

use the specific software These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives on straight-line basis

Long-term prepaid rental for premises and leased lines are amortised using straight-line method over the

lease period

2.10 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not yet available for use are not subject to amortisation and are tested

for impairment at each balance sheet date Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable An impairment loss is recognised for the

amount by which the assets carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount The recoverable amount is the higher

of an assets fair value less costs to sell and ii value in use For the purposes of assessing impairment assets are

grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows cash-generating units Assets

other than goodwill that suffered from impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each

reporting date
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.11 Inventories and Consumables

Inventories which primarily comprise handsets SIM cards UIM cards and accessories are stated at the lower of

cost and net realisable value Cost is based on the first-in-first-out method and comprises all costs of purchase and

other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition Net realisable value for all the

inventories is determined on the basis of anticipated sales proceeds less estimated selling expenses

Consumables consist of materials and supplies used in maintaining the Groups telecommunication network and are

charged to the income statement when brought into use Consumables are stated at cost less any provision for

obsolescence

2.12 Accounts Receivable and Other Receivables

Accounts receivable and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised

cost using the effective interest method less provision for impairment provision for impairment of accounts receivable

and other receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all

amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables The amount of the provision is the difference between

the assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows which is discounted at the original

effective interest rate The carrying amount of the assets is reduced through the use of provision account and the

amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement When receivable is proven to be uncollectible with

sufficient evidence it is written off against the provision account for receivables Subsequent recoveries of amounts

previously written off are credited in the income statement

2.13 Short-term Bank Deposits

Short-term bank deposits are cash invested in fixed-term deposits with original maturities ranging from more than

months to year

2.14 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand deposits held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid

investments with original maturities of months or less
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.15 Convertible Bonds

As the functional currency of the Group is RMB the conversion of the convertible bonds denominated in Hong Kong

Dollars would not result in settlement by the exchange of fixed amount of cash in RMB the functional currency of

the Group for fixed number of he Companys shares In accordance with the requirements of IAS/HKAS 39

Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement the convertible bond contract must be separated into two

component elements derivative component consisting of the conversion option and liability component consisting

of the straight debt element of the bonds

On the issue of the convertible bonds the fair value of the embedded conversion option was calculated using the

Binomial model The derivative component the embedded conversion option was carried at fair value on the balance

sheet with any changes in fair value being charged or credited to the income statement in the period when the

change occurred The remainder of the proceeds was allocated to the debt element of the bonds net of transaction

costs and was recorded as the liability component The liability component was subsequently carried at amortised

cost until extinguished on conversion or redemption Interest expense was calculated using the effective interest

method by applying the effective interest rate to the liability component through the maturity date

If the convertible bonds were converted the carrying amounts of the derivative and liability components were transferred

to share capital and share premium as consideration for the shares issued If the convertible bonds were redeemed

any difference between the amount paid and the carrying amounts of both components was recognised in the

income statement

2.16 Deferred Revenue Advances from Customers and Subscriber Points Reward Program

Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue mainly represents upfront non-refundable revenue including connection fees installation fees

and receipts from the activation of SIM/UIM cards relating to the GSM and CDMA businesses which are

deferred and recognised over the expected customer service period

Advances from customers

Advances from customers are amounts paid by customers for prepaid cards other calling cards and prepaid

service fees which cover future telecommunications services over period of one to twelve months Advances

from customers are stated at the amount of proceeds received less the amount already recognised as revenues

upon the rendering of services

Subscriber points reward program

The fair value of providing telecommunications services and the subscriber points reward are allocated based

on their relative fair values portion of revenue equal to the fair value of the subscriber points reward is

recorded as deferred revenue when the rewards are granted and recognised as revenue when the points are

redeemed or expired The deferred revenue is recognised based on the value of each bonus point awarded

to subscribers ii the number of bonus points related to subscribers who are qualified or expected to be

qualihed to exercise their redemption right at each balance sheet date and iii
the expected bonus points

redemption rate The fair value of tile outstanding subscriber points reward is subject to review by management

on periodic basis
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.17 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred Borrowings are subsequently

stated at amortised cost any difference between the proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption value is

recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the

liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date

2.18 Employee Benefits

Retirement benefits

The Group participates in defined contribution pension schemes For defined contribution plans the Group

pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on mandatory contractual or

voluntary basis The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid The

contributions are recognised as employee benefit expenses when they are due Prepaid contributions are

recognised as an asset to the extent that reduction in the future payments is available

Early retirement benefits

Early retirement benefits are recognised as expenses when the Group reaches agreement with the relevant

employees for early retirement

Housing benefits

One-off cash housing subsidies paid to the PRO employees are charged to the income statement in the year in

which it is determined that the payment of such subsidies is probable and the amounts can be reasonably

estimated

The Groups contributions to the housing fund special monetary housing benefits and other housing benefits

are expensed as incurred The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been

paid
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.18 Employee Benefits Continued

Share-based compensation costs

The Group operates an equity-settled share-based compensation plan The fair value of the employee services

received in exchange for the grant of the share options is recognised as an expense The total amount to be

expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the share options granted

excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions for example revenue and profit targets However

non-market vesting conditions are considered in determining the number of options that are expected to vest

At each balance sheet date the Group revises its estimates of the number of share options that are expected to

vest The Group recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates if any in the income statement of the

period in which the revision occurs with corresponding adjustment to equity

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital nominal

value and share premium when the share options are exercised The corresponding employee share-based

compensation reserve is transferred to share premium

In connection with the 2008 Business Combination Note the exchange of China Netcoms options to the

Companys options was accounted for as modification in accordance with IFRS/HKFRS Share-based

Payment issued by the IASB/HKICPA IFRS/HKFRS The incremental fair value of the exchanged options

measured before and after the modification is to be recognised as follows

For vested options the incremental share-based compensation costs are recognised in the income

statement immediately

For non-vested options the incremental share-based compensation costs are recognised in the income

statement over the remaining vesting period

2.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has present legal or constructive obligations as result of past events it

is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably

estimated Where there are number of similar obligations the likelihood that an outflow will be required in sefflement

is determined by considering the class of obligations as whole provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an

outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small

Provisions are measured at the present value of the pre-tax amount of expenditures expected to be required to settle

the obligation that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the

obligation The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.20 Discontinued Operations

discontinued operation is component of the Group that may be major line of business or geographical area of

operations that has been disposed of or is held for sale The results and cash flows of that component are separately

reported as discontinued operations in the income statement and cash flow statement respectively The difference

between the consideration received and receivable and the book value of net assets disposed of is recorded as gain

loss on disposal in the consolidated income statement in the year of disposal The comparative income statement

and cash flow statement are also reclassified as discontinued operations The assets and liabilities of such component

classified as discontinued operations or held for sale is presented separately in assets and liabilities respectively

of the consolidated balance sheet from the date it is first determined to be discontinued operations or assets

liabilities held for sale and are de-recognised upon the completion of the disposal

2.21 Revenue Recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the services and sales of goods or

telecommunications products in the ordinary course of the Groups activities Revenue is shown net of business tax

government surcharges returns and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured it is probable that future

economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Groups activities as

described below The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until all contingencies relating to

the sale have been resolved The Group bases its estimates on historical results taking into consideration of the type

of customer the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement

Sales of services and goods

Usage fees and monthly fees are recognised when the service are rendered

Revenues from the provision of broadband and other Internet-related services and managed data services

are recognised when the services are provided to customers

Revenue from telephone cards which represents service fees received from customers for telephone

services is recognised when the related service is rendered upon actual usage of the telephone cards by

customers

Lease income from leasing of lines and customer-end equipment are treated as operating leases with

rental income recognised on straight-line basis over the lease term

Value-added services revenue which mainly represents revenue from the provision of services such as

short message cool ringtone personalized ring CDMA 1X wireless data services caller number display

and secretarial services to subscribers is recognised when service is rendered

Standalone sales of telecommunications products which mainly represent handsets and accessories are

recognised when title has been passed to the buyers

China Unicorn Hong Kong Limited Annual Report 2008 145



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

All amounts in RMB millions unless otherwise stated

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.21 Revenue Recognition Continued

Sales of services and goods Continued

For CDMA promotional packages where CDMA handsets are provided to subscribers for their use during

specified contract period Note 4.2a since the commercial substance of the transaction is to develop

new contractual subscribers by offering handsets the two elements of CDMA cellular services and handsets

are considered as linked transaction Service revenues from such promotional packages are recognised

based upon the actual usage of cellular services at the tariff set out in the contracts

Certain PHS bundled service contracts comprise the provision of PHS services and handsets to customers

under which customers either prepay certain amount of service fee or commit to spend minimum

monthly service fee for designated period in order to receive free handset When all of the following

criteria are met PHS handsets and related services are separately recognised as revenues according to

their relative fair values When any one of the following criteria is not met total revenues from PHS bundled

service contracts are recognised on systematic basis to match the shorter of the pattern of usage of the

PHS services by customers and the minimum non-cancellable contractual period

PHS handsets and related services have value on stand-alone basis

ii Reliable estimate for fair value of PHS handsets and related services exists and

iii In arrangements that include general right of refund for the delivered item performance of the

undelivered item is considered probable and substantially in the Groups control

Revenue from information communications technology services are recognised when goods are delivered

to the customers which generally coincides with the time when the customers have accepted the goods

and the related risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customers or when services

are rendered to the customers using the percentage of completion method when the outcome of the

services provided can be estimated reliably If the outcome of the services provided cannot be estimated

reliably the treatment should be as follows if it is probable that the costs incurred for the services

provided is recoverable services revenue should be recognised only to the extent of recoverable costs

incurred and costs should be recognised as current expenses in the period in which they are incurred ii

if it is probable that costs incurred will not be recoverable costs should be recognised as current expenses

Immediately and services revenue should not be recognised

146 China Unicorn Hong Kong Limited Annual Report 2008



Notes to the Consolidated Financia Statements

All amounts in RMB millions unless otherwise stated

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.21 Revenue Recognition Continued

Interest income

Interest income from deposits in banks or other financial institutions is recognised on time proportion basis

using the effective interest method

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established

2.22 Leases as the lessee

Operating lease

Leases in which significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are

classified as operating leases Payments made under operating leases net of any incentives received from the

lessor including long-term prepayment for land use rights are expensed in the income statement on straight-

line basis over the period of the lease

Finance lease

Leases of assets where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as

finance leases Finance leases are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the lower of the fair value of

the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments Each lease payment is allocated

between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve constant rate of interest on the liability balance

outstanding The corresponding liabilities net of finance charges are recorded as obligations under finance

leases The interest element implicit in the lease payment is recognised in the income statement over the lease

period so as to produce constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each

period
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.23 Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred except for interest directly attributable to the acquisition construction or

production of an asset that necessarily takes substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use in which

case they are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when

expenditures for the asset and borrowing costs are being incurred and the activities to prepare the asset for its

intended use are in progress Borrowing costs are capitalised up to the date when the project is completed and

ready for its intended use

To the extent that funds are borrowed specifically for the purpose of obtaining qualifying asset the amount of

borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined at the actual borrowing costs incurred on that borrowing

during the period less any investment income on the temporary investment of those borrowings

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of obtaining qualifying asset the amount

of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that

asset The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the

Group that are outstanding during the period other than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining

qualifying asset The amount of borrowing costs capitalised during period should not exceed the amount of borrowing

cost incurred during that period Other borrowing costs are recognised as expenses when incurred

2.24 Taxation

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantially enacted at the

balance sheet date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable

income Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which

applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis

of the amount expected to be paid to the tax authorities

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the

tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements However

if the deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in transaction other than

business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss it is

not accounted for Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or

substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income

tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be

available against which the temporary differences can be utilised
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

2.25 Government Grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair values where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be

received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions Grants relating to assets are included in non-current

liabilities which are credited to the income statement on straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related

assets Grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the income statement over the period necessary to

match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate

2.26 Dividend Distribution

Dividend distribution to the Companys shareholders is recognised as liability in the Companys financial statements

in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Companys shareholders

2.27 Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

contingent liability is possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confirmed

by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the

Group It can also be present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable

that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably

contingent liability
is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements When change in the

probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable the
liability

will then be recognised as provision

contingent asset is possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group

Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when an inflow of

economic benefits is probable When an inflow is virtually certain an asset is recognised

2.28 Earnings per Share and per American Depositary Share ADS
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders by the weighted average

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year

Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders by the weighted average

number of ordinary shares after adjusting for the effects of the dilutive potential ordinary shares

Basic and diluted earnings per ADS are computed by multiplying earnings per share by 10 which is the number of

shares represented by each ADS
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Groups activities expose it to variety of financial risks market risk including currency risk cash flow interest

rate risk and fair value interest rate risk credit risk and liquidity risk The Groups overall risk management program

focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Groups

financial performance

Financial risk management is carried out by the Groups finance department at its headquarters following the overall

direction determined by the Board of Directors The Groups finance department identifies and evaluates financial

risks in close co-operation with the Groups operating units

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

The Groups major operational activities are carried out in Mainland China and majority of the transactions

are denominated in RMB The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency

exposures primarily with respect to US dollars and HK dollars Exchange risk exists with respect to the

repayment of indebtedness to foreign lenders and payables to equipment suppliers and contractors

The Groups finance department at its headquarters is responsible for monitoring the amount of monetary

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies to minimise the exposure to the Group From time

to time the Group may enter into forward exchange contracts or currency swap contracts to mitigate the

foreign exchange risk During the year the Group and the Company had not entered into any forward

exchange contracts or currency swap contracts

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 the Group had cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank

deposits denominated in foreign currencies amounting to RMB1 315 million and RMB1 673 million

respectively Note 36 As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 the Group had bank borrowings denominated

in foreign currencies amounting to RMB1 099 million and RMB4898 million respectively Note 19

As at 31 December 2008 if the RMB had strengthened/weakened by 10% against the foreign currencies

primarily with respect to US dollars and HK dollars while all other variables are held constant the Group

would have recognised additional exchange loss/gain of approximately RMB22 million 2007 exchange

gain/loss approximately RMB323 million for foreign currencies denominated cash and cash equivalents

short-term bank deposits and bank loans
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT Continued

3.1 Financial risk factors Continued

Market risk Continued

ii Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Groups interest-bearing assets are mainly represented by bank deposits management does not

expect the changes in market deposit interest rates will have significant impact on the financial statements

as the deposits are all short-term in nature and the interest involved will not be significant

The Groups interest rate risk arises from interest bearing borrowings including bank loans corporate

bonds and short-term commercial paper Borrowings issued at floating rates expose the Group to cash

flow interest rate risk Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk The

Group determines the amount of its fixed rate or floating rate borrowings depending on the prevailing

market conditions During 2008 and 2007 the Groups borrowings were mainly at fixed rates and were

mainly denominated in RMB

Increases in interest rates will increase the cost of new borrowing and the interest expense with respect to

the Groups outstanding floating rate borrowings and therefore could have material adverse effect on

the Groups financial position Management continuously monitors the interest rate position of the Group

and makes decisions with reference to the latest market conditions From time to time the Group may

enter into interest rate swap agreements designed to mitigate its exposure to interest rate risks in connection

with the floating rate borrowings although the Group did not consider it was necessary to do so in 2008

and 2007

As at 31 December 2008 the Group had approximately RMB28879 million 2007 approximately

RMB35296 million of bank loans corporate bonds and short-term commercial paper at fixed rates and

approximately RMB1114 million 2007 approximately RMB22051 million of bank loans at floating rates

For the year ended 31 December 2008 if interest rates on the floating rate borrowings had been 10%

higher/lower while all other variables are held constant the interest expenses would have increased

decreased by approximately RMB1 25 million 2007 approximatety AMB1 31 million
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT Continued

3.1 Financial risk factors Continued

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on group basis Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank

deposits with banks as well as credit exposures to corporate customers individual subscribers related parties

and other operators

The table below shows the bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents balances held at the major banks by

the Group as at 31 December 2008 and 2007

2007

2008 As restated

Short-term bank deposits

State-owned banks 238 619

Other banks 116

238 735

Cash and cash equivalents

State-owned banks 8672 11484

Other banks 566 495

9238 11979

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk associated with the bank deposits and cash and cash

equivalents since the state-owned banks have support from the government and other banks are medium or

large size listed banks Management does not expect that there will be any significant losses from non-performance

by these counterparties

In addition the Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk with respect to corporate customers and

individual subscribers The extent of the Groups credit exposure is mainly represented by the fair value of

accounts receivable for services The Group has policies to limit the credit exposure on accounts receivable for

services The Group assesses the credit quality of and sets credit limits on all its customers by taking into

account their financial position the availability of guarantee from third parties their credit history and other

factors such as current market conditions The normal credit period granted by the Group is on average between

30 days to 90 days from the date of billing The utilisation of credit limits and the settlement pattern of the

customers are regularly monitored by the Group

Credit risk relating to amounts due from related parties and other operators is not considered to be significant

as these companies are reputable and their receivables are settled on regular basis
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT Continued

3.1 Financial risk factors Continued

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and availability of funds through short-

term bank loans short-term commercial paper and the issuance of bonds Due to the dynamic nature of the

underlying businesses the Groups finance department at its headquarters maintains flexibility in funding through

having adequate amount of cash and cash equivalents and utilising different sources of financing when necessary

The following tables show the undiscounted balances of the financial liabilities including interest expense

categorised by time period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date

Less than Between Between Over

The Group year and years and years years

At 31 December 2008

Long-term bank loans 1299 108 315 635

Corporate bonds 355 355 6064 2360

Other obligations 510 394 1034 866

Payables and accrued liabilities 63605

Amounts due to related parties 2727

Amounts due to domestic carriers 538

Payables in relation to the disposal of the

CDMA Business 4232

Short-term commercial paper 10447

Short-term bank loans 11013

94726 857 7413 3861

At 31 December 2007

As restated

Long-term bank loans 8665 10353 3823 2840

Corporate bonds 90 90 270 2450

Otherobligations 525 458 1243 1051

Payables and accrued liabilities 46486

Amounts due to related parties 6015 2214 4337

Amounts due to domestic carriers 510

Short-term commercial paper 20629

Short-term bank loans 12134

95054 13115 9673 6341

China Unicorn Hong Kong Limited Annual Report 2008 153



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

All amounts in RMB millions unless otherwise stated

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT Continued

3.1 Financial risk factors Continued

Liquidity risk Continued

The Company

Less than Between Between Over

year and years and years years

At 31 December 2008

Long-term bank loans

At 31 December 2007

Long-term bank loans 2353 74 1521

Regarding the Groups going concern basis of assumption for the preparation of its financial statements please

refer the details to Note 2.2

3.2 Capital risk management

The Groups objectives when managing capital are

To safeguard the Groups ability to continue as going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and

benefits for other stakeholders

To support the Groups stability
and growth

To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Groups risk management capability

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure the Group reviews and manages its capital structure actively and

regularly to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder returns taking into account the future capital requirements

of the Group and capital efficiency prevailing and projected profitability projected operating cash flows projected

capital expenditures and projected strategic investment opportunities

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-capitalisation ratio This ratio is calculated as interest bearing

debts plus minority interest over interest bearing debts plus total equity Interest bearing debts represent short-term

commercial paper short-term bank loans long-term bank loans amounts due to related parties and corporate

bonds as shown in the consolidated balance sheet Total equity represents capital and reserves attributable to the

Companys equity holders plus minority interest as shown in the consolidated balance sheet

154 China Unicorn FlonjKong Limited Annual Report 2008



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

All amounts in RMB millions unless otherwise stated

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT Continued

3.2 Capital risk management Continued

The Groups debt-to-capitalisation ratios at 31 December 2008 and 2007 are as follows

2007

2008 As restated

Interest bearing debts

Short-term commercial paper 10000 20000

Short-term bank loans 10780 11850

Current portion of long-term bank loans 1216 7411

Long-term bank loans 997 16086

Corporate bonds 7000 2000

Amounts due to related parties 8129

29993 65476

Minority interest

Interest bearing debts plus minority interest 29993 65480

Total equity

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Company 206710 178512

Minority interest

206710 178516

Interest bearing debts plus total equity 236703 243996

Debt-to-capitalisation ratio 2.7% 26.8%

The decrease in debt-to-capitalisation ratio during 2008 resulted primarily from the repayment of short-term commercial

paper and long-term bank loans by utilising the proceeds from the sale of the CDMA Business by the Group and the

issuance of new shares in connection with the merger with China Netcom

3.3 Fair value estimation

The estimate of fair value of the Companys options is determined by using valuation techniques The Group selects

an appropriate valuation method and makes assumptions with reference to market conditions existing at each valuation

date

The fair value of financial instruments that are actively traded is based on the market price as at balance sheet date

The carrying value of trade receivables net of impairment provision and payables are reasonable approximation of

their fair values The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future

contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors including

expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future The resulting accounting estimates may not be

equal to the related actual results The estimates and assumptions that have significant risk of causing material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below

Depreciation on property plant and equipment

Depreciation on the Groups property plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to

allocate cost or revalued amounts up to residual values over the estimated useful lives of the assets The Group

reviews the useful lives and residual values periodically to ensure that the method and rates of depreciation are

consistent with the expected pattern of realisation of economic benefits from property plant and equipment

The Group estimates the useful lives of property plant and equipment based on historical experience taking

into account anticipated technological changes If there are significant changes from previously estimated useful

lives the amount of depreciation expenses may change

Revaluation of property plant and equipment

Property plant and equipment other than buildings and telecommunications equipment of the GSM business

Note 2.6 iii is carried at revalued amounts being the fair value at the date of revaluation less subsequent

accumulated depreciation and impairment Such equipment was revalued on replacement cost or open

market value approach as appropriate by an independent valuer If the revalued amounts differ significantly

from the carrying amounts of the equipment in the future the carrying amounts will be adjusted to the revalued

amounts The key assumptions made to determine the revalued amounts include the estimated replacement

costs and the estimated useful lives of the equipment This will have an impact on the Groups future results

since any subsequent decreases in valuation are first set off against increases on earlier valuations in respect of

the same item and thereafter are charged as an expense to the income statement and any subsequent increases

are credited as income to the income statement up to the amount previously charged to the income statement

and thereafter are charged to equity In addition the depreciation expenses in future periods will change as the

carrying amounts of such equipment change as result of the revaluation
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS Continued

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions Continued

Impairment of non-current assets

The Group tests whether non-current assets have suffered from any impairment in accordance with the

accounting policy stated in Note 2.10 The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less

costs to sell and its value in use Management estimates value in use based on estimated discounted pre-tax

future cash flows of the cash generating unit at the lowest level to which the asset belongs If there is any

significant change in managements assumptions including discount rates or growth rates in the future cash

flow projection the estimated recoverable amounts of the non-current assets and the Groups results would be

significantly affected Such impairment losses are recognised in the income statement except where the asset

is carried at valuation and the impairment loss does not exceed the revaluation surplus for that same asset in

which case the impairment loss is treated as revaluation decrease and charged to the revaluation reserve

Accordingly there will be an impact to the future results if there is significant change in the recoverable

amounts of the non-current assets

For the year ended 31 December 2008 the Group recognised RMB1 1837 million 2007 Nil of impairment loss

on property plant and equipment in relation to the PHS services 1% increase in the discount rate used would

result in an increase in impairment loss of approximately RMB1 million For details please refer to Note

Provision for doubtful debts

Accounts receivables are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest method less provision for impairment The Group evaluates specific accounts receivable

where there are indications that the receivable may be doubtful or is not collectible The Group records

provision based on its best estimates to reduce the receivable balance to the amount that is expected to be

collected For the remaining receivable balances as at each reporting date the Group makes provision based

on observable data indicating that there is measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the

remaining balances The Group makes such estimates based on its past experience historical collection patterns

subscribers creditworthiness and collection trends For general subscribers the Group makes full provision

for receivables aged over months which is consistent with its credit policy with respect to the relevant

subscribers

The Groups estimates described above are based on past experience subscribers creditworthiness and

collection trends If circumstances change e.g due to factors including developments in the Groups business

and the external market environment the Group may need to re-evaluate its policies on doubtful debts and

make additional provisions in the future
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS Continued

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions Continued

Income tax and deferred taxation

The Group estimates its income tax provision and deferred taxation in accordance with the prevailing tax rules

and regulations taking into account any special approvals obtained from relevant tax authorities and any

preferential tax treatment to which it is entitled in each location or jurisdiction in which the Group operates

There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the

ordinary course of business The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates

of whether additional taxes will be due Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the

amounts that were initially recorded such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in

the period in which such determination is made

For temporary differences which give rise to deferred tax assets the Group has assessed the likelihood that the

deferred tax assets could be recovered Major deferred tax assets relate to impairment loss and revaluation

deficit on property plant and equipment provision for doubtful debts deferred revenue and accruals of expenses

not yet deductible for tax purpose Due to the effects of these temporary differences on income tax the Group

has recorded deferred tax assets amounting to approximately RMB5326 million as at 31 December 2008

2007 approximately RMB2514 million Deferred tax assets are recognised based on the Groups estimates

and assumptions that they will be recovered from taxable income arising from continuing operations in the

foreseeable future

The Group believes it has recorded adequate current tax provision and deferred taxes based on the prevailing

tax rules and regulations and its current best estimates and assumptions In the event that future tax rules and

regulations or related circumstances change adjustments to current and deferred taxation may be necessary

which would impact the Groups results or financial position

Equity-settled share options

On 15 October 2008 the Company granted share options under the Special Purpose Share Option Scheme

The fair value of this option which is not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques

The Group uses its judgment to select an appropriate valuation method and makes assumptions that are mainly

based on market conditions existing at the grant date The valuation model requires the input of subjective

assumptions including the volatility of share price dividend yield and expected option life Changes in subjective

input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate For details please refer to Note 32
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS Continued

4.2 Critical judgments in applying the Groups accounting policies

Recognition of upfront non-refundable revenue and direct incremental costs

Mobile telecommunications services

The Group defers and amortises upfront non-refundable revenue including connection fees and activation fees

of SIM cards or UIM cards from cellular subscribers over the expected customer service period Accordingly

the related direct incremental costs of acquiring and activating GSM and CDMA subscribers including costs of

SIM or UIM cards and commissions which are directly associated with upfront non-refundable revenue received

upon activation of cellular services are also capitalised and amortised over the same expected customer service

period The Group only capitalised costs to the extent that they will generate future economic benefits The

excess of the direct incremental costs over the corresponding upfront non-refundable revenue if any are

expensed to the income statement immediately The weighted average customer service period of Cellular

Business based on current estimation after considering the prevailing market environment is approximately

years 2007 approximately years

The expected customer service period for the Cellular Business is estimated based on the expected stabilised

churn rates of subscribers after taking into consideration factors such as customer retention experience the

expected level of competition the risk of technological or functional obsolescence of our services and the

current regulatory environment If the estimate of the expected stabilised churn rate changes for future periods

as result of unexpected changes in competition environment telecommunications technology or regulatory

environment the amount and timing of recognition of these deferred direct incremental costs and deferred

revenue would also be changed

Fixed-line telecommunications services

The Group defers the recognition of upfront customer connection and installation fees and amortises them over

the expected customer relationship period of 10 years The related direct incremental installation costs are

deferred and amortised over the same expected customer relationship period of 10 years except when the

direct incremental costs exceed the corresponding installation fees the excess amounts are immediately written

off as an expense to the income statement

The Group estimates the expected customer relationship period based on the historical customer retention

experience and after factoring in the expected level of future competition the risk of technological or functional

obsolescence to the Groups services technological innovation and the expected changes in the regulatory

and social environment If the Groups estimate of the expected customer relationship period changes as

result of increased competition changes in telecommunications technology or other factors the amount and

timing of recognition of the deferred revenues may change for future periods
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Upon the completion of the merger between the Company and China Netcom on 15 October 2008 the Groups business

has become more diversified and management has reassessed the segment information presentation for the year ended

31 December 2008 The Group revised its basis of reporting to the chief operating decision maker by combining the data

and Internet business and long distance business previously separately reported together with the Fixed-line business to

better reflect its business segment results based on the underlying risk and rewards of the businesses Accordingly the

comparative figures have been restated to conform with the current years presentation

The Groups continuing operations comprise two business segments based on the various types of telecommunications

services mainly provided to customers in Mainland China The major business segments operated by the Group are

classified as follows

Continuing operations

GSM business the provision of GSM telephone and related services in all 31 provinces municipalities and autonomous

regions in Mainland China

Fixed-line business the provision of fixed-line telecommunications and related services in Liaoning Jilin Heilongjiang

Shandong Shanxi Henan and Hebei provinces Neimenggu autonomous region Tianjin and Beijing municipalities

and the provision of domestic and international data and Internet related services and domestic and international

long distance and related services in all 31 provinces municipalities and autonomous regions in Mainland China

previously separately reported by the Group

Discontinued operations

CDMA business the provision of CDMA telephone and related services through leasing arrangement for CDMA

network capacity from Unicom New Horizon

Fixed-line business the provision of fixed-line telecommunications and related services in Guangdong and Shanghai

Branches

The Groups primary measure of segment results is based on segment profit or loss before income tax Unallocated costs

primarily represent corporate expenses realised loss on changes in fair value of derivative component of the convertible

bonds and income tax expense whilst unallocated income represents interest income and other income including the tax

refund on reinvestment in subsidiaries which cannot be identified to different operating segments
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SEGM ENT INFORMATION Continued

5.1 Business Segments

All amounts in RMB millions unless otherwise stated

2008

telecommunications

Discontinued

operations

Up to effective

Continuing operations date of disposal

Total

GSM Fixed-line Unallocated continuing CDMA

business business amounts Elimination operations business Total

64704 82548 147252 19077 166329

products

Total revenue from

550 1104 1654 3253 4907

external customers

Intersegment revenue

Total revenue

Interconnection charges

Depreciation and

amortisation

3471 148906

3345 12011

47678

22330 171236

1692 13703

411 48089
Network operations

and support expenses

Employee benefit expenses

Other operating expenses

Financial income/costs

Interest income

Impairment loss

on property

plant and equipment

Other income net

Segment profitlloss

before income tax

Income tax expenses

Gain on the disposal

of the CDMA business

Profit for the year

Attributable to

Equity holders

of the Company

Minority interest

6658 10038

5137 13718

15976 17272
175 2632
309 105

11837
110 1884

Service revenue

Sales of

65254 83652 148906 22330 171236

157 3314 3471

65411 86966

10753 4603

18786 28892

47
341

668
539

5178695 37

119 16577 7780 24357

18902 1600 20502
33582 8966 42548

714 2411 2417

714 239 10 249

11837 11837

1994 22 2016

8141 1907 10048

1801 469 2270

26135 26135

6340 27573 33913

Other information

Provision for doubtful debts 1371 1529

Capital expenditures

for segment assets

6340 27572 33912

6340 27573 33913

2900 383 3283

33852 26957 9676 70485 70485
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SEGM ENT INFORMATION Continued

5.1 Business Segments Continued

2007

As restated

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Up to effective date ot disposal

Fixed-line

telecommunications

business

Guangdong Total

CDMA and Shanghai
discontinued

47369

54 16022 10203

17540 1823

32776 15227

656 3231 15

656 285 15

632 141 773 48142

91 10294 26316

57 1880 19420

154 15381 48157

26 41 3272

15 300

changes in lair value ot

derivative component ot

the convertible bonds

Other income net

Segment protit/loss

before income tax

Income tax expenses

Gain on the disposal ot

Guangdong and

Shanghai Branches

Profit for the
year

Attributable to

Equity
holders of

the Company

Minority interest

Other information

Provision/reversal

for doubttul debts

Caoital expenditures

for .senmenf

626 626

20158 f280 21438

20158 1279 21437

20158 1280 21438

2200 395 17 378 2578

Total

GSM Fixed-line Unallocated continuing

business business amounts Elimination operations business

Senoce revenue 62547 87200

Sales of

products 12 928

Branches operations
Total

149747 26309 615 26924 176671

Total revenue from

external customers 62559 88128

Intersegment revenue 173 3724 3897

940 4888

Total revenue 62732

Interconnection
charges 10022

Depreciation
and

91852

5032

4888 5828

150687 31197

amortisation 19044 28325

3897 150687

3840 11214

615 31812 182499

31197

2164

Network operations

and support expenses 6256

Employee benefit expenses 4499

Otter
operating expenses 14132

Financial income/costs 134

Interest income 107

Realised loss on

615 31812 182499

151 2315 13529

9820

12996

18619

3297

136

45

28

724

698

569

132 2077 2781

569

4990

569

4999

27241 155 1152 28393

7083 498 7581

9152 15976 2113

1258 1942

assets 16332 20040 9587
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5.1 Business Segments Continued

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

All amounts in RMB millions unless otherwise stated

31 December 2008

GSM COMA Fixed-line Unallocated

business business business amounts Elimination Total

Total segment assets 68782 202645 16329 42832 344924

Total segment liabilities 82027 98699 320 42832 138214

31 December 2007

As restated

GSM CDMA Fixed-line Unallocated

business business business Amounts Elimination Total

Total segment assets 112657 9885 210649 17234 16338 334087

Total segment liabilities 49118 9101 109891 3799 16338 155571

Capital expenditures classified under Unallocated amounts represent capital expenditures on common facilities

which benefit all business segments

5.2 Geographical Segments

The customers of the Groups services are mainly in Mainland China There is no other geographical segment with

segment revenue from external customers equal to or greater than 10% of total revenue of the Group

In addition although the Group has its corporate headquarters in Hong Kong substantial portion of the Groups

non-current assets including property plant and equipment and other assets are situated in Mainland China as the

Groups principal activities are conducted in Mainland China For 2008 and 2007 substantially all capital expenditures

incurred by the Group were to acquire assets located in Mainland China and less than 10% of the Groups assets

and operations are located outside Mainland China Accordingly no geographical segment information is presented
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PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The movement of property plant and equipment for the years ended 31 December 2007 and 2008 are as follows
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The Group

2007 As restated

Tele

Tele- communications

communications equipment

equipment ot ot Fixed-

Buildings GSM business line business

Office

furniture

fixtures

motor vehicles

and others

Leasehold Construction

14804

27545

134810

improvements

34002

-in-progress Total

9675

18899

1388 13670

166 6335

Cost or valuation

Beginning of year As previously reported

2008 Business combination under

common control Note 289263

Change of accounting policy on

measurement of property

plant
and equipment Note 22 377 3985 4362

BeginningotyearAsresfated 41972 134810 319280 28574 1554 20005 546195

Additions 221 154 849 1089 42880 45201

Transfer from CIP 2422 18793 17356 3777 437 42785

Disposal of discontinued operations 413 7635 344 137 1134 9663

Disposas 108 2097 2139 678 205 5227

208349

342208

End of
year iAs restatedl

Representing

At cost

At valuation

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Beginning of year As previously reported

2008 Business combination under

common control Note

Change of accounting policy on

measurement of property

plant and equipment Note 2.2

Beginning
of

year As restatedl

Charge for the
year

Impairment
loss for the

year

Disposal of discontinued operations

Disposals

End ot year As restated

Net book value

End of year As restated

Beginning of year
As restated

44094 151660 327711 32418 1657 18966 576506

44094 151660 18966 214720

327711 32418 1657 361786

44094 151660 327711 32418 1657 18966 576506

3568 71725 14413 5032 802 14 95554

7081 151127 9446 78 167732

28 3171 3199

1062f 71725 162369 14478 880 14 260087

1326 15684 26001 3695 292 10 47008

60 1867 137 74 2138

78 1963 1702 613 205 4561

11809 85446 184801 17423 893 24 300396

32285 66214 142910 14995 764 18942 276110

31351 63085 156911 14096 674 19991 286108
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PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT Continued

The Group

2008

Tele- Office

Tele- communications furniture

communications equipment fixtures

equipment of of Fixed- motor vehicles Leasehold Construction

Buildings GSM business line business and others improvements -in-progress Total

Cost or valuation

Beginning ot year As previously reported 16361 151660 35481 10984 1612 14966 231064

2008 Business combination

undercommoncontrolNotel 28110 296215 21434 45 4000 349804

Change ot accounting policy on

measurement ot property

plant and equipment Note 2.2 377 3985 4362

Beginning ot
year As restated 44094 151660 327711 32418 1657 18966 576506

Additions 200 194 1272 1067 67745 70485

TransferfromClP 2039 17931 21797 3788 350 45905

Disposal of discontinued operations 1077 3469 284 23 4859

Disposals 306 3037 5637 903 381 10264

End of
year 44950 163279 345143 36086 1627 40783 631868

Representing

Atcost 44950 163279 40783 249012

At valuation 345143 36086 1627 382856

44950 163279 345143 36086 1627 40783 631868

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Beginning of
year As previously reported 3827 85446 18230 6505 878 14 114900

2008 Business combination

under common control Note 8024 169897 10918 15 10 188864

Change of
accounting policy on

measurement of
property

plant and equipment Note 2.2
42 3326 3368

Beginning of year As restated 11809 85446 184801 17423 893 24 300396

Charge for the year 1612 15110 25589 4202 269 46791

Impairment loss for the year 11825 12 11837

Disposal of discontinued operations
190 1546 126 1862

Disposals
212 3068 4733 831 349 13 9206

End of year 13019 95942 217482 20668 813 32 347956

Net book value

End of
year 31931 67337 127661 15418 814 40751 283912

Beginning
of

year As restated 32285 66214 142910 14995 764 18942 276110
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PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT Continued

As at 31 December 2008 the carrying value of all the revalued property plant and equipment aforementioned would have

been approximately RMB1 52989 million 2007 approximately RMB 172262 million had they been stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment The directors of the Company consider the fair values of these revalued

property plant and equipment were not materially different from their carrying values as at 31 December 2008

As at 31 December 2008 the net book value of assets held under finance leases was approximately RMB52 million 2007

408 million

For the year ended 31 December 2008 interest expense of approximately RMB26O million 2007 approximately RMB439

million was capitalised to construction-inprogress The capitalised borrowing rate represents the cost of capital for

raising the related borrowings externally and varied from 3.51% to 6.80 for the year ended 31 December 2008 2007

3.60% to 5.82%

For the year ended 31 December 2008 the Group recognised loss on disposal of property plant and equipment of

approximately RMB33 million 2007 approximately RM8142 million

Upon the completion of the merger with China Netcom Note management reconsidered the Groups strategy regarding

the PHS services business and expected to gradually phase out this operation Accordingly it was expected that the

economic performance of PHS services business would deteriorate significantly Updated analyses and forecasts were

prepared by the Group to determine if there had been an impairment of assets The test for impairment was conducted for

the PHS services related equipment after considering the expected significant decline in revenue and
profitability

in 2009

and onwards The impaired PHS services related equipment was written down to their recoverable values which was

determined based on their estimated value in use Estimated value in use is determined based on the present value of

estimated future net cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of the PHS services related equipment In

estimating the future net cash flows the Group has made key assumptions and estimates on the appropriate discount

rate of 15/b the period covered by the cash flow forecast of years the future loss of customers at an annual rate of

decline ranging from 60% to 80% and the decrease in average revenue per subscriber at an annual rate of decline at

15%

These assumptions and estimates are made after considering the historical trends the prevailing market trends expected

remaining life of the PHS services business and the physical conditions of the PHS services related equipment Based on

the above the Group recognised an impairment loss on PHS services related equipment of approximately RMB1 1837

million for the year ended 31 December 2008 2007 Nil
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PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT Continued

The Company

2008 2007

Office

furniture

Tele- fixtures

communications motor vehicles Construction

equipment and others in-progress Total Total

Cost

Beginning of year 48 59 59

Additions

Transfer from CIP 11 11

Disposals

End of year 56 62 59

Accumulated depreciation

Beginning of year 15 22 20

Charge for the year

Disposals

End of year 16 22 22

Net book value

End of year 40 40 37

Beginning of year 33 37 39

LEASE PREPAYMENTS GROUP

The Groups long-term prepayment for land use rights represents prepaid operating lease payments for land use rights in

Mainland China and their net book value is analysed as follows

The Group

2007

2008 As restated

Held on

Leases of between 10 to 50 years 7734 7998

Leases of less than 10 years 65 65

7799 8063

For the year ended 31 December 2008 the long-term prepayment for land use rights expensed in the income statement

amounted to approximately RMB224 million 2007 approximately RMB261 million
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GOODWILL GROUP

2008 2007

Cost

Beginningofyear 3144 3144

Disposal of the CDMA Business 373

End of year 2771 3144

Goodwill arising from the acquisitions of Unicorn New Century Telecommunications Co Ltd and Unicom New World

Telecommunications Co Ltd by the Company in 2002 and 2003 respectively represented the excess of the purchase

consideration over the Groups shares of the fair values of the separately identifiable net assets acquired prior to the

adoption of HKFRS and AG in 2005 refer to Note 2.3a

Goodwill is allocated to the Groups cash-generating units CGU identified according to business segments As at 31

December 2008 all the carrying value of goodwill was attributable to the GSM business The recoverable amount of

goodwill is determined based on value in use calculations These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections for years

based on financial budgets approved by management including revenue annual growth rate of 6% and the applicable

discount rate of 12% Management determined expected operation results based on past performance and its expectations

in relation to market developments The expected growth rates used are consistent with the forecasts of the business

segments The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the CGU Based on managements

assessment results there was no impairment of goodwill as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 and no reasonable change

to the assumptions would lead to an impairment

Upon disposal of the CDMA business effective on October 2008 goodwill of approximately RMB373 million attributable

to the CDMA business arising from the above acquisitions was derecognised

TAXATION-GROUP

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% 2007 17.5% on the estimated assessable profit for the

year Taxation on profits from outside Hong Kong has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the year at

the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates the Companys subsidiaries are mainly operated

in PRC the applicable standard enterprise income tax rate is 25% 2007 33%

The Group

2007

2008 As restated

Provision for enterprise income tax on the

estimated taxable profits for the year

Hong Kong 24 18

Outside Hong Kong 4631 7169

4655 7187

Deferred taxation 2854 104

Income tax pense 1801 7083

The Group
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TAXATION GROUP Continued

Pursuant to the new PRC enterprise income tax law passed by the Tenth National Peoples Congress on 16 March

2007 the new enterprise income tax rates for domestic and foreign enterprises are unified at 25% and are effective

from January 2008 2007 33% However for entities operating in special economic zones that previously enjoyed

preferential tax rates the applicable tax rate will be increased progressively to 25% over five-year period

On December 2007 the State Council issued the detailed implementation regulations of the new PRC enterprise

income tax law Pursuant to the regulations 5% withholding income tax will be levied on dividends declared on or

after January 2008 by foreign investment enterprises to their foreign shareholders in Hong Kong Pursuant to

notice jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation on 22 February 2008 where

foreign investment enterprises declare dividends in 2008 and beyond out of their cumulative retained profits as at 31

December 2007 such dividends are exempt from withholding income tax For dividends paid out of profits earned by

foreign investment enterprises after January 2008 the 5% withholding income tax will be applicable unless the

investor is deemed as PRC Tax Resident Enterprise TRE Currently the PRC tax authority has not yet announced

the formal guideline on the certification procedure of PRC TRE The Company has made an assessment based on

existing laws and regulations and other factors such as sources of income composition of the Board of Directors and

the location of major assets and accounting records and concluded that it met the definition of PRO TRE after

assessment Therefore as at 31 December 2008 the Companys subsidiaries in the PRO did not accrue withholding

tax on dividends distributed to the Company and there is no deferred tax liability accrued in the Groups consolidated

financial statements for the undistributed profit of the Companys subsidiaries in the PRO for the year ended 31

December 2008 The Group will continue to assess the impact on the financial statements in accordance with the

detailed guideline to be issued by the PRO tax authority in future If the Company is determined not to be qualified for

the TRE status deferred tax liabilities would be recorded by the Group for the undistributed profits of the Oompanys

subsidiaries in the PRO

Reconciliation between applicable statutory tax rate and the effective tax rate

The Group

2007

Note 2008 As restated

Applicable PRO statutory tax rate 25.0% 33.0%

Non-deductible expenses 3.0% 0.7%

Realised loss on changes in fair value

of derivative component of the convertible bonds 0.7%

Non-taxable income

Tax refund on reinvestment in subsidiaries 27 4.9%

Upfront connection fees arising from Fixed-line business 4.8% 2.8%

Impact of PRO preferential tax rates and tax holiday 0.8% 0.8%

Effect of change of tax rate under

the new PRO enterprise income tax law 0.3%

Others 0.3% 0.2%

Effective tax rate 22.1 26.0%
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TAXATION GROUP Continued

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is legally enforceable right to offset tax assets against tax

liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same tax authority The offset amounts are as follows

The Group

2007

2008 As restated

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax asset to be recovered after 12 months 4891 2617

Deferred tax asset to be recovered within 12 months 1605 1409

6496 4026

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities to be settled after 12 months 931 533

Deferred tax liabilities to be settled within 12 months 239 979

1170 1512

Net deferred tax assets after offsetting 5326 2514

Deferred tax liabilities that cannot be offset 16 17

There were no material unrecognised deferred tax assets as at 31 December 2008 and 2007
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TAXATION GROUP Continued

The movement of the net deferred tax assets/liabilities is as follows

The Group

2007

2008 As restated

Net deferred tax assets after offsetting

Beginning of year 2514 2994

Deferred tax credited/charged to the income statement

Continuing operations 2853 106

Discontinued operations 35 32
Deferred tax charged to equity 529

Disposal of discontinued operations 25

End of year 5326 2514

The deferred tax liabilities that cannot be offset

Beginning of year 17 15
Deferred tax credited/charged to the income statement

Endofyear 16 17
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TAXATION GROUP Continued

Deferred taxation as at year-end represents the taxation effect of the following temporary differences taking into

consideration the offsetting of balances related to the same tax authority

The Group

2007

Note 2008 As restated

Mainland China

Deferred tax assets

Provision for doubtful debts 788 742

Impairment loss on property plant and equipment 2924 20

Unrecognised revaluation surplus on property

plant and equipment 1991 2061

Revaluation deficit on property plant and equipment ii 170 236

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 11 41

Accruals of expenses not yet deductible for tax purpose
145 144

Deferral and amortisation of upfront non-refundable revenue 177 396

Deferred revenue on subscriber points reward programe 43 177

Deferred revenue in relation to the provision of supporting

services upon the disposal of the CDMA Business 37.2b 102

Accruals of retirement benefits 33 40

Others 112 169

6496 4026

Deferred tax liabilities

Capitalisation and amortisation of direct incremental costs 124 322

Capitalised interest already deducted for tax purpose 703 830

Revaluation surplus on property plant and equipment 343 360

1170 1512

5326 2514

Outside Mainland China

Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated depreciation for tax purpose 16 17

Prior to the merger the prepayments tor the leasehold land and buildings held by China Netcom were revalued for PRC tax

purposes as at 31 December 2003 and 2004 However the resulting revaluations of the prepayments for the leasehold land

and buildings were not recognised under IFRS/HKFRS Accordingly deferred tax assets were recorded by the Group under

IFRS/HKFRS

ii The property plant and equipment other than buildings and telecommunications equipment of GSM business are carried at

revalued amount under IFRS/HKFRS which are not used for PRC tax reporting purposes As result the Group recorded the

deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from the revaluation deficit or surplus under IFRS/HKFRS
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10 OTHER ASSETS GROUP

The Group

2007

Note 2008 As restated

Direct incremental costs for activating mobile subscribers 499 1301

Customer acquisition costs of contractual CDMA subscribers 4.2a 2349

Installation costs of Fixed-line services 2251 2848

Prepaid rental for premises and leased lines 2121 887

Purchased software 2837 2432

Others 288 264

8996 12081
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11 INVESTMENTS IN AND LOANS/AMOUNT DUE TO/FROM SUBSIDIARIES COMPANY

Investments in subsidiaries

The Company

2007

2008 As restated

Unlisted equity investments at cost 159761 55938

As at 31 December 2008 the details of the Companys subsidiaries are as follows

Place and date of

Percentage of Particular

incorporation and

equity interests held of issued Principal activities

nature of

Name legal entity Direct Indirect share
capital

and place of operation

China United Network The PRC 100% RMB Telecommunications

Communications 21 April 2000 64721120000 operation in the PRC

Corporation Limited limited
liability company

formerly known as

China Unicom

Corporation Limited

Unicom New World British Virgin Islands 100% 1000 shares Investment
holding

BVI Limited November 2003 HKD1 each in BVI

limited company

China Unicorn Hong Kong 100% 60100000 Telecommunications

International Limited 24 May 2000 shares HKD1 each service in Hong Kong

limited company

China Unicom USA The United States of 100% USD Telecommunications

Corporation America the USA 500000 service in the USA

24 May 2002

corporation

Billion Express British Virgin Islands 100% share Investment holding

Investments Limited 15 August 2007 USD1 each in BVI

limited company

China Unicorn Limited Hong Kong 100% shares Dormant

formerly known as 31 August 2007 HKD1 each

Central Link limited company

Investment Limited

Unicorn Vsens The PRC 100% RMB Sales of handsets

Telecommunications 19 August 2008 500000000 telecommunication

Company Limited limited liability equipment and

company provision ot technical

services in the PRC
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11 INVESTMENTS IN AND LOANS/AMOUNT DUE TO/FROM SUBSIDIARIES COMPANY

Continued

Investments in subsidiaries Continued

Place and date of

incorporation and Percentage of Particular

nature of equity interests held of issued Principal activities

Name legal entity Direct Indirect share capital and place of operation

China Unicorn Mobile The PRC 100% RMB Construction and

Network Company 31 December 2008 500000000 maintenance of

Limited limited liability company the network in the PRC

China Netcom Group Hong Kong 100% 6699197200 Investment holding

Corporation 22 October 1999 shares in Hong Kong

Hong Kong Limited limited company USD0.04 each

China Netcom Group The PRC 100% RMB Provision of network

Company Limited August 1999 73370557827.69 communications

limited liability company services in the PRC

China Netcom Corporation Bermuda 100% USD Investment holding

International Limited 15 October 2002 12000 in Bermuda

limited company

China Netcom Group The PRC 100% RMB Provision of

System Integration
30

April 2006 550000000 system integration

Limited Corporation limited liability company services in the PIRC

China Netcom Group The PRC 100% RMB Provision of intemet

Broadband Online Limited 29 March 2006 30000000 information services

Corporation limited liability company and value-added

telecommunications

services in the PRC

Beijing Telecommunications The PRC 100% RMB Provision of

Planning and Designing June 2007 264227115.02 telecommunications

Institute Corporation limited liability company network construction

Limited planning and technical

consuing services

in the PRC
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11 INVESTMENTS IN AND LOANS/AMOUNT DUE TO/FROM SUBSIDIARIES COMPANY

Continued

Loans to subsidiaries

In October 2003 the Company and CUCL signed an agreement for long-term unsecured loan of USD700

million with terms similar to the long-term syndicated bank loan of the Company to finance the network construction

of CUCL Note 19a The loan was split into tranches USD200 million 3-year loan ii USD300 million 5-year

loan and iii USD200 million 7-year loan and carried an interest rate of 0.4% 0.47% and 0.55% over US dollar

LI BOA per annum respectively During 2006 CUCL
fully repaid the USD200 million 3-year loan In September

and November 2008 CUCL has repaid the USD300 million 5-year loan and USD200 million 7-year loan

respectively

uI In September 2006 the Company and CUCL signed an agreement for long-term unsecured loan of USD995

million The loan is interest bearing at 5.67% per annum and wholly repayable in 2009

iii In July 2006 the Company and Unicom Macau signed an agreement for long-term loan facility of HKD6O

million During 2008 Unicom Macau has fully utilised the facility The loans are unsecured interest-free and

repayable in September 2008 In November 2008 Unicorn Macau has fully repaid the loan The facility was

discontinued subsequent to the repayment of the loan

In September 2007 the Company and Unicorn Macau signed another agreement for long-term loan facility of

M0P40 million Unicorn Macau did not utilise this
facility

and it was discontinued upon the disposal of the

CDMA Business

iv The carrying amounts of loans to subsidiaries approximated their fair values as at the balance sheet date

Amounts due to/from subsidiaries

The amounts due to/from subsidiaries other than loans to subsidiaries as disclosed above are unsecured interest-

free and repayable on demand

12 INVENTORIES AND CONSUMABLES GROUP

The Group

2007

2008 As restated

Handsets and other customer end products 302 753

Telephone cards 403 585

Consumables 422 449

Others 44 28

1171 2815
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13 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE NET GROUP

The Group

2007

2008 As restated

Accounts receivable for GSM business 3098 2559

Accounts receivable for CDMA business 1637

Accounts receivable for Fixed-line business 8689 9788

Sub-total 11787 13984

Less Provision for doubtful debts for GSM business 1347 1028
Provision for doubtful debts for COMA business 442

Provision for doubtful debts for Fixed-line business 1853 1500

8587 11014

The aging analysis of accounts receivable is as follows

The Group

2007

2008 As restated

Within one month 6078 7295

More than one month to three months 479 2595

More than three months to one year 2792 2882

More than one year 438 21

11787 13984

The normal credit period granted by the Group is on average between 30 days to 90 days from the date of billing

There is no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to individual customers receivables as the Group has

large number of customers

As at 31 December 2008 accounts receivable of approximately RMB2039 million 2007 approximately 2726 million

were past due but not impaired These relate to customers for which there is no recent history of default The aged

analysis of these receivables was as follows

The Group

2007

2008 As restated

More than one month to three months 546 2095

More than three months to one year 323 499

More than one year 170 132

2039 2726
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13 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE NET GROUP Continued

As at 31 December 2008 accounts receivable of approximately RMB3200 million 2007 approximately RMB2970 million

were impaired The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to subscriber usage fees The aging of these receivables

is as follows

The Group

2007

2008 As restated

More than three months to one year
2023 2054

More than one year
1177 916

3200 2970

Provision for doubtful debts is analysed as follows

The Group

2007

2008 As restated

Balance beginning of year
2970 4386

Provision for the year

Continuing operations 2900 2200

Discontinued operations
383 378

Written-off during the year 2393 3954

Disposal of discontinued operations 660 40

Balance end of year
3200 2970

The creation and release of provisions for impaired receivables have been recognised in the income statement Amounts

charged to the allowance account are generally written-off when there is reliable evidence to indicate no expectation of

recovering additional cash

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of accounts receivable mentioned above The

Group does not hold any collateral as security
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14 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

The Group The Company

2007

Note 2008 As restated 2008 2007

Prepaid rental 670 526

Deposits and prepayments 800 915

Advances to employees 226 225

Customer acquisition costs of

contractual CDMA subscribers 4.2a 508

Tax refund on reinvestment

in subsidiaries 27 1459

Others 731 681

2427 4314 12

The aging analysis of prepayments and other current assets is as follows

The Group The Company

2007

2008 As restated 2008 2007

Withinoneyear 2106 3989 10

More than one year 321 325

2427 4314 12

As at 31 December 2008 there was no impairment for the prepayments and other current assets

15 SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS

The Group The Company

2007

2008 As restated 2008 2007

Bank deposits with maturity exceeding three months 221 721 122 636

Restricted bank deposits 17 14

238 735 122 636

As at 31 December 2008 restricted bank deposits primarily represented deposits that were subject to externally imposed

restriction relating to construction payable as requested by contractor
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16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2008 As restated 2008 2007

Cash at bank and in hand 8721 388 31

Bank deposits with original maturities

of three months or less 517 591 325 463

9238 11979 330 494

17 SHARE CAPITAL COMPANY

The Company

2008 2007

HKD millions HKD millions

Authorised

30000000000 ordinary shares of HKDO.10 each 3000 3000

Ordinary

shares

Number of par value of

shares HKD0.1 each Share Share

Issued and fully paid millions HKD millions capital premium Total

Ati January2007 12681 1268 1344 53223 54567

Employee share option scheme

Issuance of shares upon exercise

of options Note 32 54 366 371

Conversion of convertible bonds 900 90 88 0731 10819

At31 December2007 13635 1363 1437 64320 65757

Employee share option scheme

Issuance of shares upon exercise

of options Note 32 31 252 255

Issuance of shares in connection with

2008 Business Combination Note 10102 1010 889 102212 103101

At 31 December 2008 23768 2376 2329 166784 169113

Note Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary general meeting held on 16 September 2008 the Company

issued 10102389377 ordinary shares of HKDO10 each at price of HKD11.60 per share with fair value or total price of

approxtmately RMB1 03.1 billion on 15 October 2008 in exchange for the entire issued share capital of China Netcom Please

refer to Note for details
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18 RESERVES

Nature and purpose of statutory reserves

CUCL and CNC China are registered as foreign investment enterprises in the PRO In accordance with the respective

Articles of Association they are required to provide for certain statutory reserves namely general reserve fund and

staff bonus and welfare fund which are appropriated from profit after tax and minority interests but before dividend

distribution

CUCL and CNC China are required to allocate at least 10% of their profit after tax and minority interests determined

under the PRO Company Law to the general reserve fund until the cumulative amounts reach 50% of the registered

capital The statutory reserve can only be used upon approval obtained from the relevant authority to offset

accumulated losses or increase capital

Accordingly CUOL and CNC China appropriated approximately RMB3523 million and RMB19 million respectively

2007 approximately RMB71 million and RMB 868 million respectively to the general reserve fund for the year

ended 31 December 2008

Appropriation to the staff bonus and welfare fund is at the discretion of the directors The staff bonus and welfare

fund can only be used for special bonuses or the collective welfare of the employees and cannot be distributed as

cash dividends Under IFRS/HKFRS the appropriations to the staff bonus and welfare fund will be charged to the

income statement as expenses incurred since any assets acquired through this fund belong to the employees For

the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 no appropriation to staff bonus and welfare fund has been made by

CUOL or ONC China

According to PRO tax approval document issued by the Ministry of Finance and State Administration of Taxation to

the Group the Groups upfront connection fees in respect of Fixed-line business are not subject to PRO enterprise

income tax and an amount equal to the upfront connection fees recognised in the retained profits should be transferred

from retained profits to statutory reserve Up to 31 December 2008 the Group has made an accumulated

appropriation of approximately RMB1 1592 million to the statutory reserve Up to 31 December 2007 approximately

RMB1 0706 million

Profit attributable to equity holders

For the year ended 31 December 2008 profit attributable to equity holders included profit of approximately RMB4474

million 2007 approximately RMB2908 million which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company

As at 31 December 2008 the amount of profit distributable to equity holders of the Company amounted to

approximately RMB5083 million 2007 approximately RMB3341 million
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19 LONG-TERM BANK LOANS

The Group The Company

2007

Interest rates and final maturity 2008 As restated 2008 2007

RMB denominated bank loans Fixed interest rates of 3.60%

per annum with maturity through 2010

unsecured 200

200

RMB denominated bank loans
Floating

interest rates
ranging

from

486% to 6.80% 2007 2.40% to 10.08%

per annum with maturity through

2009 2007 maturity through 2009

-unsecured 1114 18399

1114 18399

usD

denominated bank loans Fixed interest rates
ranging

from Nil to 5.65%

2007 Nil to 6.15% per annum with maturity

through 2039 2007 maturity through 2039

-secured 146 211

unsecured 377 377

523 588

USD

denominated bank loans Floating interest rates of USD LIBOR
plus

interest margin 0.35% to 0.44% for 2007

per annum with maturity through 2010

unsecured 3652 3652

3652 3652

Japanese Yen

denominated bank loans Fixed interest rates of 2.12% 2007 2.12%

per
annum with maturity through 2014

2007 maturity through 2014

unsecured 234 234

234 234
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Interest rates and final maturity

The Group

2007

2008 As restated

The Company

2008 2007

Euro

denominated bank loans

unsecured

Fixed interest rates ranging from 0.50%

to 250% 2007 1.10% to 7.85%

per annum with maturity through

2034 2007 maturity through 2034

Fixed interest rates of 3.75% for 2007

per annum with maturity through 2010

342 415

Sub-total

Less Current
portion

2213

1216

HKD

denominated bank loans

unsecured

342 415

23497

7411

997 16086

3652

2191

1461

The repayment schedule of the long-term bank loans is as follows

The Group The Company

2007

2008 As restated 2008 2007

Balances due

no later than one year 1216 7411 2191

later than one year and no later than two years 96 9671

later than two years and no later than five years 287 3613 1461

later than five years 614 2802

2213 23497 3652

Less Portion classified as current liabilities 21 7411 2191

997 16086 1461
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19 LONG-TERM BANK LOANS Continued

On 26 September 2003 the Company signed an agreement with 13 financial institutions for long-term syndicated

loan of USD700 million This facility was split
into tranches USD200 million 3-year loan ii USD300 million 5-year

loan and iii USD200 million 7-year loan and carried an interest rate of 0.28% 0.35% and 0.44% over US dollar

LIBOR per annum for each tranche respectively In October 2003 the Company and CUCL entered into an agreement

to re-lend such funds to CUCL with similar terms to finance the network construction of CUCL The Company fully

repaid the USD200 million 3-year loan in 2006 the USD300 million 5-year loan in September 2008 and the USD200

million 7-year loan in November 2008 after obtaining consent for repayment from the relevant lenders

The fair values of the Groups non-current portion of long-term bank loans at 31 December 2008 and 2007 were as

follows

The Group

2007

2008 As restated

Long-term bank loans 690 14547

The fair value is based on cash flows discounted using rates based on the market rates ranging from 4.59% to 6.56%

31 December 2007 3.25% to 7.05%

As at 31 December 2008 bank loans of approximately AMB1 46 million 2007 approximately RMB1 63 million were

secured by corporate guarantees granted by third parties

As at 31 December 2008 there were no corporate guarantees granted by Netcom Group 2007 approximately

RMB49 million

20 CORPORATE BONDS

On June 2007 the Group issued RMB2 billion 10-year corporate bonds bearing interest at 4.5% per annum The

corporate bonds are secured by corporate guarantee granted by Bank of China Limited

On September 2008 the Group issued another RMB billion 5-year corporate bonds bearing interest at 5.29% per

annum The corporate bonds are secured by corporate guarantee granted by State Grid Corporation of China

21 CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 20 August 2007 the Company received notice delivered by SK Telecom Co Ltd SK Telecom the sole holder of

outstanding zero coupon convertible bonds of USD1 billion pursuant to the terms and conditions of the convertible bonds

for the conversion in full of the convertible bonds into the Companys shares Accordingly on 31 August 2007 the

Company allotted and issued 899745075 ordinary shares of HKDO 10 each of the Company to SK Telecom

Prior to the conversion the change in the fair value of the conversion option from 31 December 2006 to 20 August 2007

resulted in fair value loss of approximately RMB569 million which has been recorded in the Realised loss on changes in

fair value of derivative component of convertible bonds in the income statement for the year ended 31 December 2007

The convertible bonds with carrying value of approximately RMB1 0818 million as at 20 August 2007 were fully converted

into 890745075 ordinary shares of HKDO.10 each of the Company The share conversion resulted in an increase in share

capital and share premium by approximately RMB88 million and RMB1 0731 million respectively Note 17
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Contractual

obligations in

relation to

early

retirement

benefits

Note

Provision made

in relation to

one-off cash

housing

subsidies

Note

As at January 2007

Additions during the year

Payments during the year

As at 31 December 2007

Analysis of total other obligations

current portion

non-current portion

As at January 2008

Additions during the year

Payments during the year

As at 31 December 2008

2502 3012

1599

2502 4611

3137

Total

3185 6322

605 329 934

2532 2856 5388

525 2856 3381

2007 2007

2532 2856 5388

2532 2856 5388

423 354 777

2109 2502 4611

Analysis of total other obligations

current portion

non-current portion

510

1599

2109
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22 OTHER OBLIGATIONS GROUP Continued

Certain staff quarters prior to 1998 have been sold to certain of the Groups employees at preferential prices

subject to number of
eligibility requirements In 1998 the State Council issued circular which stipulated that the

sale of quarters to employees at preferential prices should be terminated In 2000 the State Council issued further

circular stating that cash subsidies should be made to certain eligible employees following the withdrawal of the

allocation of staff quarters However the specific timetable and procedures for the implementation of these policies

were to be determined by individual provincial or municipal government based on the particular situation of the

provinces or municipality

Based on the relevant detailed local government regulations promulgated certain entities within the Group have

adopted cash housing subsidy plans In accordance with these plans for those eligible employees who had not been

allocated with quarters or who had not been allocated with quarters up to the prescribed standards before the

discounted sales or quarters were terminated the Group is required to pay them one-off cash housing subsidies

based on their years of service positions and other criteria Based on the available information the Group estimated

the required provision for these cash housing subsidies amounting to RMB4142 million which was charged to the

income statement in the year ended 31 December 2000 the year in which the Council circular in respect of cash

subsidies was issued

Pursuant to the reorganisation undertaken on 30 June 2004 between China Netcom China Netcom Holding Company

Limited and Netcom Group and the acquisition of the principal telecommunications operations assets and liabilities

in the four Northern provinces/autonomous region namely Shanxi province Neimenggu autonomous region Jilin

province and Heilongjiang province from Netcom Group the Acquisition of New Horizon if the actual payments

required for these subsidies and early retirement benefits differ from the amount provided as at 30 June 2004 and 30

June 2005 Netcom Group will bear any additional payments required or will be paid the difference if the actual

payments are lower than the amount provided Upon the completion of Parent Merger Unicom Group has assumed

all the rights and obligations of Netcom Group

23 PAYABLES AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

The Group The Company

2007

2008 As restated 2008 2007

Payables to contractors and equipment suppliers 52389 32700

Payables to telecommunications product suppliers 1491 2949

Customer/contractor deposits 2082 2826

Repair and maintenance expense payables 1511 1774

Salary and welfare payables 949 1311

Interest payable
263 468 27

Amounts due to services providers/content providers 961 1256

Accrued expenses
3064 3534

Others 2977 2494 104 31

65687 49312 104 58
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23 PAYABLES AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES Continued

The aging analysis of payables and accrued liabilities is as follows

The Group The Company

2007

2008 As restated 2008 2007

Less than six months 51975 36502 104 58

Six months to one year 7052 6754

More than one year 6660 6056

65687 49312 104 58

24 SHORT-TERM COMMERCIAL PAPER GROUP

CNC China issued two lots of RMB1 billion each unsecured commercial paper with repayment periods of 365 days and

270 days on 30 April 2007 and 18 September 2007 in the PRC capital market respectively The effective interest rates are

3.34% and 3.93% per annum respectively The aggregated net cash proceeds raised in these exercises was RMB2O

billion These commercial papers were fully repaid on May 2008 and 16 June 2008 respectively

CNC China issued RMB1 billion unsecured commercial paper with repayment periods of 365 days on October 2008 in

the PRC capital market The effective interest rate is 4.47% per annum The net cash proceeds raised in the PRC capital

market were RMB1O billion

25 SHORT-TERM BANK LOANS GROUP

The Group

2007

Interest rates and final maturity 2008 As restated

RMB denominated bank loans Fixed interest rates ranging from 4.54%

to 6.80% 2007 4.86% to 6.72%

per annum with maturity through 2009

2007 maturity through 2008

-unsecured 10780 11850

10780 11850

The carrying values of short-term bank loans approximate their fair values as at the balance sheet date
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26 REVENUE GROUP

The tariffs for the services provided by the Group are subject to regulations by various government authorities including

the NDRC the MIIT and the provincial price regulatory authorities

Revenue from continuing operations is presented net of business tax and government surcharges Relevant business tax

and government surcharges amounted to approximately RMB4 164 million for the year ended 31 December 2008 2007

approximately RMB4191 million

The major components of revenue for continuing operations are as follows

2007

2008 As restated

GSM business

Usage and monthly fees 40464 42077

Value-added services revenue 16263 13528

Interconnection fee 6858 5851

Other service revenue 1119 1091

Total GSM service revenue 64704 62547

Fixed-line business

Usage and monthly fees 37324 44227

Broadband services revenue 18114 14273

Interconnection fees 7500 7911

Value-added services revenue 6591 6758

Leased line income 4597 3741

Information communications technology services revenue 3124 3986

Other Internet-related services and managed data services revenue 1673 1835

Upfront installation fees 1181 1283

Upfront connection fees 886 1517

Advertising and media services revenue 697 380

Other service revenue
861 1289

Total Fixed-line service revenue 82548 87200

Sales of telecommunications products 1654 940

Total revenue from external customers 148906 150687
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27 OTHER INCOME NET GROUP

2007

Note 2008 As restated

Continuing operations

Tax refund on reinvestment in subsidiaries 4001

Gain on the non-monetary assets exchange 305 386

Others 689 603

1994 4990

Note During 2007 the Company and China Netcom reinvested the undistributed profits into the subsidiaries and were granted

refund of portion of the taxes previously paid by these subsidiaries as permitted under the tax law effective until 31 December

2007 This tax refund on reinvestment in subsidiaries was recorded as other income

Note Please refer to Note biii to the consolidated cash flow statement for details

28 NETWORK OPERATIONS AND SUPPORT EXPENSES GROUP

2007

2008 As restated

Continuing operations

Repair and maintenance 5431 5466

Power and water charges 5451 4952

Operating leases 3613 3453

Consumables 1384 1524

Others 698 627

Total network operations and support expenses 6577 16022
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29 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES GROUP

2007

2008 As restated

Property management charge

Office and administrative expenses

Transportation expense

Miscellaneous taxes and tees

Others
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2900

2067

2461

10104

2669

961

2650

107

1090

2440

1714

566

2853

2200

1233

3491

9784

2601

2036

3068

123

923

2728

1492

504

2593

Continuing operations

Provision for doubtful debts

Cost of telecommunications products sold

Cost of hardware sold in relation to information

communications technology services

Commission expenses

Advertising and promotion expenses

Customer installation cost

Customer acquisition and retention cost

Auditors remuneration

30

Total other operating expenses
33582 32776

FINANCE COSTS GROUP

2007

Note 2008 As restated

Continuing operations

Finance costs

Interest on bank loans corporate bonds and

commercial paper repayable within years 2367 2992

Interest on bank loans repayable over years
144 198

Interest expense on convertible bonds 242

Deferred consideration related to Acquisition of New Horizon 224 375

Less Amounts capitalised in construction-in-progress 260 439

Total interest expense 2475 3368

Exchange gain net 270 457

Others 206 320

Total finance costs 241 3231



31 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES GROUP

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

All amounts in RMB millions unless otherwise stated

2007

Monetary housing benefits

Other housing benefits

Share-based compensation

31.1 Directors and senior managements emoluments

15442

2110

51

1049

166

32 84

18902

14087

1854

56

913

27

433

170

17540

The remuneration of every Director for the year ended 31 December 2008 is set out below

Name of Director

Chang Xiaobing

LuYimin

Zuo Xunsheng

Tong Jilu

Cesareo Alierta Izuel

Kim Shin Bae

Wu Jinglian

Cheung Wing Lam Linus

Wong Wai Ming

John Lawson Thornton

Timpson Chung Shui Ming

Shang Bing

Yang Xiaowei

Li Zhengmao

Li Gang

Zhang Junan

Miao Jianhua

Lu Jianguo

Lee Suk Hwan

Shan
Weijian

2135

321

321

1512

939

171

171

803

101

72

72

146

146

146

23 3295

498

507

23 2465

57

57

365

347

360

74

74

843

552

552

12 1596

19 1603

480

371

211

260

Totai 2030 8327 3068 1017 125 14567

Note

Continuing operations

Employee benefit expenses

Salaries and wages

Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes

Contributions to supplementary defined contribution pension schemes

Contributions to housing fund

2008 As restated

Total

Salaries Bonuses Other Contilbutlons

and paid and benefits to pension

Fees allowance payable Notea schemes Total

Notes RMBOOO RMB000 RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

198

127

57

57

365

347

360

74

74

225

211

260

733

471

471

946

946

471

492

492
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31 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES GROUP Continued

31.1 Directors and senior managements emoluments Continued

The remuneration of every Director for the year ended 31 December 2007 is set out below

Salaries Bonuses Other Contributions

and paid and benefits to pension

Fees allowance payable Notea schemes Total

Name of Director Notes RMBOoO RMBOOo RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

Chang Xiaobing 2247 1730 715 21 4713

Shang Bing 1966 1405 612 21 4004

TongJilu 1592 1112 469 21 3194

Yang Xiaowe 1264 848 434 21 2567

Li Zhengmao 1264 848 434 21 2567

Li Gang 1264 848 410 21 2543

ZhangJunan 1264 848 410 21 2543

Miao Janhua 595 402 1006

Lu Jianguo 300 434 734

Lee Suk Hwan Ii
54 54

Wu Jinglian
384 24 408

Shan Weijian
346 24 370

Cheung Wing Lam Linus 365 24 389

Wong Wai Ming 375 375

LiJianguo
659 229 12 900

Total 1824 12115 8041 4219 168 26367
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31 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES GROUP Continued

31.1 Directors and senior managements emoluments Continued

Notes

Other benefits represent the value of share options granted to the directors of the Company under the Companys share

option schemes

Mr Lu Yimin and Mr Zuo Xunsheng were appointed as executive directors on 15 October 2008

Mr Cesareo Alierta Izuel was appointed as non-executive director on 15 October 2008

Mr Kim Shin Bae was appointed as non-executive director on 15 October 2008 and resigned as non-executive director

on 22 January 2009

Mr.John Lawson Thornton and Mr Timpson Chung Shui Ming were appointed as independent non-executive directors on 15

October 2008

Mr Shang Bing Mr Yang Xiaowei and Mr Li Zhengmao resigned as executive directors on 23 May 2008

Mr Li Gang and Mr Zhang Junan resigned as executive directors on 23 May 2008

Mr Miao Jianhua was appointed as executive director on 12 July 2007 and resigned as executive director on 23 May 2008

Mr Lu Jianguo resigned as non-executive director on 15 October 2008

Mr Lee Suk Hwan was appointed as non-executive director on 23 October 2007 and resigned on 15 October 2008

Mr Shan Weijian resigned as independent non-executive director on 15 October 2008

Ms Li Jianguo resigned as executive director on July 2007

Pursuant to the option proposal made pursuant to the merger between the Company and China Netcom 686894

share options were granted to the then director of China Netcom who was later appointed as Director of the Company

on 15 October 2008 Save as disclosed above no share options were granted to the Directors 2007 Nil

No directors waived the right to receive emoluments during the year 2007 Nil

During 2008 and 2007 the Company did not incur any payment to any director for toss of office or as an inducement

to any director to join the Company
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31 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES GROUP Continued

31.2 Five highest paid individuals

Of the five highest paid individuals for the year ended 31 December 2008 two of them are existing directors of the

Company and their remuneration has been disclosed in Note 31 .1 For the remaining three highest paid individuals

two of them were past directors and one was an employee of the Company whose remuneration falls within the band

from RMB2.0 million to RMB2.5 million For the year ended 31 December 2007 all of the five highest paid individuals

were the then directors of the Company whose remuneration was disclosed in Note 31.1

2008 2007

RMBOOO RMBOOO

Salaries and allowances 3603

Bonuses paid and payable 1875

Other benefits Note 31 .1
557

Contributions to pension schemes 66

6101

32 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

32.1 Fixed award pre-global offering share option scheme the Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the resolution passed by the Board of Directors in June 2000 the Company adopted the Pre-Global

Offering Share Option Scheme on June 2000 for the granting of share options to qualified employees on the

following terms

the exercise price is equivalent to the share issue price of the Global Offering of HKD1 5.42 per share excluding

the brokerage fee and SEHK transaction levy and

ii the share options are vested and exercisable after years from the grant date and expire 10 years from the date

of grant

No further options can be granted under the Pre-Global Offering Option Scheme

The Pre-Global Offering Option Scheme had been amended in conjunction with the amended terms of the share

option scheme Note 32.2 on 13 May 2002 and 11 May 2007 respectively Apart from the above two terms the

principal terms are substantially the same as the amended Share Option Scheme in all material aspects
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32 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEMES Continued

32.2 Share option scheme the Share Option Scheme

On June 2000 the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme pursuant to which the directors of the Company

may at their discretion invite employees including executive directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries to

take up share options to subscribe for shares up to maximumaggregate number of shares including those that

could be subscribed for under the Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme as described above not exceeding

10% of the total issued share capital of the Company Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme the nominal consideration

payable by participant for the grant of share options will be HKD1 .00 The exercise price payable by participant

upon the exercise of an option will be determined by the directors at their discretion at the date of grant except that

such price may not be set below minimum price which is the higher of

the nominal value of the shares and

ii 80% of the average of the closing prices of shares on the SEHK on the five trading days immediately preceding

the date of grant of the option on which there were dealings in the shares on the SEHK

The period during which an option may be exercised will be determined by the directors at their discretion except

that no option may be exercised later than 10 years from 22 June 2000

The terms of the Share Option Scheme were amended on 13 May 2002 to comply with the requirements set out in

the Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules which came into effect on September 2001 with the following major amendments

share option may be granted to employees including executive directors of the Group or any of the non-

executive directors

ii the option period commences on day after the date on which an option is offered but not later than 10 years

from the offer date and

iii minimum subscription price shall not be less than the higher of

the nominal value of the shares

the closing price of the shares of the stock exchange as stated in the stock exchanges quotation sheets

on the offer date in respect of the share options and

the average closing price of the shares on the stock exchanges quotation sheets for the five trading days

immediately preceding the offer date

On 11 May 2007 the Company further amended the Share Option Scheme with major amendments related to the

exercise of options upon cessation of employment These amendments are made in order to reduce the administrative

burden on the Company to monitor outstanding options for grantees whose employment has been terminated

All of the share options granted under Note 32.1 and 32.2 are governed by the amended terms of the Pre-Global

Share Option Scheme and the Share Option Scheme as mentioned above

China Unicorn Hong Kong Limited Annual Report 2008 195



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

All amounts in RMB millions unless otherwise stated

32 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEMES Continued

32.3 Special Purpose Unicorn Share Option Scheme the Special Purpose Share Option Scheme

Prior to the 2008 Business Combination China Netcom granted share options to its directors and employees including

employees of its subsidiaries in years 2004 and 2005 pursuant to shareholders resolution passed on 30 September

2004

Pursuant to China Netcoms share option plan China Netcom granted 158640000 options with an exercise price of

HK$ 8.40 each to certain of its directors and employees immediately prior to the closing of its global offering on 22

October 2004 to subscribe for its ordinary shares at the initial public offering price under the Hong Kong public

offering First Grant excluding brokerage and trading fees and transaction and investor compensation levies The

First Grant has an exercise period of six years from the date of grant The grantees can exercise 40 percent of the

options granted from 17 May 2006 further 20 percent of the options granted from 17 May 2007 further 20

percent of the options granted from 17 May 2008 and further 20 percent of the options granted from 17 May 2009

All unexercised share options will expire on 16 November 2010

On December 2005 the board of directors of China Netcom approved the grant of 79320000 shares of share

options with an exercise price of HK$12.45 to certain management personnel and other professional personnel

designated by the Compensation Committee of the newly acquired four Northern provinces/autonomous region

Second Grant The grantees can exercise 40 percent of the option granted from December 2007 further 20

percent of the options granted from December 2008 further 20 percent of the options granted from December

2009 and further 20 percent of the options granted from December 2010 All unexercised share options will be

expired on December 2011

The grant date fair value of the share options granted in the First Grant and the Second Grant is determined by the

BlackScholes model The weighted average fair value of the First Grant and the Second Grant on grant date was

determined as HKD1 .22 per share RMB1 .28 per share and HKD1 .28 per share RMB1 .34 per share respectively

Modifications to certain clauses of the share options schemes of China Netcom were approved on 16 May 2006

pursuant to resolution of the extraordinary general meeting of China Netcom The modifications were mainly related

to eligibility
of the participants number of options and exercise vesting schedules rights upon cessation of employment

death and loss of capacity performance targets and cancellation of options The modifications did not have any

significant impact on the financial statements

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders on 16 September 2008 the Company adopted the

Special Purpose Share Option Scheme in connection with the merger of the Company and China Netcom by way of

scheme of arrangement of China Netcom under Section 166 of the Companies Ordinance for the granting of

options to holders of China Netcom options outstanding at 14 October 2008 Eligible Participants Pursuant to this

scheme no fractional options can be granted and the maximum number of shares which may be issued upon the

exercise of all options granted under this scheme and any other share options schemes of the Company must not in

aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of approval of this scheme
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32 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEMES Continued

32.3 Special Purpose Unicorn Share Option Scheme the Special Purpose Share Option Scheme Continued

The number of options and exercise price of options granted under the Special Purpose Share Option Scheme are

as follows

The exercise price of options under this scheme is equal to the exercise price of an outstanding China

Netcom option held by the Eligible Participants divided by the share exchange ratio 1.508

ii The total number of options granted by the Company to all Eligible Participants under this scheme shall be equal

to the product of the share exchange ratio and the number of China Netcom options outstanding as at 14

October 2008

The above formula ensures that the value of options which granted under this scheme received by holder of China

Netcom options is equivalent to the see-through price of that holders outstanding China Netcom options

The period during which an option may be exercised will be determined by the directors at their discretion except

that no option may be exercised later than 30 September 2014

No further options can be granted under the Special Purpose Share Option Scheme
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32 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEMES Continued

32.3 Special Purpose Unicorn Share Option Scheme the Special Purpose Share Option Scheme Continued

Details of share options granted by China Netcom immediately prior to the merger between the Company and China

Netcom i.e 14 October 2008 and the share options outstanding immediately prior to the merger between the

Company and China Netcom i.e 14 October 2008 are as follows

For the period from January

2008 to 14 October 2008 2007

Average Average

exercise price Number of exercise price Number of

in HKD share options in HKD share options

per share involved per share involved

Balance beginning of period/year 10.32 150844560 10.21 176646900

Granted

Forfeited/cancelled 9.55 139620 8.40 2117440

Cancelled in exchange for the

Companys options 10.30 125836140

Exercised 10.45 24868800 9.67 23684900

Balance end of period/year 10.32 150844560

Representing

First Grant 79263860

Second Grant 71580700

Balance end of period/year 150844560

Exercisable at end of period/year 10.59 45218610
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32.3 Special Purpose Unicorn Share Option Scheme the Special Purpose Share Option Scheme Continued

Details of share options of China Netcom exercised during the period from January 2008 to 14 October 2008 and

2007 are as follows

For the period from January 2008 to 14 October 2008

Weighted average

closing price per

share at respective

days immediately

before date of

Exercise price exercise of options

HKD HKD

32 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEMES Continued

Proceeds

received

HKD

Number of

shares

involvedGrant

First Grant 8.40 26.17 103316640 12299600

Second Grant 2.45 25.46 56486540 2569200

259803180 24868800

For the year ended 31 December 2007

Weighted average

closing price per

share at
respective

days immediately

before date of Proceeds Number of

Exercise price exercise of options received shares

Grant HKD HKD HKD involved

First Grant 8.40 22.23 136343760 16231400

Second Grant 12.45 23.92 92796075 7453500

229139835 23684900
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32 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEMES Continued

The Group accounted for the exchange of options based on the estimated fair value of share options at the modification

date by using the Black-Scholes valuation model Because the Black-Scholes valuation model requires the input of subjective

assumptions including the volatility of share price change in subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair

value estimate Accordingly the weighted average fair values of 2004 and 2005 Special Purpose Share Options granted

under the Special Purpose Share Option Scheme was HKD6.01 and HKD4.00 respectively The significant assumptions

used and the numbers of options granted are as follows

2004 2005

Special Purpose Special Purpose

Share Option Share Option

Stock price
HKD1 1.60 HKD1 1.60

Exercise price
HKD5.57 HKD8.26

Volatility
55% 49%

Dividend yield
2% 2%

Risk-free rate 0.24-1 .06% 0.28-1 .54%

Expected life
0.30-1 .09 years 032-2.32 years

Weighted average option value HKD6.01 HKD4.00

Number of options granted 100831 432 88929468

The volatility measured at the standard deviation of expected share price returns was based on statistical analysis of daily

share prices over the last to years Expected dividends were based on historical dividends Risk-free rate was by

reference to the yield of Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes with term similar to the expected option life

The total incremental fair value of the exchanged options was determined to be RMB21 million which was measured by

reference to the incremental fair value of the options granted under the Special Purpose Share Option Scheme as at 15

October 2008 the modification date over the fair value of China Netcom options as at 15 October 2008 For the year

ended 31 December 2008 share-based compensation expense of approximately RMB9 million was recorded by the

Group as result of this modification
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32 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEMES Continued

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows

The Company

2008 2007

Average Average

exercise price Number of exercise price Number of

in HKD share options in HKD share options

per share involved per share involved

Balance beginning of year 7.12 257279600 6.95 314256000

Granted 6.83 189760900

Forfeited 6.37 2720334 8.43 3420800

Exercised 7.62 31 246000 6.03 53555600

Balance end of year 6.95 413074166 7.12 257279600

Exercisable at end of year 7.14 245359027 8.48 92713600

Employee share options exercised for the year ended 31 December 2008 resulted in 31246000 shares being issued

2007 53555600 shares with exercise proceeds of approximately RMB216 million 2007 approximately RMB313

million
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21 December2004

15 February 2006

Share options granted

15 October 2008

2004 Special Purpose

Share Options

15 October 2008

2005 Special

Purpose Share Options

15 October 2008 to 15 October 2008 to

December 2010 December 2011

The price per

share to be

paid on

exercise

of options

Number of

share options

outstanding

as at

31 December

2007

32 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEMES Continued

As at balance sheet date information of outstanding share options is summarised as follows

Number of

share options

outstanding

as at

31 December

Date of options grant Vesting period Exercisable period 2008

Share options granted under the Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme

22 June2000 22 June 2000 to 22 June 2002 to

21 June2002 21 June2010

Share options granted under the Share Option Scheme

30 June 2001 30 June 2001 30 June 2001 to

22 June 2010

10 July 2002 to 10 July 2003 to

10 July 2005 July 2008

21 May 2003 to 21 May 2004 to

21 May2006 20 May 2009

20 July 2004 to 20 July 2005 to

20 July 2007 19 July 2010

21 December 2004 to 21 December 2005 to

21 December 2007 20 December 2010

15 February 2006 to 15 February 2008 to

15 February 2009 14 February 2012

under the Special Purpose Share Option Scheme

15 October 2008 to 15 October 2008 to

17 May 2009 16 November 2010

10 July 2002 Note

21 May 2003

20 July 2004

21126800

5608000

3308000

11092800

50924000

654000

164566000

HKD1 5.42 16977600

HKD15.42 4350000

HKD618

HKD4.30 8956000

HKD5.92 41024000

HKD6.20 654000

HKD6.35 151556000

HKD5.57 100627098

HKD8.26 88929468

413074166 257279600

The options outstanding as at 31 December 2008 had weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.47 years 2007

3.47 years

Note ni tstanding options granted on 10 July 2002 have been exercised therefore no options are expired under this grant
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32 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEMES Continued

Details of share options exercised during 2008 and 2007 are as follows

For the year ended 31 December 2008

Weighted average

closing price per

share at respective

days immediately

before date of Proceeds Number of

Exercise price exercise of options received shares

Grant HKD HKD HKD involved

22 June 2000 15.42 18.73 63980664 4149200

3OJune200l 15.42 18.38 18781560 1218000

10 July 2002 6.18 15.88 20443440 3308000
21 May2003 4.30 16.90 8947440 2080800

20 July 2004 5.92 17.81 58240960 9838000
15 February 2006 6.35 17.62 67640200 10652000

238034264 31 246000

For the year ended 31 December 2007

Weighted average

closing price per

share at respective

days immediately

before date of Proceeds Number of

Exercise price exercise of options received shares

Grant HKD HKD HKD involved

22 June 2000 15.42 17.56 34657992 2247600

30 June 2001 15.42 17.62 8450160 548000

10 July 2002 6.18 12.96 49793496 8057200
21 May 2003 4.30 12.95 60057240 13966800

2OJuly2004 5.92 13.77 170117120 28736000

323076008 53555600

For the year ended 31 December 2008 employee share-based compensation expense recorded for continuing operations

amounted to approximately RMB84 million 2007 approximately RMB1 70 million
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33 DISPOSAL GROUP AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Discontinued operations

On June 2008 and on 27 July 2008 the Company CUCL and China Telecom entered into the Framework Agreement

and the Disposal Agreement respectively to sell the CDMA business to China Telecom The disposal was completed on

October 2008 Note The gain on disposal net of corresponding income tax of approximately RMB9.0 billion amounted

to approximately RMB26.1 billion

The net assets of CDMA business as at the effective date of the disposal of the CDMA Business were as listed below

As at

Net assets disposed of Note October 2008

Cash and cash equivalents
4612

Property plant and equipment
2997

Goodwill
373

Deferred tax assets

Other assets 3958

Inventories
525

Accounts receivable net
690

Prepayments and other current assets 808

Deferred revenue
444

Payable and accrued liabilities
1144

Advances from customers
4428

Minority interest

7948

Fair value of future service agreed in Disposal Agreement 37.2b 517

Transaction cost and taxations
184

Income tax expense arising from the disposal of the CDMA business 9016

Gain on the disposal of the CDMA business recognised in income statement 26135

Cash consideration on the disposal of the CDMA business 43800

Less Cash consideration receivable from disposal of the CDMA business 13140

Cash and cash equivalents included in disposed CDMA business 1148

Net cash inflow 29512

Note The balance included the cash payable of approximately RMB3464 million upon the final agreement of the values

of assets and liabilities transferred to China Telecom in accordance with the Disposal Agreement
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33 DISPOSAL GROUP AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS Continued

Discontinued operations Continued

On 15 January 2007 CNC China entered into an assets transfer agreement with Netcom Group Pursuant to the agreement

CNC China agreed to dispose of its assets and liabilities in relation to its telecommunications operations in Guangdong

and Shanghai Branches The disposal was completed on 28 February 2007 The gain on disposal net of corresponding

income tax of approximately RMB3O1 million amounted to approximately RMB626 million

The net assets of Guangdong and Shanghai Branches as at the completion date are as listed below

As at

Net assets disposed of 28 February 2007

Cash and cash equivalents 23

Accounts receivable and other current assets 416

Property plant and equipment and other non-current assets 7630

Current portion of deferred revenue 183
Accounts payable 2046
Long-term bank loans 3000
Other liabilities 267

2573

Income tax expense arising from the disposal of Guangdong and Shanghai Branches 301

Gain on the disposal of Guangdong and Shanghai Branches recognised in income statement 626

Cash consideration on the disposal of Guangdong and Shanghai Branches 3500
Less cash and cash equivalents included in disposed Guangdong and Shanghai Branches 23

Net cash inflow 3477
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33 DISPOSAL GROUP AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS Continued

Discontinued operations Continued

The results and cash flows of the COMA business and the Fixed-line business-Guangdong and Shanghai Branches for the

years ended 31 Oecember 2008 and 2007 respectively are presented as discontinued operations as follows

Fixed-line business

Guangdong and Shanghai

CDMA Business Branches Total

For the For the

period from period from

January For the year For the year January For the For the

2008 to ended ended 2007 to year ended year ended

30 September 31 December 31 December 28 February 31 December 31 December

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Revenue 22330 31197 615 22330 31812

Expenses 20423 30042 618 20423 30660

Prof it/loss
before income tax from

discontinued operations 1907 1155 1907 1152

Income tax expenses 469 499 469 498

Prof it/loss
for the period of

discontinued operations 1438 656 1438 654

Gain on disposal
of discontinued

operations before tax 35151
927 35151 927

Income tax expenses 9016 301 9016 301

Gain on disposal
of discontinued

operations after tax 26135
626 26135 626

Profit for the period/year

from discontinued operations 27573 656 624 27573 1280
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33 DISPOSAL GROUP AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS Continued

Discontinued operations Continued

Fixed-line business

Guangdong and Shanghai

CDMA Business Branches Total

For the For the

period from period from

January For the year For the year January For the For the

2008 to ended ended 2007 to year ended year ended

30 September 31 December 31 December 28 February 31 December 31 December

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Net cash inflow from operating activities 656 837 388 656 1225

Net cash outflow from
investing

activities 23 25 374 23 399

Cash inflow from
disposal

of

discontinued operations 29512 3477 29512 3477

Net cash inf low/outf low from

investing
activities 29489 25 3103 29489 3078

Net cash inflow from
financing

activities

Net cash inflow from

discontinued operations 30145 812 3491 30145 4303
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34 DIVIDENDS

At the annual general meeting held on May 2008 the shareholders of the Company approved the payment of final

dividend of RMBO.20 per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2007 totaling approximately RMB2732 million

which has been reflected as reduction of retained profits for the year ended 31 December 2008 As at 31 December

2008 such dividends have been paid by the Company except for dividends payable of approximately RMB149 million

due to Unicom BVI

At meeting held on 31 March 2009 the Board of Directors of the Company proposed the payment of final dividend of

RMBO.20 per ordinary share to the shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2008 totalling approximately RMB4754

million This proposed dividend has not been reflected as dividend payable in the financial statements as at 31 December

2008 but will be reflected as an appropriation of retained profits in the financial statements for the year ending 31 December

2009

2007

2008 As restated

Proposed final dividend

RMBO.20 2007 RMBO.20 per ordinary share by the Company 4754 2727

HKD nil 2007 HKDO.592 per ordinary share by China Netcom Note 3700

4754 6427

Dividend paid

By the Company 2732 2285

By China Netcom Note 3499 3600

6231 5885

Note Since the 2008 Business Combination is accounted for as business combination of entities under common control accordingly

the proposed final dividend and dividend paid are restated to include China Netcom as if it had always been pad of the Group
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35 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share and ADS

Basic earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 were computed by dividing the profit attributable

to equity holders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the years as adjusted by the

number of ordinary shares in issue had the merger with China Netcom been completed on January 2007

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 were computed by dividing the profit

attributable to equity holders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the years as adjusted

by the number of ordinary shares in issue had the merger with China Netcom been completed on January 2007 after

adjusting for the effects of the dilutive potential ordinary shares All potential ordinary shares arose from share options

granted under the amended Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme share options granted under the amended

Share Option Scheme Hi share options granted under the Special Purpose Share Option Scheme and iv the Convertible

Bonds for the year ended 31 December 2007 only The potential ordinary shares which are not dilutive mainly arose from

share options granted under the amended Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme and are excluded from the weighted

average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of computation of diluted earnings per share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share

2007

2008 As restated

NUmerator in RMB millions

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company

Continuing operations 6340 20158

Discontinued operations 27572 1279

33912 21437

Denominator in millions

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding

and shares used in computing basic earnings per share 23751 23075

Dilutive equivalent shares arising from share options 190 246

Shares used in computing diluted earnings per share 23941 23321

Basic earnings per share in RMB

Continuing operations 0.27 0.87

Discontinued operations 1.16 0.06

1.43 0.93

Diluted earnings per share in RMB

Continuing operations 0.27 0.86

Discontinued operations .15 0.06

1.42 0.92

Basic and diluted earnings per ADS have been computed by multiplying the earnings per share by 10 which is the number

of shares represented by each ADS
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36 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets of the Group mainly include cash and cash equivalents short-term bank deposits accounts receivable

amounts due from ultimate holding company related parties and domestic carriers Financial liabilities of the Group mainly

include payables and accrued liabilities short-term bank loans short-term commercial paper corporate bonds long-term

bank loans and amounts due to ultimate holding company related parties and domestic carriers

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank deposits denominated in foreign currencies as summarised below have

been translated to RMB at the applicable rates quoted by the Peoples Bank of China as at 31 December 2008 and 2007

The Group

2008 2007 As restated

Original RMB Original
RMB

currency equivalent currency equivalent

millions Exchange rate millions millions Exchange rate millions

Cash and cash equivalents

denominated in HK dollars 223 088 197 552 0.94 518

denominated in US dollars 134 6.83 914 65 7.30 471

denominated in EURO 9.66 43 10.67 28

denominated in Japanese Yen 50 0.08 247 0.06 16

denominated in GBP 9.88 20 14.58

Sub-total 1178 1037

Short-term bank deposits

denominated in HK dollars 0.88 71 0.94 67

denominated in US dollars 20 6.83 137 78 7.30 569

Sub-total 137 636

Total 1315 1673
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36 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS Continued

The Company

2008 2007

Original RMB Oginal RMB

currency equivalent currency equivalent

millions Exchange rate millions millions Exchange rate millions

Cash and cash equivalents

denominated in HK dollars 72 0.88 63 355 0.94 332

denominated in US dollars 39 6.83 267 22 7.30 162

Sub-total 330 494

Short-term bank deposits

denominated in HK dollars 0.88 71 0.94 67

denominated in US dollars 18 6.83 122 78 7.30 569

Sub-total 122 636

Total 452 1130

The Group did not have and does not believe it will have any difficulties in exchanging its foreign currency cash into RMB

at the exchange rates quoted by the Peoples Bank of China The carrying amounts of the Groups cash and cash

equivalents short-term bank deposits other current financial assets and liabilities approximated their fair values as at 31

December 2008 and 2007 due to the nature or short maturity of those instruments

The carrying amounts of receivables and payables which are all subject to normal trade credit terms approximated their

fair value as at balance sheet date

In connection with the fair value of the Groups non-current portion of long-term bank loans please refer to Note 19 for

details
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37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS GROUP

Unicom Group and Netcom Group are state-owned enterprises directly controlled by the PRO government The PRO

government is the Oompanys ultimate controlling party State-owned enterprises and their subsidiaries in addition to

Unicom Group and Netcom Group directly or indirectly controlled by the PRO government are also considered to be

related parties of the Group Neither Unicorn Group and Netcom Group nor the PRO government publishes financial

statements available for public use

The PRC government controls significant portion of the productive assets and entities in the PRO The Group provides

telecommunications services as part of its retail transactions thus is likely to have extensive transactions with the employees

of other state-controlled entities including their key management personnel and their close family members These

transactions are carried out on commercial terms that are consistently applied to all customers

Management considers other state-owned enterprises including other telecommunications service operators equipment

vendors construction vendors lessors of assets and state-owned banks in the PRO have material transactions with the

Group in its ordinary course of business These transactions are carried out on terms similar to those obtained by other

state-owned parties and have been reflected in the financial statements

The Groups telecommunications networks depend in large part on interconnection with the network and on transmission

lines leased from other domestic carriers Management believes that meaningful information relating to related party

transactions has been adequately disclosed below
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37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS GROUP Continued

37.1 Transactions with Unicorn Group Netcom Group and their subsidiaries

Significant recurring transactions

The following is summary of significant recurring transactions carried out by the Group with Unicorn Group

Netcom Group and their subsidiaries In the directors opinion these transactions were camed out in the ordinary

course of business

2007

Note 2008 As restated

Transactions with Unicorn Group

Netcom Group and their subsidiaries

Continuing operations

Interconnection revenues ii iv 808 723

Interconnection charges iii iv 768 742

Rental income for premises and facilities 18 19

Revenue for leasing of transmission line capacity vi 36

Charges for leasing of transmission line capacity vii 80 23

Charge for operator-based

subscriber value-added services viii 297 259

Charge for customer services ix 713 683

Agency fee incurred for subscriber development services 150 92

Charges for cellular subscriber value-added service xi 153 37

Rental charges for premises equipment and facilities xii 35 31

Charges for the international gateway services xiii 15

Purchase of telecom cards xiv 549 618

Agency fee incurred for procurement

of telecommunications equipment xv 20 18

Charge for engineering design and technical service xvi 287 117

Charge for engineering and information

technology-related services
xvii 2603 1946

Common corporate services income xviii 140 121

Charges for common corporate services xviii 563 477

Rental income from properties xix 10

Rental charges for premises xix 642 636

Property sub-lease rental charges xix 11

Purchases of materials xx 512 668

Charges for ancillary telecommunications support services xxi 558 448

Charges for support services xxii 461 536

Charges for lease of telecommunications facility xxiii 306 309

Income from information

communication technologies services xxiv 151 130
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37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS GROUP Continued

37.1 Transactions with Unicorn Group Netcorn Group and their subsidiaries Continued

Significant recurring transactions Continued

2007

Note 2008 As restated

Discontinued operations

Interconnection revenue ii iv 17 26

Interconnection charges iii iv 13 17

Charges for leasing of transmission line capacity vii

Charge for operator-based

subscriber value-added services viii 89 119

Charge for customer services ix 111 178

Agency fee incurred for subscriber development services 24 23

CDMA network capacity lease rental xxv 6009 8382

Constructed capacity related cost of CDMA network xxvi 234 215

Charges for cellular subscriber value-added service xi 46 17

Purchase of telecom cards xiv 40 79

Charge for engineering design and technical service xvi

On 26 October 2006 CUCL entered into new agreement 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement to continue to

carry out related party transactions The new agreement was approved by the independent shareholders of the Company

on December 2006 and became effective from January 2007 Upon completion of the acquisition of Guizhou

Business in 2007 the 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement was amended where necessary so that the service

area of COOL was extended to include Guizhou province In addition the rights
and obligations of Guizhou branch of

Unicom Group under the framework agreement entered into with Guizhou branch of Unicom Huasheng for the

procuremenf of CDMA mobile handsets on 19 December 2006 were assigned to and assumed by CUCL

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary general meeting held on 16 September 2008 the

independent shareholders of the Company approved the 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement be amended with

effecf from 15 October 2008 to include CNC China as party the Second 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement

Also the independent shareholders of the Company approved the following agreements

Framework Agreement for Engineering and Information Technology Services dated 12 August 2008

Engineering and Information Technology Services Agreement 2008-2010

Domestic Interconnection Settlement Agreement 2008-2010

International Long Distance Voice Services Settlement Agreement 2008-2010

Framework Agreement for Interconnection Settlement dated 12 August 2008
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37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS GROUP Continued

37.1 Transactions with Unicorn Group Netcom Group and their subsidiaries Continued

Significant recurring transactions Continued

Interconnection revenues represent the amounts received or receivable from Unicorn Group and Netcorn Group for

calls from their networks to the Groups networks

iu Interconnection charges are for calls made from the Groups networks to Unicorn Group and Netcom Group networks

iv Pursuant to the Framework Agreement for Interconnection Settlement dated 12 August 2008 entered between CUCL

and Netcom Group CUCL and Netcom Group agreed to interconnect the network of Netcom Group on the one hand

and that of CUCL on the other and settle charges in respect of domestic long distance voice services within their

respective service regions and international long distance voice services

Interconnection settlement between Unicom Group and Netcom Group networks and the Groups network are based

on standards established from time to time by the MIII

Pursuant to 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement and the Second 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement the

Group agreed to provide premises to Unicom New Guoxin Telecommunications Corporation Limited Unicorn New

Guoxin The rental amount is based on the lower of depreciation costs and market price for similar premises in that

locality

vi Pursuant to the agreement entered between the branches of CUCL and 21 Provinces in Southern China of Netcorn

Group revenue for leasing of transmission line capacity is based on market rates

vu Pursuant to Framework Agreement for Telecommunications Facilities Leasing dated 12 August 2008 entered between

CUCL and Netcom Group the charges payable by CUCL are based on the annual depreciation charges of such

transmission line capacity not higher than market rates

vul Pursuant to 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement and the Second 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement the

Group shall retain 40% of the actually received revenue generated from the value-added services provided by New

Guoxin to the Groups subscribers and allocate 60% of such revenue to New Guoxin The settlement should be made

among branches of the Group and New Guoxin respectively

ix Pursuant to 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement and the Second 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement

New Guoxin provides business inquiries tariff inquiries account maintenance complaints handling and customer

interview and subscriber retention services to the Groups customers The service fee payable by the Group shall be

calculated on the basis of the customer service costs plus profit margin which shall not exceed 10% The customer

service costs were determined by the actual cost per operator seat and the number of effective operator seats In

addition Guangdong has been added as one of the economically developed rnetropolises in determining the cost per

operator seat

Pursuant to 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement and the Second 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement

New Guoxin provides subscriber development services to the Group through telephone or other channels by utilising its

own network equipment and operators The agency fee chargeable to the Group does not exceed the average of

agency fees chargeable by any independent third party agent in the same region
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37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS GROUP Continued

37.1 Transactions with Unicorn Group Netcom Group and their subsidiaries Continued

Significant recurring transactions Continued

xi Pursuant to 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement and the Second 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement

UNISK Beijing Information Technology Corporation Limited UNISK and Unicom NewSpace Corporation Limited

Unicorn NewSpace agreed to provide the cellular subscribers of CUCL with various types of value-added services

through its cellular communication network and data platform The Group retains portion of the revenue generated

from the value-added services provided to the Groups subscribers and actually received by the Groupl and allocates

portion of such fees to UNISK and Unicorn NewSpace for settlement on the condition that such proportion allocated

to UNISK and Unicorn NewSpace does not exceed the average proportion allocated to independent value-added

telecommunications content providers who provide value-added telecommunications content to the Group in the same

region The percentage of revenue to be allocated to UNISK and Unicorn NewSpace by the Group varies depending on

the types of value-added service provided to the Group

xii Pursuant to 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement and the Second 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement

CUCL and Unicorn Group agreed to mutually lease premises equipment and facilities from each other Rentals are

based on the lower of depreciation costs and market rates

xui Pursuant to 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement and the Second 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement

charges for international gateway services represent the amounts paid or payable to Unicorn Group for international

gateway services provided for the Groups international long distance networks The charge for this service is based on

the cost of operation and maintenance of the international gateway facilities incurred by Unicom Group including

depreciation together with margin of 10% over cost

xiv Pursuant to 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement and the Second 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement the

Group agreed to purchase telephone cards from Unicorn Group to be imported by Unicorn Xingye Science and

Technology Trade Company Limited Unicorn Xingye at cost plus margin to be agreed from time to time but not to

exceed 20% and subject to appropriate volume discounts Prices and volumes are subject to review by the parties on

an annual basis

xv Pursuant to 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement and the Second 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement

Unicorn Import and Export Company Limited Unicorn l/E Co agreed to provide equipment procurement services to

the Group Unicorn I/E Co charges the Group 0.55% for contracts up to an amount of USD30 million inclusive and

0.35% for contracts with an amount of more than USD30 million of the value of imported equipment and 0.25% for

contracts up to an amount of RMB200 million inclusive and 0.15% for contracts with an amount of more than

RMB200 million of the value of domestic equipment for such services

xvi Pursuant to 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement and the Second 2006 Comprehensive Services Agreement

China Information Technology Deigning Consulting Institute CITDCI agreed to provide engineering design and

technical services to the Group based on its demands and requirements The service fee standards for the engineering

design and technical services are determined based on standards promulgated by the relevant government authorities

In addition such prices should not be higher than those adopted by an independent third party providing similar services

in the same industry

xvii Pursuant to Framework Agreement for Engineering and Information Technology Services dated 12 August 2008 entered

between CUCL and Netcom Group and Engineering and Information Technology Services Agreement 2008-2010

entered between CNC China and Netcom Group the charges payable by CUCL and CNC China for the above services

are determined with reference to market rates and are settled when the relevant services are provided
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37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS GROUP Continued

37.1 Transactions with Unicorn Group Netcom Group and their subsidiaries Continued

Significant recurring transactions Continued

xviii Pursuant to Master Sharing Agreement 2008-2010 entered between CNC China and Netcom Group expenses associated

with common corporate services is allocated between CNC China and Netcom Group based on total assets as

appropriate

xix Pursuant to Property Leasing Agreement 2008-2010 entered between CNC China and Netcom Group and the Framework

Agreement for Property Leasing dated 12 August 2008 entered between CUCL and Netcom Group the charges

payable by CNC China and CUCL are based on market rates or the depreciation charges and taxes only not higher

than the market rates in respect of each property The charges are subject to review every year

xx Pursuant to Materials Procurement Agreement 2008-2010 entered between CNC China and Netcom Group the charges

payable by CNC China to Netcom Group are based on market rates or cost-plus basis

xxi Pursuant to Ancillary Telecommunications Services Agreement 2008-2010 entered between CNC China and Netcom

Group and the Framework Agreement for Ancillary Telecommunications Services dated 12 August 2008 entered between

CUCL and Netcom Group Netcom Group agreed to provide services including certain telecommunications pre-sale

on-sale and after-sale services certain sales agency services the printing and delivery of invoice services the maintenance

of certain air-conditioning fire alarm equipment and telephone booths and other customer services The charges are

based on market rates and settled as and when the relevant services are provided

xxii Pursuant to Support Services Agreement 2008-2010 entered between CNC China and Netcom Group and the Framework

Agreement for Support Services dated 12 August 2008 entered between CUCL and Netcom Group Netcom Group

agreed to provide services including equipment leasing services motor vehicles services safety and security services

conference services basic construction agency services equipment maintenance services employee training services

advertising services printing services and other support services The charges are based on market rates and settled as

and when the relevant services are provided

xxiii Pursuant to Telecommunications Facilities Leasing Agreement 2008-2010 entered between CNC China and Netcorn

Group and the Framework Agreement for Telecommunications Facilities Leasing dated 12 August 2008 entered between

CUCL and Netcom Group CNC China agreed to lease the international telecommunications facilities and inter-provincial

transmission optic fibers from Netcom Group The lease payment is based on the depreciation charge of the leased

assets

xxiv Pursuant to Information and Communications Technology Agreement 2008-2010 entered between System Integration

Corporation and Netcom Group System Integration Corporation agreed to provide information communications

technology services to Netcom Group and also to subcontract services ancillary to the provision of information

communications technology services namely the system installation and configuration services to the subsidiaries

and branches of Netcom Group in Netcom Groups southern service region in the PRC The charges payable by

Netcom Group are based on market value

xxv On 26 October 2006 CUCL entered into the new agreement 2006 CDMA Lease Agreement with Unicorn Group and

Unicom New Horizon to continue to carry out related party transactions The new agreement was approved by the

independent shareholders of the Company on December 2006 and became effective from January 2007 As

disclosed in the announcement dated 28 July 2008 the Company CUCL and China Telecom agreed on the COMA

Business disposal and the Company agreed to waive the CDMA network purchase option and terminate the 2006

CDMA Lease Agreement in each case with effect from the completion of the CDMA Business disposal During the

Companys extraordinary general meeting of shareholders held on 16 September 2008 the Companys independent

shareholders approved the waiver of the CDMA network purchase option and the termination of the 2006 COMA Lease

Agreement Upon the completion of the CDMA Business disposal on October 2008 the 2006 COMA Lease Agreement

was terminated
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37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS GROUP Continued

37.1 Transactions with Unicorn Group Netcom Group and their subsidiaries Continued

Significant recurring transactions Continued

lxxv Pursuant to 2006 CDMA Lease Agreement the constructed capacity related costs in connection with the CDMA

network capacity used by the Group including the rentals for the exchange centers and the base stations water and

electricity charges heating charges and fuel charges for the relevant equipment etc as well as the maintenance costs

of non-capital nature are charged to the Group The proportion of the constructed capacity related costs to be borne

by the Group is calculated on monthly basis by reference to the actual number of cumulative CDMA subscribers of the

Group at the end of the month prior to the occurrence of the costs divided by 90% as percentage of the total capacity

available on the CDMA network

rxxal Unicorn Group is the registered proprietor of the Unicom trademark in English and the trademark bearing the Unicom

logo which are registered at the PRO State Trademark Bureau Pursuant to an exclusive PRC trademark licence

agreement between Unicorn Group and the Group the Group are granted the right to use these trademarks on royalty

free and renewal basis

Other significant transaction

In 2008 the Company completed the merger with China Netcom by way of scheme of arrangement For

details please refer to Note

Amounts due from and to Unicom GroLip Netcom Group and their subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2007 an amount due to Netcom Group of RMB5880 million represented the deferred

payment arising from the Acquisition of New Horizon which was unsecured interest bearing at 5.265% per

annLirT with final maturity through 30 June 2010 In 2008 the Group fully repaid the amount The deferred

payment as at 31 December 2007 is analysed as follows

The Group

2008 2007

Within one year
960

In the second year
1960

In the third year
1960

Total 5880

In addition the balance as at 31 December 2007 included the payables to related parties of approximately RMB

2.249 million with interest rates ranging from 3.0% to 3.8% per annum which was unsecured and repayable

within years In 2008 the Group fully repaid the amount

Apart from these amounts due from and to Unicorn Group Netcorn Group and their subsidiaries are unsecured

interest free repayable on demand/on contract terms and arise in the ordinary course of business in respect of

the transactions with Unicom Group Netcom Group and their subsidiaries as described in above
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37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS GROUP Continued

37.2 Domestic carriers

Significant recurring transactions with domestic carriers

The following is summary of significant transactions with domestic carriers in the ordinary course of business

The Group

2007

Note 2008 As restated

Interconnection revenue 81 000

Interconnection charges 10819 10367

Leased line revenue ii 500 539

Leased line charges ii 269 350

The interconnection revenue and charges mainly represent the amounts due from or to domestic carriers for telephone

calls made between the Groups networks and the network of domestic carriers The interconnection settlements are

calculated in accordance with interconnection agreements reached between the branches of the Group and domestic

carriers on provincial basis The terms of these agreements are set in accordance with the standard settlement

arrangement stipulated by the MIIT

ii Leased line charges are paid or payable to domestic carriers by the Group for the provision of transmission lines At the

same time the Group leases transmission lines to domestic carriers in return for leased line rental income The charges

are calculated at fixed charge per line depending on the number of lines being used by the Group and domestic

carriers
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37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS GROUP Continued

37.2 Domestic carriers Continued

Disposal of the Groups CDMA business to China Telecom

In 2008 the Company completed the disposal of the CDMA Business to China Telecom For details please

refer to Note and Note 33

Pursuant to the Disposal Agreement the Group is committed to providing certain supporting services to China

Telecom at no consideration during the transitional period Such services include providing the use of certain

telecommunications equipment properties and information technology services in certain regions The value of

such services are estimated by the Group based on the costs of the underlying equipment or properties plus

margin portion of the consideration for the disposal of the CDMA Business equal to the estimated value of

such services has been deferred and will be recognised over the expected service period

In addition pursuant to the Disposal Agreement upon the completion of the COMA Business disposal CUCL

and China Telecom would enter into agreements with respect to the swapping and operation of certain jointly

used network assets in accordance with the terms set out in the Disposal Agreement As at 31 March 2009 the

negotiation of the agreements is in progress Based on the latest negotiations the Group estimated that the

swapping and operation of these jointly used network assets would not have significant impact on the

consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2008 the balances due from/to China Telecom in relation to the disposal of the COMA

Business were as follows

Proceeds receivable 13140

Advances from customers received on behalf of China Telecom 768

Cash payable upon the final agreement of the values of assets and liabilities

transferred to China Telecom in accordance with the Disposal Agreement 3464
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37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS GROUP Continued

37.2 Domestic carriers Continued

Amounts due from and to domestic carriers

The Group

2007

2008 As restated

Amounts due from domestic carriers

Receivables for interconnection revenue and leased line revenue 914 894

Less Provision for doubtful debts 49 78

865 816

Amounts due to domestic carriers

Payables for interconnection charges and leased lines charges 538 510

All amounts due from and to domestic carriers are unsecured interest-free and repayable within one year

37.3 Other major state-owned financial institutions

Transactions with other major state-owned financial institutions in the PRO

The following is summary of significant transactions with other major state-owned financial institutions in the

PRO in the ordinary course of business

The Group

2007

2008 As restated

Finance income/costs include

Interest income 238 278

Interest expense 2008 2250

Short-term bank loans received 50614 63125

Short-term commercial paper received 10000 20000

Long-term bank loans received 2888 2559

Issuance of corporate bonds 5000 2000

Short-term bank loans repaid 51184 81685

Short-term commercial paper repaid 20000 10000

Long-term bank loans repaid 20524 9583
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37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS GROUP Continued

37.3 Other major state-owned financial institutions Continued

Amounts due from and to other major state-owned financial institutions in the PRC

The balances with other major state-owned financial institutions in the PRC in various line items of the consolidated

balance sheet are listed as follows

The Group

2007

2008 As restated

Current assets

Short-term bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents
_______________________________

Non-current liabilities

Long-term bank loans

Corporate bonds

Current liabilities

Short-term commercial paper

Current portion of long-term bank loans

238 619

8672 11484

997 14625

7000 2000

10000

1216

20000

7411

222 China Unicorn Hon Kong Limited Annual Report 2008



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

All amounts in RMB millions unless otherwise stated

38 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

38.1 Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 the Group had capital commitments mainly in relation to the construction of

telecommunications networks as follows

The Group

2007

2008 As restated

Land and

buildings Equipment Total Total

Authorised and contracted for 1162 4914 6076 3802

Authorised but not contracted for 846 6092 6938 2508

Total 2008 11006 13014 6310

As at 31 December 2008 approximately RMB1 59 million 2007 approximately RMB1 53 million of capital commitment

outstanding was denominated in US dollars equivalent to approximately USD23 million 2007 approximately USD21

million As at 31 December 2007 the capital commitments were mainly related to continuing operations

As at 31 December 2007 the Company had capital commitments in relation to the capacity expansion of marine

cable as follows

The Company

2008 2007

Authorised and contracted for

Authorised but not contracted for 19

19
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38 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS Continued

38.2 Operating lease commitments

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 the Group had total future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases as follows

The Group

2007

2008 As restated

Land and

buildings Equipment Total Total

Leases expiring

no later than one year 438 390 1828 9096

later than one year and no later

than five years 3876 695 4571 3287

later than five years 764 193 957 2031

Total 7078 1278 8356 14414

As at 31 December 2007 the operating lease commitments included the leasing fees for the CDMA network capacity

based on the 2006 CDMA Lease Agreement of approximately RMB7543 million relating to discontinued operations

During the Companys Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders held on 16 September 2008 the Companys

independent shareholders approved the termination of the 2006 CDMA Lease Agreement Upon the completion of

the CDMA Business disposal on October 2008 the 2006 CDMA Lease Agreement was terminated see Note

37.1a xxv

As at 31 December 2008 and 2007 the Company had total future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases as follows

The Company

2008 2007

Office premise lease expiring

no later than one year
10

later than one year and no later than five years

Total
14

38.3 Contingent liabilities

As aforementioned in Note 26 the tariffs for the services provided by the Group are subject to regulations by various

government authorities In 2008 the NDRC investigated the compliance with tariffs regulations of several branches

of CUCL and CNC China Based on managements assessment and preliminary discussions with MIIT and NDRC

management considered that the Group had complied with the regulations issued by the relevant government authorities

for all periods covered by the investigation and the likelihood of cash outflow as result of the investigation

remote Accordingly no contingent liabilities in relation to the investigation were recorded as at 31 December 2008
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39 EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE

Acquisitions of certain assets and business from Unicorn Group and Netcorn Group

On 16 December 2008 CUCL agreed to acquire from Unicorn Group and Netcom Group the fixed-line business

across the 21 provinces in Southern China but not the underlying fixed assets and the local access telephone

business and related assets in Tianjin Municipality operated by Netcom Group and Unicorn Group and/or their

respective subsidiaries and branches ii the backbone transmission assets in Northern China owned by Netcom

Group and/or its subsidiaries iii 100% equity interest in Unicorn Xingye owned by Unicorn Group iv 100%

equity interest in CITDCI owned by Unicorn Group and 100% equity interest in New Guoxin owned by Unicorn

Group the 2009 Business Combination at consideration of approximately RMB6.43 billion but subject to certain

adjustments

The proposed 2009 Business Combination was approved by the independent shareholders of the Company in an

extraordinary general meeting held on 14 January 2009 and was completed on 31 January 2009

Leasing of telecommunications network in Southern China from Unicorn New Horizon

In connection with the 2009 Business Combination CUCL Unicorn Group Netcom Group and Unicorn New Horizon

entered into an agreernent dated 16 December 2008 in relation to the lease of the telecommunications networks of

21 provinces in Southern China by CUCL from Unicorn New Horizon on an exclusive basis upon the completion of

the 2009 Business Combination for an annual lease fee of RMB2.0 billion and RMB2.2 billion for the two financial

years ending 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010 respectively The initial term of the lease is two years

effective from January 2009 and the lease is renewable at the option of CUCL

Granting of the license to operate 3G digital cellular business with WCDMA technology

On January 2009 MIIT has granted approval for Unicorn Group to license CUCL to operate 3G digital cellular

business with WCDMA technology nationwide in China

Proposed dividend

After the balance sheet date the Board of Directors proposed final dividend for 2008 For details please refer to

Note 34

40 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

As stated in Note 2.2 2007 comparative figures have been restated to reflect the effects of the 2008 Business Combination

under common control which is accounted for using merger accounting in accordance with HKFRS In addition the

results and cash flows of the CDMA business segment have been presented as discontinued operations and accordingly

the 2007 comparative figures of the consolidated income statement and cash flow statement had been reclassified in

accordance with HKFRS For comparative purposes certain comparative figures have also been reclassified to conform

with current year presentation to align the financial statements presentation of the Group and China Netcom and the effect

of the change in accounting policies under HKFRS Please refer to Note 2.2 for details

41 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2009
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Financial Summary
For the five-year ended 31 December 2008

All amounts in RMB millions except per share data

Selected financial summary including selected consolidated income statement data and consolidated balance sheet data for

2004 2005 and 2006 were prepared in accordance with HKFRS Selected financial summary including selected consolidated

income statement data and balance sheet data for 2007 and 2008 were prepared in accordance with IFRS/HKFRS

RESULTS

Selected Income Statement Data

2007 2006 2005 2004

2008 As restated As restated As restated As restated

Continuing operations

Revenue 148906 150687 145917 139600 132628

Interconnection charges 12011 11214 8735 6851 5712

Depreciation and amortisation 47678 47369 46877 44341 43264

Network operations and support expenses 16577 16022 15000 14239 12102

Employee benefit expenses 18902 17540 16950 16261 15269

Other operating expenses 33582 32776 30756 28838 29359

Finance costs 2411 3231 4375 4430 5476

Interest income 239 285 392 226 161

Impairment loss on property

plant and equipment 11837 2544 11318

Realised/unrealised loss on changes in fair

value of derivative component

of the convertible bonds 569 2397

Other income net 1994 4990 857 307 221

Profit from continuing operations

before incometax 8141 27241 19532 25173 10510

Incometaxexpenses 1801 7083 6092 5696 1739

Profit from continuing operations 6340 20158 13440 19477 8771

Profit from discontinued operations 27573 1280 2519 600 1604

Profitfortheyear 33913 21438 15959 18877 7167

Attributable to

Equity holders of the Company 33912 21437 15959 18877 7167

Minority interest

33913 21438 15959 18877 7167
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Earnings per share for profit attributable to

the equity holders of the Company

basic RMB

diluted RMB

Earnings per share for profit from continuing

operations attributable to the equity holders of

the Company

basic RMB

diluted RMB

Earnings per share for profit from discontinued

operations attributable to the equity holders of

the Company

basic RMB

diluted RMB

Financial Summary

For the five-year ended 31 December 2008

All amounts in RMB millions except per share data

RESULTS Continued

Selected income Statement Data Continued

2007 2006 2005 2004

2008 As restated As restated As restated As restated

1.43 0.93 0.71 0.84 0.34

1.42 0.92 0.70 0.84 0.34

0.27 0.87 0.60 0.87 0.42

0.27 0.86 0.59 0.86 0.42

1.16 0.06 0.11 0.03 0.08

1.15 0.06 0.11 0.02 0.08
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For the five-year ended 31 December 2008

All amounts in RMB millions except per share data

RESULTS Continued

Selected Balance Sheet Data

2007 2006 2005 2004

2008 As restated As restated As restated As restated

Property plant and equipment net 283912 276110 286108 289229 297463

Current assets 36120 32175 38696 30023 42035

Accounts receivable net 8587 11014 10843 11092 11568

Cash and cash equivalents 9238 11979 19866 10426 15360

Total assets 344924 334087 350222 346029 365935

Current liabilities 125219 124046 141747 150205 153649

Payables and accrued liabilities 65687 49312 46375 39007 42838

Short-term loans 11996 19261 41410 65430 76656

Short-term commercial paper 10000 20000 16898 9865

Long-term loans 997 16086 27253 29207 50058

Corporate bonds 7000 2000

Convertible bonds 10325

Total liabilities 138214 155571 196954 206225 228431

Total equity 206710 178516 153268 139804 137504

Note

Prior to 2007 the accounting policies between the Group and China Netcom were not fully aligned such that the buildings held by the Group

other than those held by China Netcom were stated at revalued amounts less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses

while all property plant and equipment other than the buildings other than those held by China Netcom were stated at historical costs less

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses
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